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This document replaces all previous base prospectuses and supplements to the base prospectuses produced 
in relation to the Programme in their entirety.

This Base Prospectus should be read and construed together with any supplement hereto and with any 
documents incorporated by reference herein and, in relation to any Series (as defined herein) of Notes, should be 
read and construed together with the relevant Final Terms.

Danske Bank A/S (the “Issuer”) has confirmed to the dealers (the “Dealers”) named under “Subscription 
and Sale” that this Base Prospectus (including for this purpose, the relevant Final Terms) is true, accurate and 
complete in all material respects and is not misleading; that any opinions and intentions expressed herein are 
honestly held, are based on reasonable assumptions and are not misleading; that there are no other facts in relation 
to the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus the omission of which would, in 
the context of the Programme or the issue of the Notes, make any statement herein or opinions or intentions 
expressed herein misleading in any material respect; and that all reasonable enquiries have been made to verify 
the foregoing.

No person has been authorised by the Issuer or any Dealer to give any information or to make any 
representation not contained in or not consistent with this Base Prospectus or any other document entered into in 
relation to the Programme or any information supplied by the Issuer or such other information as is in the public 
domain and, if given or made, such information or representation should not be relied upon as having been 
authorised by the Issuer or any Dealer.

No representation or warranty is made or implied by the Dealers or any of their respective affiliates, and 
neither the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates makes any representation or warranty or accepts any 
responsibility, as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Base Prospectus. Neither 
the delivery of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Note shall, in any 
circumstances, create any implication that the information contained in this Base Prospectus is true subsequent to 
the date thereof or the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently supplemented or that there 
has been no adverse change in the financial situation of the Issuer since the date thereof, or, as the case may be, 
the date upon which this Base Prospectus has been most recently supplemented or the balance sheet date of the 
most recent financial statements which are deemed to be incorporated into this Base Prospectus by reference or 
that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct at any time subsequent to the 
date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

The Notes have not been, and will not be, registered under the Securities Act or any state securities laws. 
Unless otherwise specified in any supplement to this Base Prospectus, each Series (as defined below) of Notes is 
initially being offered for sale outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on, and in accordance 
with, Regulation S or privately placed exclusively to persons reasonably believed by the relevant Dealer(s) to be 
QIBs within the meaning of Rule 144A. Each Tranche (as defined below) of Notes in registered form will be 
represented by a registered Note (each a “Registered Note”). Registered Notes which are sold in an “offshore 
transaction” within the meaning of Regulation S under the Securities Act (“Regulation S Notes”) will initially be 
represented by a permanent global registered Note (each a “Regulation S Global Note”) without interest 
coupons, which will be deposited on the relevant issue date either (a) in the case of a Series intended to be cleared 
through Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and/or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme (“Clearstream, 
Luxembourg”), with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or (b) in the 
case of a Series intended to be cleared through a clearing system other than, or in addition to, Euroclear and/or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg, or delivered outside a clearing system, as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant 
Dealer(s). Registered Notes which are sold in the United States to QIBs within the meaning of Rule 144A (“Rule 
144A Notes”) will initially be represented by a permanent global registered Note (each a “Rule 144A Global 
Note” and together with the Regulation S Global Notes, the “Global Registered Notes”), without interest 
coupons, which will be deposited on the relevant issue date with a custodian (the “Custodian”) for, and registered 
in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee for, The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”).
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Neither this Base Prospectus nor any Final Terms may be used for the purpose of an offer or 
solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or to any 
person to whom it is unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation.

The distribution of this Base Prospectus and any Final Terms and the offering, sale and delivery of the 
Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Base Prospectus or any 
Final Terms comes are required by the Issuer and the Dealers to inform themselves about and to observe any such 
restrictions.

Neither this Base Prospectus nor any Final Terms constitutes an offer or an invitation to subscribe for or 
purchase any Notes and should not be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, the Dealers or any of them 
that any recipient of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms should subscribe for or purchase any Notes. Each 
recipient of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms shall be taken to have made its own investigation and 
appraisal of the condition (financial or otherwise) of the Issuer.

This Base Prospectus has been prepared on the basis that, except to the extent sub-paragraph (ii) below 
may apply, any offer of Notes in any Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the 
Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”) will be made pursuant to an exemption under the 
Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a 
prospectus for offers of Notes. Accordingly, any person making or intending to make an offer in that Relevant 
Member State of Notes which are the subject of an offering contemplated in this Base Prospectus as completed by 
Final Terms in relation to the offer of those Notes may only do so (i) in circumstances in which no obligation 
arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or 
supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer 
or (ii) if a prospectus for such offer has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State 
or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that 
Relevant Member State and (in either case) published, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, provided 
that any such prospectus has subsequently been completed by Final Terms which specifies that offers may be 
made other than pursuant to Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State and such offer 
is made in the period beginning and ending on the dates specified for such purpose in such prospectus or Final 
Terms, as applicable. Except to the extent sub-paragraph (ii) above may apply, neither the Issuer nor any Dealer 
have authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in circumstances in which an obligation 
arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish or supplement a prospectus for such offer. 

Any person (an “Investor”) intending to acquire or acquiring any Notes from any person (an “Offeror”) 
should be aware that, in the context of an offer to the public as defined in the Prospectus Directive, the Issuer may 
be responsible to the Investor for this Base Prospectus only if the Issuer is acting in association with, or has 
authorised, that Offeror to make the offer to the Investor. Each Investor should therefore verify with the Offeror 
whether or not the Offeror is acting in association with, or is authorised by, the Issuer. If the Offeror is not acting 
in association with, or authorised by, the Issuer, the Investor should check with the Offeror whether anyone is 
responsible for this Base Prospectus for the purposes of Article 6 of the Prospectus Directive as implemented by 
the national legislation of each Member State of the European Economic Area in the context of the offer to the 
public, and, if so, who that person is. If the Investor is in any doubt about whether it can rely on this Base 
Prospectus and/or who is responsible for its contents it should take legal advice. 

Subject as provided in the relevant Final Terms, the only persons authorised to use this Base Prospectus 
in connection with an offer of Notes are the persons named in the relevant Final Terms as the relevant Dealer(s) or 
the Managers and the persons named in or identifiable from the relevant Final Terms as the Financial 
Intermediaries, as the case may be. 

An Investor intending to acquire or acquiring any Notes from an Offeror will do so, and offers and sales of 
the Notes to an Investor by an Offeror will be made, in accordance with any terms and other arrangements in 
place between such Offeror and such Investor including as to price, allocations and settlement arrangements. The 
Issuer will not be a party to any such arrangements with Investors (other than the Arranger and the Dealers) in 
connection with the offer or sale of the Notes and, accordingly, this Base Prospectus and any Final Terms will not 
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contain such information. The Investor must look to the Offeror at the time of such offer for the provision of such 
information. The Issuer has no responsibility to an Investor in respect of such information.

All references in this Base Prospectus to “Danish Kroner”, “kroner”, “DKr” or “DKK” are to the 
currency of Denmark, to “EUR” or “euro” are to the currency introduced at the third stage of European economic 
and monetary union pursuant to the Treaty on European Union of those members of the European Union which 
are participating in the European economic and monetary union (the “Euro Zone”), to “Japanese Yen” or “Yen” 
are to the currency of Japan and all references to “U.S.$”, “USD” and “U.S. Dollars” are to the currency of the 
United States of America.

NOTICE TO PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS IN THE UNITED STATES

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act, or any state securities laws 
and, subject to certain exceptions, may not be offered or sold directly or indirectly within the United States or to 
or for the account or benefit of U.S. persons, as defined in Regulation S. The Notes may be offered for sale only 
(i) outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on, and in accordance with, Regulation S; or (ii) in the 
United States, to QIBs within the meaning of, and in reliance on, Rule 144A under the Securities Act or another 
available exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act, in 
each case, in compliance with applicable laws, regulations and directives. See “Subscription and Sale” and 
“Transfer Restrictions.”

In the United States, this Base Prospectus is being furnished on a confidential basis solely for the purpose 
of enabling a prospective investor to consider purchasing the Notes described herein and it may not be forwarded 
or redistributed to any other person.

The Notes have not been approved or disapproved by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, any 
State securities commission in the United States or any other U.S. regulatory authority, nor has any of the 
foregoing authorities passed upon or endorsed the merits of the offering of Notes or the accuracy or adequacy of 
this Base Prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence in the United States.

NOTICE TO NEW HAMPSHIRE RESIDENTS

NEITHER THE FACT THAT A REGISTRATION STATEMENT OR AN APPLICATION FOR A 
LICENCE HAS BEEN FILED UNDER CHAPTER 421-B OF THE NEW HAMPSHIRE REVISED STATUTES 
ANNOTATED, 1955 (“RSA 421-B”), WITH THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE NOR THE FACT THAT A 
SECURITY IS EFFECTIVELY REGISTERED OR A PERSON IS LICENSED IN THE STATE OF NEW 
HAMPSHIRE CONSTITUTES A FINDING BY THE SECRETARY OF STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 
THAT ANY DOCUMENT FILED UNDER RSA 421-B IS TRUE, COMPLETE AND NOT MISLEADING. 
NEITHER ANY SUCH FACT NOR THE FACT THAT AN EXEMPTION OR EXCEPTION IS AVAILABLE 
FOR A SECURITY OR A TRANSACTION MEANS THAT THE SECRETARY OF STATE OF NEW 
HAMPSHIRE HAS PASSED IN ANY WAY UPON THE MERITS OR QUALIFICATIONS OF, OR 
RECOMMENDED OR GIVEN APPROVAL TO, ANY PERSON, SECURITY OR TRANSACTION. IT IS 
UNLAWFUL TO MAKE, OR CAUSE TO BE MADE, TO ANY PROSPECTIVE PURCHASER, CUSTOMER 
OR CLIENT ANY REPRESENTATION INCONSISTENT WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PARAGRAPH.

ENFORCEMENT OF LIABILITIES AND SERVICE OF PROCESS

Danske Bank A/S is organized under the laws of Denmark, with its domicile in Copenhagen. All of the 
directors and executive officers of the Issuer and certain of the persons named herein are non-residents of the 
United States. All or a substantial portion of the assets of such non-resident persons and of the Issuer are located 
outside the United States. As a result, it may not be possible for U.S. investors to effect service of process upon 
such persons or the Issuer or to enforce against them in U.S. courts a judgment obtained in such courts.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

The Issuer has agreed that, for so long as any Notes are “restricted securities” within the meaning of Rule 
144(a)(3) under the Securities Act, the Issuer will, during any period in which it is neither subject to Section 13 or 
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15(d) of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) nor exempt from 
reporting pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) thereunder, provide to any holder or beneficial owner of such restricted 
Notes or to any prospective purchaser of such restricted Notes designated by such holder or beneficial owner, 
upon the request of such holder, beneficial owner or prospective purchaser, the information required to be 
provided by Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act.

The Issuer is not currently subject to the periodic reporting and other information requirements of the 
Exchange Act.  The Issuer is eligible for the exemption from periodic reporting under Rule 12g3-2(b) of the 
Exchange Act.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Base Prospectus. To the best of the 
knowledge of the Issuer (which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information 
contained in this Base Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the 
import of such information. This paragraph should be read in conjunction with the fifth paragraph on page 3 of 
this Base Prospectus. References herein to this “Base Prospectus” are to this document, as supplemented from time 
to time including the documents incorporated by reference.

The Issuer has been provided with the information (including quotation of sources) contained in “Kingdom 
of Denmark” by third persons and has prepared the section on the basis of such information without any further 
inquiry or verification. Neither the Kingdom of Denmark nor Finansiel Stabilitet A/S is responsible for any 
information contained in this Base Prospectus. The Issuer hereby declares that, having taken all reasonable care to 
ensure that such is the case, the information contained in “Kingdom of Denmark” is, to the best of its knowledge, 
in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import, that the information has been 
accurately reproduced by the Issuer, and that, so far as the Issuer is aware and is able to ascertain, no facts have 
been omitted which would render such information inaccurate or misleading.
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IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE OF ANY TRANCHE OF NOTES, THE DEALER OR 
DEALERS (IF ANY) NAMED AS THE STABILISING MANAGER(S) (OR PERSONS ACTING ON 
BEHALF OF ANY STABILISING MANAGER(S)) IN THE RELEVANT FINAL TERMS MAY OVER 
ALLOT NOTES OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WITH A VIEW TO SUPPORTING THE PRICE OF 
THE NOTES AT A LEVEL HIGHER THAN THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL. 
HOWEVER, THERE IS NO ASSURANCE THAT THE STABILISING MANAGER(S) (OR PERSONS 
ACTING ON BEHALF OF A STABILISING MANAGER) WILL UNDERTAKE STABILISATION 
ACTION. ANY STABILISATION ACTION MAY BEGIN AT ANY TIME AFTER THE ADEQUATE 
PUBLIC DISCLOSURE OF THE TERMS OF THE OFFER OF THE RELEVANT TRANCHE OF 
NOTES AND, IF BEGUN, MAY BE ENDED AT ANY TIME, BUT IT MUST END NO LATER THAN 
THE EARLIER OF 30 DAYS AFTER THE ISSUE DATE OF THE RELEVANT TRANCHE OF NOTES 
AND 60 DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THE ALLOTMENT OF THE RELEVANT TRANCHE OF 
NOTES. SUCH STABILISING OR OVER ALLOTMENT SHALL BE CONDUCTED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS, REGULATIONS AND RULES.
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SUMMARY OF THE BASE PROSPECTUS

This summary must be read as an introduction to this Base Prospectus and any decision to invest in any 
Notes should be based on a consideration of this Base Prospectus as a whole, including the documents 
incorporated by reference. Following the implementation of the relevant provisions of the Prospectus Directive 
(Directive 2003/71/EC) in each Member State of the European Economic Area, no civil liability will attach to the 
Issuer in any such Member State solely on the basis of this summary, including any translation thereof, unless it is 
misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of this Base Prospectus. Where a 
claim relating to the information contained in this Base Prospectus is brought before a court in a Member State of 
the European Economic Area, the plaintiff may, under the national legislation of the Member State where the 
claim is brought, be required to bear the costs of translating this Base Prospectus before the legal proceedings 
are initiated.

Words and expressions defined in the “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” below or elsewhere in this 
Base Prospectus have the same meanings in this summary.

Essential characteristics and risks associated with the Issuer

The Danske Bank Group provides a wide range of banking, mortgage finance and insurance products as 
well as other financial services, and is the largest financial service provider in Denmark – and one of the largest in 
the Nordic region – measured by total assets as at 31 December 2009.

Danske Bank is represented through branches in the Nordic countries, Ireland, the United Kingdom 
(London), Germany, Poland, and in the Baltic countries, and through subsidiaries in Finland, Northern Ireland, 
Luxembourg and Russia.

The Group currently serves more than five million customers. Approximately 2.2 million customers use the 
Group’s online services.

The Danske Bank Group operates its business through five business units, namely Banking Activities, 
Danske Markets, Danske Capital, Danica Pension and Other Activities.

Banking Activities contains the Group’s entire banking business with retail customers as well as corporate 
and institutional customers. In each of the countries outside of Denmark where the Group operates, all brands are 
operated in country divisions. Banking Activities also encompasses the Group’s mortgage finance and real-estate 
agency businesses. 

Danske Markets is responsible for the Group’s activities in the financial markets. Trading activities include 
trading in fixed-income products, foreign exchange, equities and interest-bearing securities; providing the largest 
corporate customers and institutional customers with financial products and advisory services on mergers and 
acquisitions; and assisting customers with equity and debt issues on the international financial markets. Within 
Danske Markets, Group Treasury covers the Bank’s strategic fixed-income, foreign exchange and equity 
portfolios. Danske Markets is also responsible for the Bank’s own funding activities.

Danske Capital develops and sells wealth management products and services that are offered through the 
Group’s banking activities and directly to businesses, institutional customers and external distributors.

Danica Pension encompasses the Group’s activities in the life insurance and pension market.

As a group with activities throughout the world the Issuer faces a variety of risks. The Issuer considers the 
management of risk one of its core competencies. Considerable resources are spent on developing procedures and 
tools to match the best practices in risk management. Danske Bank identifies and manages the following main 
categories of risk.

Credit risk is the risk of losses because counterparties fail to meet all or part of their payment obligations 
towards the Issuer. Credit risk also includes country risk, settlement risk and counterparty credit risk. Country risk 
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is the risk of losses arising from the economic difficulties or political unrest in a country including the risk of 
losses resulting from nationalisation, expropriation and debt restructuring. Settlement risk is the risk of losses 
arising in connection with the settlement of payments for financial instruments, including derivatives and currency 
transactions. Counterparty credit risk is the risk of losses resulting from a customer’s default on a derivatives 
contract with the Issuer.

Market risk is the risk of losses because the fair value of the Issuer’s assets and liabilities varies with 
changes in the market conditions e.g. changes in interest rates or exchange rates or equity prices. 

Liquidity risk is the risk of losses because funding costs increase disproportionately, lack of funding 
prevents the Issuer from establishing new business and lack of funding ultimately prevents the Issuer from 
meeting its obligations.

Insurance risk in the Group consists of all risks related to its subsidiary companies in the Danica group, 
including market risk, life insurance risk, operational risk and business risk.

Operational risk is the risk of losses owing to deficient or erroneous internal procedures, human or system 
errors, or external events, including legal risk. 

Business risk is the risk of losses emanating from changes in external circumstances or events that harm the 
Issuer’s image or operational earnings.

Essential characteristics and risks associated with the Notes

The Issuer may, subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations, directives and central bank 
requirements, from time to time, issue Notes denominated in any currency. Payments in respect of Notes may, 
subject to compliance as aforesaid, be made in and/or linked to, any currency or currencies other than the currency 
in which such Notes are denominated.

The aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding will not at any time exceed EUR 60,000,000,000 (or 
its equivalent in other currencies), subject to any duly authorised increase. The Notes may be issued in bearer 
form, with or without interest coupons, in registered form or, in the case of VP Systems Notes, in uncertificated 
and dematerialised book entry form, in each case in the denominations specified in the Final Terms.

Notes will be issued in Series. Each Series may comprise one or more Tranches issued on different issue 
dates. The Notes of each Series will all be subject to identical terms, except that the issue date, the amount of the 
first payment of interest (if any), the issue price and/or the denominations thereof may be different in respect of 
different Tranches. The Notes of each Tranche will all be subject to identical terms in all respects save that a 
Tranche may comprise Notes of different denominations.

Until 30 September 2010, Unsubordinated Notes will have the benefit of the Danish Act No. 1003 of 10 
October 2008 on Financial Stability, as amended, pursuant to which the Kingdom of Denmark has unconditionally 
guaranteed unsubordinated creditors’ claims against losses in Danish banks to the extent such claims are not 
otherwise covered. In addition (or alternatively), if the relevant Final Terms provide that the Notes are 
“Guaranteed Notes”, such Notes will have the benefit of an unconditional and irrevocable guarantee from the 
Kingdom of Denmark pursuant to a transition scheme which came into force on 4 February 2009. See “Danish 
State Support Schemes” below.

Registered Notes sold in an “offshore transaction” within the meaning of Regulation S will initially be 
represented by a Regulation S Global Note. Registered Notes sold in the United States to QIBs within the 
meaning of Rule 144A will initially be represented by a Rule 144A Global Note.

Notes which are listed on the Official List and admitted to trading on the regulated market of the 
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any other listing authority, 
stock exchange and/or quotation system situated or operating in a member state of the European Economic Area 
may not (a) have a minimum denomination of less than EUR 1,000 (or equivalent in another currency), except 
that in the case of any Notes to be sold in the United States to QIBs, the minimum specified denomination shall be 
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USD 100,000 or at least its equivalent in any other currency, or (b) carry the right to acquire shares (or 
transferable securities equivalent to shares) issued by the Issuer or by any entity to whose group the Issuer 
belongs. Subject thereto, Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be specified in the relevant Final 
Terms, subject to compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory and/ or central bank requirements.

In relation to any issue of Bearer Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum denomination 
plus an integral multiple of another smaller amount in excess thereof, it is possible that such Notes may be traded 
in amounts that are not integral multiples of the minimum denomination. In such a case a Holder who, as a result 
of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum denomination may not receive a 
Definitive Note in respect of such holding (should Definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a 
principal amount of Notes such that its holding amounts to a denomination.

Notes may be issued by the Issuer on an unsubordinated, subordinated or hybrid tier 1 capital basis, as 
specified in the relevant Final Terms.

The Unsubordinated Notes constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of 
the Issuer and rank pari passu without any preference among themselves and at least pari passu with all other 
unsubordinated and unsecured obligations (including liabilities in respect of deposits) of the Issuer, present and 
future (save for certain mandatory exceptions provided by law).

The Subordinated Notes constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated debt obligations of the Issuer and 
shall at all times rank pari passu without preference among themselves and at least pari passu with all other 
Subordinated Notes and other instruments expressed to be ranking pari passu with subordinated loan capital.

The Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated debt obligations of the 
Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu without preference among themselves and with all other Hybrid Tier 1 
Capital Notes and other capital instruments expressed to be ranking pari passu with Hybrid Tier 1 Capital.

In respect of each Series of Subordinated Notes, the Issuer may elect pursuant to the Terms and Conditions 
herein not to pay the interest in respect of the relevant Series of Notes which has accrued. Any interest in respect 
of the relevant Series of Notes not paid on an Optional Interest Payment Date, together with any other interest in 
respect of the relevant Series of Notes not paid on any other Optional Interest Payment Date, shall, so long as the 
same remains unpaid, constitute Arrears of Interest.

In respect of each Series of Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, the Issuer may elect pursuant to the Terms and 
Conditions herein not to pay the interest in respect of the relevant Series of Notes which has accrued. Any interest 
in respect of the relevant Series of Notes not paid on an Optional Interest Payment Date, together with any other 
interest in respect of the relevant Series of Notes not paid on any other Optional Interest Payment Date, shall, so 
long as the same remains unpaid, constitute Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest.

Arrears of Interest or Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest, as the case may be (together with all 
corresponding Additional Interest Amount or Hybrid Capital Additional Interest Amount, as the case may be, but 
excluding any interest which has been cancelled) shall become due in full on the earlier of: (i) the date on which 
the Issuer next satisfies the solvency requirements of the Danish Financial Business Act; (ii) the date upon which 
the Outstanding Principal Amount of the Notes of the relevant Series becomes due and payable (if relevant) or 
redeemed; or (iii) the liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer. See Condition 9 (Interest Deferral).
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In respect of each Series of Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, if during the period between the most recent date 
of approval of the annual accounts of the Issuer and the next succeeding date of approval the amount of the next 
interest payment will exceed the Available Free Reserves, such payment will be reduced to the amount of such 
Available Free Reserves, or, in the case where there are no Available Free Reserves, to zero. Where such 
reduction of interest occurs and part of the applicable Interest Period falls before the date of approval of the 
relevant accounts, to the extent that the amount of interest accrued as at the date of approval of the relevant 
accounts exceeds the amount of the Available Free Reserves, any such excess shall be deferred and shall 
constitute Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest. Where interest has ceased to accrue and subsequent annual audited 
accounts disclose Available Free Reserves, accrual of interest will recommence. Any interest payment or part 
thereof which has not been made and has not been deferred in accordance with these provisions will be cancelled 
and will not fall due at any time thereafter. See Condition 9.6 (Mandatory Deferral of Interest and Interest 
Cancellation – Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes).

In the limited circumstances set out in Condition 10 (Reduction of Amounts of Principal and Unpaid
Interest), the Issuer, by a resolution passed at a general meeting of its shareholders duly convened in accordance 
with Danish law and the Articles of Association, may resolve to reduce and cancel (a) in the case of Subordinated 
Notes, part or all of the Outstanding Principal Amount of each relevant Series of the Notes and any Arrears of 
Interest thereon (together with all corresponding Additional Interest Amounts) or (b) in the case of Hybrid Tier 1 
Capital Notes, part or all of the Outstanding Principal Amount of each relevant Series of the Notes and any
Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest thereon (together with all corresponding Hybrid Capital Additional Interest 
Amounts). See Condition 10 (Reduction of Amounts of Principal and Unpaid Interest).

The Notes may be issued with any maturity or with no fixed maturity date, subject, in relation to specific 
currencies, to compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or central bank requirements. The Notes 
may be redeemed prior to maturity at par or at such other redemption amount as may be specified in the relevant 
Final Terms.

The Issuer may offer Notes that provide for the payment of principal or premium linked to a currency or 
commodity index, price index, stock exchange or commodities exchange index, a single share or a basket of 
several shares, a single currency or a basket of several currencies, or linked to inflation, currency or commodities 
or any other index or shares specified in the Final Terms. In addition, Notes may provide for payment upon 
redemption and/or a return based on the credit performance of any one or more reference entities, in each case as 
specified in the Final Terms. An investment in such Notes entails significant risks not associated with a similar 
investment in conventional fixed or floating rate debt securities. See “Risks related to the structure of a particular 
issue of Notes” in “Risk Factors” below. In particular, prospective purchasers of such Notes should understand 
that the amount of principal payable at redemption may be less than the nominal amount of such Notes or even 
zero. PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF NOTES LINKED TO ONE OR MORE RELEVANT 
FACTORS MUST REVIEW THE RELEVANT FINAL TERMS TO ASCERTAIN WHAT THE 
RELEVANT FACTOR(S) ARE AND TO SEE HOW BOTH THE AMOUNT OF PRINCIPAL PAYABLE 
AT REDEMPTION AND ANY INTEREST PAYMENTS ARE DETERMINED AND WHEN ANY SUCH 
AMOUNTS ARE PAYABLE BEFORE MAKING ANY DECISION TO PURCHASE ANY SUCH NOTES.

The aggregate principal amount, any interest rate or interest calculation, the issue price, maturity, the 
redemption amount and any other terms and conditions not contained herein with respect to each Tranche of 
Notes will be established at the time of issuance in accordance with prevailing market conditions and set forth in 
the relevant Final Terms.

The Notes will not have the benefit of a negative pledge or a cross default.

Application has been made for the Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to trading on the 
regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and to be listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg 
Stock Exchange. The Luxembourg Stock Exchange’s regulated market is a regulated market for the purposes of 
the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive 2004/39/EC. However, Notes may also be issued under the 
Programme whereby they will be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by other listing authorities, stock 
exchanges, and/or quotation systems or may be issued on the basis that they will not be admitted to listing, trading 
and/or quotation by such other listing authority, stock exchange or quotation system.
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The Notes shall be accepted for clearing through one or more clearing systems as specified in the relevant 
Final Terms. Bearer Notes in classic global form (i.e. those Bearer Notes which are not in new global note form) 
are to be held by or on behalf of the clearing systems. Each Global Note in new global note form will be deposited 
with a common safe-keeper for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg. Potential investors will have to rely 
on the clearing system procedures for transfer, payment and communications.

The Notes in new global note form have been introduced to allow for the possibility of Bearer Notes being 
issued and held in a manner which will permit them to be recognised as eligible collateral for monetary policy of 
the central banking system for the euro (the “Eurosystem”) and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem 
either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. However, in any particular case such recognition will 
depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria at the relevant time.

Regulation S Notes will initially be represented by a Regulation S Global Note, which will be deposited on 
the relevant issue date either (a) in the case of a Series intended to be cleared through Euroclear and/or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg, with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or (b) 
in the case of a Series intended to be cleared through a clearing system other than, or in addition to, Euroclear 
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, or delivered outside a clearing system, as agreed between the Issuer and the 
relevant Dealer(s). Rule 144A Notes will initially be represented by a Rule 144A Global Note, which will be 
deposited on the relevant issue date with the Custodian for, and registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee 
for, DTC.
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RISK FACTORS

Prospective investors should read the entire Base Prospectus and reach their own views prior to making 
any investment decision.

The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under Notes 
issued under the Programme. All of these factors are contingencies that may or may not occur and the Issuer is 
not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

Factors which the Issuer believes may be material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated 
with Notes issued under the Programme are also described below.

The Issuer believes that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in 
Notes issued under the Programme, but the Issuer may be unable to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or 
in connection with any Notes for other reasons which may not be considered significant risks by the Issuer based 
on information currently available to it and which it may not currently be able to anticipate.

The following is a general discussion of certain risks typically associated with the Issuer and the 
acquisition and ownership of Notes. In particular, it does not consider an investor’s specific knowledge and/or 
understanding about risks typically associated with the Issuer and the acquisition and ownership of Notes, 
whether obtained through experience, training or otherwise, or the lack of such specific knowledge and/or 
understanding, or circumstances that may apply to a particular investor.

Words and expressions defined in the “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” below or elsewhere in this 
Base Prospectus have the same meanings in this section, unless otherwise stated.

Risks relating to the Issuer

As a group with activities throughout the world the Issuer faces a variety of risks. The Issuer considers the 
management of risk one of its core competencies. Considerable resources are spent on developing procedures and 
tools to match the best practices in risk management. The Board of Directors sets out the overall risk policies and 
limits for all material risk types. The Board of Directors also decides on general principles for managing and 
monitoring risk. The Board of Directors also decides on the largest credit applications.

The Executive Board heads a Credit Committee, which is responsible for laying down operational policies 
and for the approval of applications for major credit facilities.

Danske Bank identifies and manages the following main categories of risk.

Credit risk, including country, settlement and counterparty credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of losses because counterparties fail to meet all or part of their payment obligations 
towards the Issuer. Credit risk also includes:

• Country risk, which is the risk of losses arising from the economic difficulties or political unrest in a 
country including the risk of losses resulting from nationalisation, expropriation and debt 
restructuring.

• Settlement risk, which is the risk of losses arising when payments are settled, for example payments 
in financial instruments, including derivatives and currency transactions. The risk arises when the 
Issuer remits payments before it can ascertain that the counterparties’ consideration has been 
received.

• Counterparty credit risk, which is the risk of losses resulting from a customer’s default on a 
derivatives contract with the Issuer.
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The Issuer monitors credit facilities centrally through its credit systems. It registers the customers’ 
classifications, data on the limits and utilisation of all types of facility, and information on the estimated 
realisation value of collateral after the deduction of the estimated costs of realisation.

The Issuer sets limits individually according to the customer classification and the collateral provided. At 
least once a year, it reviews all exposures above a certain level, with new financial and other data taken into 
account. Customers who show a weak financial performance are transferred to a watch list so that the Issuer can 
monitor them more closely and reduce the risk of losses.

For many loan products, collateral is required by legislation or by market practice, as in the mortgage 
finance market, or is agreed upon with the customer. The Group strives to maintain sufficient information about 
the pledges and guarantees it has received so that it can estimate their values on an ongoing basis.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk of losses because the fair value of the Issuer’s assets and liabilities varies with 
changes in the market conditions. Market risk consists of interest rate risk, exchange rate risk, equity market risk, 
credit spread risk, inflation rate risk and commodity risk.

Measurement, monitoring and management reporting of market risk are carried out on a daily basis. The 
Issuer calculates current market risk by means of a database that is integrated with the trading system, which 
makes risk reporting highly reliable and consistent. In addition, the Issuer conducts intra-day spot checks of the 
risks in the individual business areas.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of losses because:

• funding costs increase disproportionately;

• lack of funding prevents the Issuer from establishing new business; and

• lack of funding ultimately prevents the Issuer from meeting its obligations.

Liquidity management is based on regular monitoring and management of the Issuer’s short- and long-term 
liquidity risk and builds on the following four themes: operational liquidity, stress tests, 12- month liquidity and 
structural liquidity risk.

Insurance risk

Insurance risk in the Group consists of all risks related to its subsidiary companies in the Danica group, 
including market risk, life insurance risk, operational risk and business risk.

Life insurance risk is the risk that the year’s returns on customers’ funds are insufficient to cover the 
customers’ guaranteed benefits, any necessary increase in life insurance provisions, and other obligations.

Insurance risk also includes the market risk on the assets in which Danica’s equity is invested.

To ensure that the return on customers’ funds and customers’ guaranteed benefits correlate, the financial 
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Issuer has set targets for maximum market and interest rate risks.

Pension risk

Pension risk is the risk of a pension shortfall in the Group’s defined benefit plans that requires it to make 
additional contributions to cover pension obligations to current and former employees.
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Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of losses owing to deficient or erroneous internal procedures, human or system 
errors, or external events, including legal risk.

The Issuer manages its operational risks in a process that includes controls, mitigation and monitoring 
through risk indicators. The Issuer’s control organisation is built on the separation of duties, independent controls 
and extensive management reporting that gives an overview of income, risks and potentially deviant behaviour.

Operational risk losses are registered in the Operational Risk Information System (ORIS). Losses are 
categorised according to the Basel II event types.

Business risk

Business risk is the risk of losses emanating from changes in external circumstances or events that harm the 
Issuer’s reputation or earnings.

Because of the variety of possible risk factors, the Group uses a broad range of tools to identify and report 
on business risk exposure.  Performance management procedures ensure that all business units are reviewed in 
order to minimise the risk of financial losses due to sanctions, claims and reputational damage.  Reputational risk 
is managed through policies and business procedures, including compliance activities.

Impact of regulatory changes

The Issuer is subject to financial services laws, regulations, administrative actions and policies in Denmark 
and in each other jurisdiction in which the Issuer carries on business. Changes in supervision and regulation, in 
particular in Denmark, could materially affect the Issuer’s business, the products and services offered or the value 
of its assets. Although the Issuer works closely with its regulators and continually monitors the situation, future 
changes in regulation, fiscal or other policies can be unpredictable and are beyond the control of the Issuer.

Issuer's participation in the Guarantee Scheme 

The Issuer participates in the Guarantee Scheme (as defined in “Danish State Support Schemes” below). 
The Guarantee Scheme is in part funded by the Danish banks participating in the Guarantee Scheme. If the 
aggregate losses under the Guarantee Scheme were to exceed DKK 25 billion, the participating Danish banks 
must cover any additional losses up to DKK 10 billion. The Issuer’s share is one third of the total amount, or an 
annual guarantee commission of approximately DKK 2.5 billion, and a remaining commitment to cover losses of 
approximately DKK 4.7 billion, of which DKK 3.3 billion becomes payable only if the Danish financial sector’s 
need for capital exceeds DKK 25 billion. As at 31 December 2009, the Issuer’s total provisions for this 
commitment amounted to DKK 1.9 billion. However, if the Financial Stability Company (as defined in “Danish 
State Support Schemes—Guarantee Scheme”) incurs losses in excess of DKK 25 billion, payments required of the 
Issuer may be increased.

Sovereign risk related to Denmark

Until 30 September 2010, Unsubordinated Notes will have the benefit of Danish Act No. 1003 of 10 
October 2008 on Financial Stability, as amended, pursuant to which the Kingdom of Denmark has unconditionally 
guaranteed unsubordinated creditors’ claims against losses in Danish banks to the extent such claims are not 
otherwise covered. In addition (or alternatively), if the relevant Final Terms provide that the Notes are 
“Guaranteed Notes”, such Notes will have the benefit of an unconditional and irrevocable guarantee from the 
Kingdom of Denmark pursuant to a transition scheme which came into force on 4 February 2009. See “Danish 
State Support Schemes” below. An investment in such Notes is therefore subject to the risk that changes in the 
political and economic environment in Denmark may have a negative impact on the interests of Holders of such 
guaranteed Notes. In particular, the incumbent Danish government may pursue economic policies which result in, 
for example, higher inflation, higher interest rates, recession, hard currency shortage or a downgrade of Denmark's 
credit rating.
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Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a brief description of certain market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, 
interest rate risk and credit risk:

The market generally

Since the second half of 2007 and into 2010, disruption in the global credit markets, coupled with the re-
pricing of credit risk and the deterioration of the housing markets in the United States and elsewhere, have created 
difficult conditions in the financial markets. These conditions have resulted in historic volatility, less liquidity or 
no liquidity, widening of credit spreads and a lack of price transparency in certain markets, both primary and 
secondary, including with respect to the medium term note markets. These adverse market conditions have 
resulted in the failures of a number of financial institutions in the United States and Europe and unprecedented 
action by governmental authorities, regulators and central banks around the world. While such market conditions 
have shown signs of improvement in certain sectors of the global credit markets, it is difficult to predict whether, 
or to what extent, such market improvement will continue, how long the adverse market conditions will continue 
to exist, or if the Issuer’s business, investments, results of operations and financial condition will be adversely 
affected. Additionally, there can be no assurance that the market for medium term notes will continue to recover 
or to the same degree as other recovering global credit market sectors. The impact on the Issuer’s business, 
investments, results of operations and financial condition may be exacerbated by persisting volatility in the 
financial sector and the capital markets. Accordingly, all of these factors could adversely affect the Issuer’s 
business, investments, results of operations and financial condition in future periods.

The secondary market generally

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does 
develop, it may not be liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will 
provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is 
particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed 
for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of 
limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and 
more price volatility than conventional debt securities. Illiquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the 
market value of Notes.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the Specified Currency. This presents certain risks 
relating to currency conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or 
currency unit (the “Investor’s Currency”) other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that 
exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or 
revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s Currency 
or Specified Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor’s 
Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease (i) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent yield on the 
Notes, (ii) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes and (iii) the Investor’s 
Currency-equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that 
could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal 
than expected, or no interest or principal as measured in the Investor’s Currency.

Interest rate risks

Investment in Fixed Rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may 
adversely affect the value of the Fixed Rate Notes.

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks
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One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes and/or the Issuer. 
The ratings may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors 
discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes or the standing of the Issuer. A credit 
rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or withdrawn by the rating 
agency at any time.

Factors which are material for the purpose of assessing the market risks associated with Notes issued under 
the Programme

The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors

Each potential investor of Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own 
circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

(i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the relevant Notes, 
the merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information contained or incorporated 
by reference in this Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement to this Base Prospectus;

(ii) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its 
particular financial situation, an investment in the relevant Notes and the impact such investment 
will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(iii) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, 
including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency 
for principal or interest payments is different from the currency in which such potential investor’s 
financial activities are principally denominated;

(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any 
relevant indices and financial markets; and

(v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for 
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the
applicable risks.

Some Notes are complex financial instruments and such instruments may be purchased as a way to reduce 
risk or enhance yield with an understood, measured, appropriate addition of risk to the investor’s overall portfolio. 
A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise 
(either alone or with the assistance of a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing 
conditions, the resulting effects on the value of such Notes and the impact this investment will have on the 
potential investor’s overall investment portfolio.

Risks related to the structure of a particular issue of Notes

A wide range of Notes may be issued under the Programme. A number of these Notes may have features 
which contain particular risks for potential investors. Set out below is a description of the most common of such 
features:

Subordinated Notes

The Issuer may issue Subordinated Notes, which constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated debt 
obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu without preference among themselves and at least 
pari passu with the Subordinated Notes of each other Series and, in the event of a liquidation or bankruptcy of the 
Issuer, at least pari passu with all other present and future indebtedness of the Issuer which is subordinated to the 
Issuer’s non-subordinated creditors. The Issuer has issued, and may further issue, other subordinated notes which 
rank below these Subordinated Notes. In the event of a liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer, it will be required 
to pay its depositors and other non-subordinated creditors in full before it can make any payments on the 
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Subordinated Notes. If this occurs, the Issuer may not have enough assets remaining after these payments to pay 
amounts due under the Subordinated Notes.

The shareholders of the Issuer may, pursuant to Condition 10 (Reduction of Amounts of Principal and
Unpaid Interest), reduce and cancel part or all of the Outstanding Principal Amount and any Arrears of Interest of 
the Subordinated Notes provided that the requirements set out in Condition 10 (Reduction of Amounts of Principal
and Unpaid Interest) are met. Investors should note that while such reduction is not common, it is an appreciable 
risk and is not limited to the liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer.

Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes

The Issuer may issue Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, which constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated debt 
obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu without preference among themselves and with all 
other Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes and other capital instruments expressed to be ranking pari passu with Hybrid 
Tier 1 Capital of the Issuer. In the event of a liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer, it will be required to pay its 
depositors and other non-subordinated creditors and subordinated creditors of the Issuer other than creditors with 
respect to any Notes expressly stated to rank pari passu with or junior to the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes in full 
before it can make any payments on the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes. If this occurs, the Issuer may not have 
enough assets remaining after these payments to pay amounts due under the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes.

The shareholders of the Issuer may, pursuant to Condition 10.2 (Reduction and Cancellation), reduce and 
cancel part or all of the Outstanding Principal Amount and any Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest of the Hybrid 
Tier 1 Capital Notes provided that the requirements set out in Condition 10.2 (Reduction and Cancellation) are 
met. Investors should note that while such reduction is not common, it is an appreciable risk and is not limited to 
the liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer.

The Issuer is under no obligation to redeem the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes at any time and Holders shall 
have no right to put the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes or call for their redemption.

Deferral and Cancellation of Interest

In respect of each Series of Subordinated Notes and each Series of Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, the Issuer 
may give notice pursuant to the Terms and Conditions set out herein electing not to pay the interest with respect to 
the relevant Series of Notes accrued in the Interest Period ending on the day immediately preceding such notice. 
Any unpaid interest, including interest thereon, becomes payable on the earlier of the date on which the Issuer 
next satisfies the solvency requirements of the Danish Financial Business Act; the date on which the Outstanding 
Principal Amount of the Notes of the relevant Series becomes due and payable; or the liquidation or bankruptcy of 
the Issuer.

In respect of each series of Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, if during the period between the most recent date 
of approval of the annual accounts of the Issuer and the next succeeding date of approval, the amount of the next 
interest payment will exceed the Available Free Reserves, such payment will be reduced to the amount of such 
Available Free Reserves, or, in the case where there are no Available Free Reserves, to zero. Where such 
reduction of interest occurs and part of the applicable Interest Period falls before the date of approval of the 
relevant accounts, to the extent that the amount of interest accrued as at the date of approval of the relevant
accounts exceeds the amount of the Available Free Reserves, any such excess shall be deferred and shall 
constitute Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest. Where interest has ceased to accrue and subsequent annual audited 
accounts disclose Available Free Reserves, accrual of interest will recommence.

Any interest payment or part thereof which has not been made and has not been deferred in accordance 
with these provisions will be cancelled and will not fall due at any time thereafter.

Notes subject to optional redemption by the Issuer

An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of Notes. During any period when the 
Issuer may elect to redeem Notes, the market value of such Notes generally will not rise substantially above the 
price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.
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The Issuer may be expected to redeem Notes when its cost of borrowing is lower than the interest rate on 
the Notes. At those times, an investor generally would not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds at an 
effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes being redeemed and may only be able to do so at a 
significantly lower rate. Potential investors should consider reinvestment risk in light of other investments 
available at that time.

Notes linked to one or more Relevant Factor(s) (as defined below)

The Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest determined by reference to an index or formula, to 
changes in the prices of securities or commodities, to movements in currency exchange rates or other factors 
(each, a “Relevant Factor”). In addition, the Issuer may issue Notes with principal or interest payable in one or 
more currencies which may be different from the currency in which the Notes are denominated.

Potential investors should be aware that:

(i) the market price of such Notes may be volatile;

(ii) they may receive no interest;

(iii) payment of principal or interest may occur at a different time or in a different currency than 
expected;

(iv) the amount of principal payable at redemption may be less than the nominal amount of such Notes or 
even zero;

(v) a Relevant Factor may be subject to significant fluctuations that may not correlate with changes in 
interest rates, currencies or other indices;

(vi) if a Relevant Factor is applied to Notes in conjunction with a multiplier greater than one or contains 
some other leverage factor, the effect of changes in the Relevant Factor on principal or interest 
payable likely will be magnified; and

(vii) the timing of changes in a Relevant Factor may affect the actual yield to investors, even if the 
average level is consistent with their expectations. In general, the earlier the change in the Relevant 
Factor, the greater the effect on yield.

An investment in Notes linked to an index, exchange rate, shares, inflation and/or commodities entails 
significant risks not associated with a similar investment in conventional fixed or floating rate debt securities.

An investment in Notes the terms of which provide that the principal, premium, if any, and/or interest 
payable and/or securities deliverable, is linked to one or more currencies or composite currencies (including 
exchange rates and swap indices between currencies or composite currencies), commodities, securities, basket of 
securities or securities indices, interest rates or other indices (together, the “indices”), either directly or inversely 
(the “indexed notes”), entails significant risks that are not associated with investments in a conventional fixed or 
floating rate debt security.

These risks include the possibility that an index or indices may be subject to significant changes, that the 
resulting interest rate will be less than that payable on a conventional fixed or floating rate debt security issued by 
the Issuer at the same time, that the repayment of principal and/or premium, if any, and/or delivery of securities 
can occur at times other than that expected by the investor, that, in certain circumstances, the Notes may cease to 
bear interest and that prospective investors could lose all or a substantial portion of their investment, if any, 
payable on the maturity date. These risks depend on a number of interrelated factors, including economic, 
financial and political events, over which the Issuer has no control.

Additionally, if the formula used to determine the amount of principal, premium, if any, and/or interest 
payable and/or securities deliverable with respect to such Notes contains a multiplier or leverage factor, the effect 
of any change in the applicable index or indices will be magnified. In recent years, values of certain indices have 
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been highly volatile; such volatility in the past is not necessarily indicative, however, of fluctuations that may 
occur in the future.

An investment in equity-linked Notes may bear market risks similar to a direct equity investment and 
investors should take advice accordingly.

In the case of credit-linked Notes and equity-linked Notes (whether cash or physically settled), Holders 
may receive in lieu of any payment of principal certain securities of the reference entities which may have a 
market value substantially less than that of the initial investment of such Holder. In the case of credit-linked 
Notes, the credit risk of the Notes includes that of the reference entity. Prospective investors should note that they 
may be required to take delivery of these securities and should ensure that they have the capacity to receive such 
securities on purchasing the Notes.

The secondary market, if any, for indexed Notes will be affected by a number of factors independent of the 
Issuer’s creditworthiness, including the complexity and volatility of the index or indices, the creditworthiness of 
any reference entity or entities, the fluctuation of exchange rates and the prices of commodities, the method of 
calculating the principal, premium, if any, and/or interest in respect of indexed Notes, the time remaining to the 
maturity of such Notes, the outstanding amount of such Notes, any redemption features of such Notes, the amount 
of other debt securities linked to such index or indices and the level, direction and volatility of market interest 
rates generally. Such factors also will affect the market value of indexed Notes.

In addition, certain Notes may be designed for specific investment objectives or strategies and, therefore, 
may have a more limited secondary market and experience more price volatility than conventional debt securities. 
Prospective investors may not be able to sell such Notes readily or at prices that will enable them to realise their 
anticipated yield. Prospective investors should not purchase such Notes unless they understand and are able to 
bear the risks that such Notes may not be readily saleable, that the value of such Notes will fluctuate over time 
and that such fluctuations may be significant.

PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF NOTES LINKED TO ONE OR MORE RELEVANT 
FACTORS MUST REVIEW THE RELEVANT FINAL TERMS TO ASCERTAIN WHAT THE 
RELEVANT FACTOR(S) ARE AND TO SEE HOW BOTH THE AMOUNT OF PRINCIPAL PAYABLE 
AT REDEMPTION AND ANY INTEREST PAYMENTS ARE DETERMINED AND WHEN ANY SUCH 
AMOUNTS ARE PAYABLE BEFORE MAKING ANY DECISION TO PURCHASE ANY SUCH NOTES.

Covered Bonds

The Issuer has issued covered bonds in accordance with the Danish Financial Business Act.

In accordance with the UCITS Directive and the Capital Requirement Directive, the covered bonds have 
the benefit of priority over a matched pool of assets upon bankruptcy of the Issuer. To the extent that claims in 
relation to the covered bonds and related derivative contracts and any senior debt (if any) issued with the benefit 
of the assets in the cover pool are not met out of the pool of assets or the proceeds arising from it, the residual 
claims will rank pari passu with the unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, including obligations 
on Unsubordinated Notes issued under the Programme.

Risks related to Notes generally

Because the Global Notes are held by or on behalf of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC, as the 
case may be, investors will have to rely on the clearing system procedures for transfer, payment and 
communication with the Issuer.

Bearer Notes and Registered Notes issued under the Programme may be represented by one or more Global 
Notes. In relation to Bearer Notes, Global Notes will be deposited with a common depositary or, in the case of 
New Global Notes, a common safe-keeper, for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. In relation to Registered 
Notes, Regulation S Global Notes will be deposited with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and 
Clearstream, Luxembourg, and Rule 144A Global Notes will be deposited with the Custodian for, and registered 
in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee for, DTC. Except in the circumstances described in the relevant Global 
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Note, investors will not be entitled to receive Definitive Notes. Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and DTC 
will maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global Notes. While the Notes are in global form, investors 
will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the 
case may be.

While the Notes are in global form, the Issuer will discharge its payment obligations under the Notes by 
making payments (i) to a common depositary (for Bearer Notes which are Classic Global Notes and Regulation S 
Notes) or (ii) to a common safe-keeper (for Bearer Notes which are New Global Notes) or (iii) to the Custodian 
for, and registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee for, DTC (for Rule 144A Notes). A holder of a 
beneficial interest in a Global Note must rely on the procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or 
DTC, as the case may be, to receive payments under the relevant Notes. The Issuer has no responsibility or 
liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in such a Global Note.

Because the VP Systems Notes are dematerialised securities, investors will have to rely on the clearing system 
procedures for transfer, payment and communication with the Issuer.

VP Systems Notes issued under the Programme will not be evidenced by any physical note or document of 
title other than statements of account made by the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be. 
Ownership of VP Systems Notes will be recorded and transfer effected only through the book entry system and
register maintained by the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be.

Modification and waiver

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Holders to consider 
matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Holders including 
Holders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Holders who voted in a manner contrary to the 
majority.

Change of law

The Terms and Conditions of the Notes are governed by the laws of England, except for certain provisions 
set out in Condition 27.1 (Governing Law), which will be governed by the laws of Denmark, Luxembourg, 
Norway or Sweden, as the case may be. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial 
decision or change to the laws of England, Denmark, Luxembourg, Norway or Sweden or administrative practice 
after the date of this Base Prospectus.

Bearer Notes where denominations involve integral multiples: Definitive Notes

In relation to any issue of Bearer Notes which have denominations consisting of a minimum Specified 
Denomination plus an integral multiple of another smaller amount in excess thereof, it is possible that such Notes 
may be traded in amounts that are not integral multiples of such minimum Specified Denomination. In such a case 
a Holder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than the minimum Specified 
Denomination in its account with the relevant clearing system at the relevant time may not receive a Definitive 
Note in respect of such holding (should Definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal 
amount of Notes such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.

If Definitive Notes are issued, Holders should be aware that Definitive Notes which have a denomination 
that is not an integral multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade.

Interests of the Dealers

Certain of the Dealers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future, engage in investment 
banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform services for, the Issuer and its affiliates in 
the ordinary course of business.
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New Global Form Notes

Though the New Global Note form has been introduced to allow for the possibility of Bearer Notes being 
issued and held in a manner which will permit them to be recognised as eligible collateral for monetary policy of 
the central banking system for Eurosystem and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or 
at any or all times during their life, in any particular case such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the 
Eurosystem eligibility criteria at the relevant time.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The Annual Reports of the Issuer for the financial years ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 
shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Base Prospectus.

The Issuer has undertaken, in connection with the listing of the Notes on the Official List and the trading of 
the Notes on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, that if, while Notes of the Issuer are 
outstanding and listed on the Official List and traded on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, 
there shall occur any change in the Terms and Conditions of the Programme or if any significant new factor, 
material mistake or inaccuracy relating to the information included in this Base Prospectus which is capable of 
affecting the assessment of the Notes arises or is noted between the time when this Base Prospectus is approved 
by the CSSF and the time when trading of a particular Tranche of Notes begins and which is not reflected in this 
Base Prospectus (or any of the documents incorporated by reference in this Base Prospectus), the Issuer will 
prepare or procure the preparation of a supplement to this Base Prospectus or, as the case may be, publish a new 
Base Prospectus for use in connection with any subsequent offering by the Issuer of Notes to be listed on the 
Official List and traded on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

The Issuer will, at the specified offices of the Paying Agents, provide, free of charge, upon the oral or 
written request therefor, a copy of this Base Prospectus (or any document incorporated by reference in this Base 
Prospectus). Written or oral requests for such documents should be directed to the specified office of any Paying 
Agent or the specified office of the Listing Agent in Luxembourg.

The sources of the financial statements (including auditors’ report thereon and notes thereto) in the Annual 
Reports of the Issuer incorporated by reference herein are as follows:

Information Source

Audited Income Statement for the Danske Bank Group
for the year ended 31 December 2009 2009 Annual Report pg. 64

Audited Balance Sheet for the Danske Bank Group
for the year ended 31 December 2009 2009 Annual Report pg. 66

Audited Cash Flow Statement for the Danske Bank Group
for the year ended 31 December 2009 2009 Annual Report pg. 70

Notes to the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2009 2009 Annual Report pg. 71-154

Audit Reports for the Danske Bank Group
for the year ended 31 December 2009 2009 Annual Report pg. 174-175

Audited Income Statement for the Danske Bank Group
for the year ended 31 December 2008 2008 Annual Report pg. 62

Audited Balance Sheet for the Danske Bank Group
for the year ended 31 December 2008 2008 Annual Report pg. 63

Audited Cash Flow Statement for the Danske Bank Group
for the year ended 31 December 2008 2008 Annual Report pg. 67

Notes to the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2008 2008 Annual Report pg. 68-154

Audit Reports for the Danske Bank Group
for the year ended 31 December 2008 2008 Annual Report pg. 172-173
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The Annual Reports of the Issuer incorporated by reference herein can be viewed online at 
www.danskebank.com. This Base Prospectus, including the documents incorporated by reference herein, are 
available for viewing at www.bourse.lu. Any information not listed in the cross-reference list but included in the 
documents incorporated by reference is given for information purposes only.

www.danskebank.com.
www.bourse.lu.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME

The following description of key features of the Programme does not purport to be complete and is 
qualified in its entirety by the remainder of this Base Prospectus. Words and expressions defined in “Overview of 
Form of the Notes” or “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” below shall have the same meanings in this 
description of key features of the Programme.

Issuer: Danske Bank A/S.

Arranger: Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc.

Dealers: Barclays Bank PLC, Citigroup Global Markets Limited, Credit Suisse 
Securities (Europe) Limited, Danske Bank A/S, Deutsche Bank AG, London 
Branch, Goldman Sachs International, J.P. Morgan Securities Ltd., Merrill 
Lynch International, Morgan Stanley & Co. International plc, UBS Limited 
and any other dealer appointed from time to time by the Issuer either 
generally in respect of the Programme or in relation to a particular Tranche of 
Notes.

Fiscal Agent and Principal 
Registrar:

Citibank, N.A., London Branch.

Luxembourg Listing Agent: Dexia Banque Internationale à Luxembourg.

VP Systems Agent: Danske Bank A/S.

Danish Guarantee: Until 30 September 2010, Unsubordinated Notes will have the benefit of 
Danish Act No. 1003 of 10 October 2008 on Financial Stability, as amended, 
pursuant to which the Kingdom of Denmark has unconditionally guaranteed 
unsubordinated creditors’ claims against losses in Danish banks to the extent 
such claims are not otherwise covered.

In addition (or alternatively), if the relevant Final Terms provide that the 
Notes are “Guaranteed Notes”, such Notes will have the benefit of an 
unconditional and irrevocable guarantee from the Kingdom of Denmark 
pursuant to a transition scheme which came into force on 4 February 2009.

See “Danish State Support Schemes” below.

Listing and Admission to 
Trading:

Each Series may be listed on the Official List and admitted to trading on the 
regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or admitted to 
listing, trading and/or quotation by any other listing authority, stock 
exchange and/or quotation system as may be agreed between the Issuer and 
the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the relevant Final Terms or may be 
issued on the basis that they will not be admitted to listing, trading and/or 
quotation by any listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system.

Programme Amount: EUR 60,000,000,000 (and, for this purpose, any Notes denominated in 
another currency shall be translated into euros at the date of the agreement to 
issue such Notes using the spot rate of exchange for the purchase of such 
currency against payment of euros being quoted by the Fiscal Agent on the 
date on which the Relevant Agreement (as defined in the Dealership 
Agreement which is defined under “Subscription and Sale”) in respect of the 
relevant Tranche was made or such other rate as the Issuer and the relevant 
Dealer(s) may agree) in aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding at 
any one time. The maximum aggregate principal amount of Notes which may 
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be outstanding under the Programme may be increased from time to time, 
subject to compliance with the relevant provisions of the Dealership 
Agreement.

Issuance in Series: Notes will be issued in Series. Each Series may comprise one or more 
Tranches issued on different issue dates. The Notes of each Series will all be 
subject to identical terms, except that the issue date, the amount of the first 
payment of interest (if any), the issue price and/or the denominations thereof 
may be different in respect of different Tranches. The Notes of each Tranche 
will all be subject to identical terms in all respects save that a Tranche may 
comprise Notes of different denominations.

Final Terms: Each Tranche will be the subject of the Final Terms which, for the purposes 
of that Tranche only, completes the Terms and Conditions of the Notes and 
this Base Prospectus and must be read in conjunction with this Base 
Prospectus. The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of 
Notes are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as completed, amended 
and/or replaced by the relevant Final Terms.

Forms of Notes: Notes may be issued in bearer form (“Bearer Notes”), in registered form 
(“Registered Notes”) or in uncertificated and dematerialised book entry form 
cleared through the Danish, Luxembourg, Norwegian and/or Swedish, as the 
case may be, central securities depository (together the “VP Systems Notes” 
and individually the “VP”, “VP Lux”, “VPS” and “Euroclear Sweden”, 
respectively), as described in “Overview of Form of the Notes” below. 

In respect of each Tranche of Bearer Notes, the Issuer will deliver a 
Temporary Global Note or (if so specified in the relevant Final Terms in 
respect of Notes to which the TEFRA C Rules apply (as so specified in such 
Final Terms)) a Permanent Global Note. Such Global Note which is not 
intended to be issued in new global note form (a “Classic Global Note” or 
“CGN”), as specified in the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited on or 
around the relevant issue date therefor with Euroclear and/or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system and each Global Note 
which is intended to be issued in new global note form (a “New Global 
Note” or “NGN”), as specified in the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited 
on or around the relevant issue date with a common safe-keeper for Euroclear 
and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg. Interests in each Temporary Global Note 
will, not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of 
the Notes upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership, be 
exchangeable for interests in a Permanent Global Note or, if so specified in 
the relevant Final Terms, for Definitive Notes in bearer form in accordance 
with its terms. Interests in each Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable 
for Definitive Notes in bearer form in accordance with its terms. Definitive 
Notes in bearer form will, if interest-bearing, have Coupons attached and, if 
appropriate, Talons. 

In respect of each Tranche of Registered Notes, the Issuer will deliver to each 
Holder Registered Notes which will be recorded in the register which the 
Issuer shall procure to be kept by the Registrar. A Global Registered Note 
may be registered in the name of a nominee for one or more clearing systems. 
Registered Notes sold in an “offshore transaction” within the meaning of 
Regulation S will initially be represented by a Regulation S Global Note. 
Regulation S Notes will initially be represented by a Regulation S Global 
Note, which will be deposited on the relevant issue date either (a) in the case 
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of a Series intended to be cleared through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg, with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and 
Clearstream, Luxembourg or (b) in the case of a Series intended to be cleared 
through a clearing system other than, or in addition to, Euroclear and/or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg, or delivered outside a clearing system, as agreed 
between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s). Rule 144A Notes will initially 
be represented by a Rule 144A Global Note, which will be deposited on the 
relevant issue date with the Custodian for, and registered in the name of Cede 
& Co. as nominee for, DTC.

Registered Notes sold in the United States to QIBs within the meaning of 
Rule 144A will initially be represented by a Rule 144A Global Note. 
Registered Notes will not be represented upon issue by a Temporary Global 
Note and may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes.

VP Systems Notes will not be evidenced by any physical note or document of 
title. Entitlements to VP Systems Notes will be evidenced by the crediting of 
VP Systems Notes to accounts with the relevant VP, VP Lux, VPS or 
Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be.

Clearing Systems: Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC, VP, VP Lux, VPS and/or 
Euroclear Sweden and/or, in relation to any Tranche of Notes, any other 
clearing system as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Currencies: Notes may be denominated in any currency or currencies, subject to 
compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or central bank 
requirements. Payments in respect of Notes may, subject to such compliance, 
be made in and/or linked to, any currency or currencies other than the 
currency in which such Notes are denominated.

Status of the Notes: Notes may be issued by the Issuer on an unsubordinated, subordinated or 
hybrid tier 1 capital basis, as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Unsubordinated Notes constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and 
unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank pari passu without any 
preference among themselves and at least pari passu with all other 
unsubordinated and unsecured obligations (including liabilities in respect of 
deposits) of the Issuer, present and future (save for certain mandatory 
exceptions provided by law).

Subordinated Notes constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations 
of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu without any preference 
among themselves and at least pari passu with all other Subordinated Notes 
and, in the event of a liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer, at least pari 
passu with all other subordinated loan capital of the Issuer.

Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes constitute direct, unsecured, subordinated debt 
obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu without 
preference among themselves and with all other Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes 
and other capital instruments expressed to be ranking pari passu with Hybrid 
Tier 1 Capital of the Issuer.

Issue Price: Notes may be issued at any price and either on a fully or partly paid basis, as 
specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Maturities: Any maturity or with no fixed maturity date, subject, in relation to specific 
currencies, to compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or 
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central bank requirements.

Redemption: Notes may be redeemable at par or at such other Redemption Amount 
(detailed in a formula, index or otherwise) as may be specified in the relevant 
Final Terms. Notes may also be redeemable in two or more instalments on 
such dates and in such manner as may be specified in the relevant Final 
Terms.

Optional Redemption: Notes may be redeemed before their stated maturity at the option of the 
Issuer (either in whole or in part) and/or the Holders to the extent (if at all) 
specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Tax Redemption: Early redemption will be permitted for tax reasons as described in Condition 
11 (Redemption and Purchase).

Interest: Notes may be interest-bearing or non-interest bearing. Interest (if any) may 
accrue at a fixed rate or a floating rate or other variable rate or be index-
linked, commodity-linked, equity-linked or credit-linked and the method of 
calculating interest may vary between the issue date and the maturity date of 
the relevant Series.

Denominations: Notes which may be listed on the Official List and admitted to trading on the 
regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or admitted to 
listing, trading and/or quotation by any other listing authority, stock 
exchange and/or quotation system situated or operating in a member state of 
the European Union may not (a) have a minimum denomination of less than 
EUR 1,000 (or nearly equivalent in another currency) except that in the case 
of any Notes to be sold in the United States to QIBs, the minimum specified 
denomination shall be USD 100,000 (or at least its equivalent at the date of 
issue of the relevant Notes in any other currency) and integral multiples of 
USD 1,000, or (b) carry the right to acquire shares (or transferable securities 
equivalent to shares) issued by the Issuer or by any entity to whose group the 
Issuer belongs. Subject thereto, Notes will be issued in such denominations 
as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms, subject to compliance with 
all applicable legal and/or regulatory and/or central bank requirements.

Negative Pledge: None.

Cross Default: None.

Taxation: All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes and the 
Coupons by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be made free and clear of, and 
without withholding or deduction for or on account of, any present or future 
taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature 
imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of Denmark 
or any political subdivision therein or any authority or agency therein or 
thereof having power to tax, unless the withholding or deduction of such 
taxes, duties, assessments, or governmental charges is required by law. In 
that event, the Issuer shall pay such additional amounts as will result in 
receipt by the Holders after such withholding or deduction of such amounts 
as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction 
been required.

For U.S. Federal income tax considerations see “Taxation” below.

Governing Law: The Notes shall be governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, 
English law except for Condition 5.2 (Status – Subordinated Notes), 
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Condition 5.3 (Status – Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes), Condition 9 (Interest
Deferral), Condition 10 (Reduction of Amounts of Principal and Unpaid
Interest), Condition 11.2 (Early Redemption following a Tax Event or a 
Capital Event), Condition 17 (Enforcement Events), the registration of Notes 
in the VP and the dematerialisation of the Notes in the VP Lux, which shall 
be governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Danish Law. In 
the case of the registration of Notes in the VP Lux, the VPS or Euroclear 
Sweden, such registration shall be governed by, and shall be construed in 
accordance with, Luxembourg law, Norwegian law and Swedish law, 
respectively.

VP Systems Notes must comply with the relevant regulations of the VP, VP 
Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be, and the holders of VP 
Systems Notes will be entitled to the rights and are subject to the obligations 
and liabilities which arise under the relevant Danish, Luxembourg, 
Norwegian or Swedish regulations and legislation.

Enforcement of Notes in Global 
Form:

In the case of Global Notes, individual investors’ rights against the Issuer 
will be governed by a Deed of Covenant dated 25 March 2010, a copy of 
which will be available for inspection at the specified office of the Fiscal 
Agent.

Ratings: The Programme has been rated by the following rating agencies: Moody’s 
Investors Service Ltd., Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The 
McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. and Fitch Ratings Limited. Up-to-date 
information should always be sought by direct reference to the relevant rating 
agency.

Tranches of Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated and, 
if rated, rated by fewer than the three mentioned rating agencies. Where a 
Tranche of Notes is rated, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the 
ratings assigned to the Programme, and will be specified in the relevant Final 
Terms. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold 
securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any 
time by the assigning rating agency.

Selling Restrictions: There are restrictions on the transfer of Regulation S Notes prior to the 
expiration of the relevant distribution compliance period and on the transfer 
of Rule 144A Notes, see “Subscription and Sale” and “Transfer Restrictions” 
below. For a description of additional restrictions on offers, sales and 
deliveries of Notes and on the distribution of offering material in the United 
States of America, the European Economic Area, the United Kingdom, Japan 
and Denmark, see “Subscription and Sale” below.
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OVERVIEW OF FORM OF THE NOTES

Words and expressions defined in “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” herein shall have the same 
meanings in this “Overview of Form of the Notes”.

The Notes of each Series will be in bearer form, registered form or, in the case of VP Systems Notes, 
uncertificated and dematerialised book entry form.

Form of Bearer Notes

Each Tranche of Bearer Notes will initially be in the form of either a temporary global note (the 
“Temporary Global Note”), without interest Coupons, or a permanent global note (the “Permanent Global 
Note” and together with the Permanent Global Note and the Global Registered Notes (as defined above), the 
“Global Notes” and each a “Global Note”), without interest Coupons, in each case as specified in the relevant 
Final Terms. Each Temporary Global Note or, as the case may be, Permanent Global Note which is intended to be 
issued in CGN form, as specified in the relevant Final Terms, will be deposited on or around the issue date of the 
relevant Tranche of the Notes with a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, 
Luxembourg and each Global Note which is intended to be issued in NGN form as specified in the relevant Final 
Terms, will be deposited on or around the relevant issue date with a common safe-keeper for Euroclear and/or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg.

Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have announced that as of 1 January 2007, the central banking 
system for the euro (the “Eurosystem”) may in certain circumstances cease to accept bearer debt securities in 
CGN form as eligible collateral for the Eurosystem’s monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by 
Eurosystem. The NGN form has been introduced so that Notes may continue to be issued and held in a manner 
which will permit them to be recognised as eligible collateral for monetary policy of the Eurosystem and intra-day 
credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. However in any 
particular case such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria at the relevant 
time.

If the Notes have a maturity of more than 1 year, unless the relevant Final Terms specify that United States 
Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (the “TEFRA C Rules”) are applicable in relation to the Notes, United 
States Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (the “TEFRA D Rules”) will apply in relation to the Notes.  If 
the Notes do not have a maturity of more than 1 year, neither the TEFRA C Rules nor the TEFRA D Rules are 
applicable.

Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Permanent Global Note

If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being “Temporary Global Note exchangeable for 
a Permanent Global Note”, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note which will be 
exchangeable, in whole or in part, for interests in a Permanent Global Note, without interest coupons, not earlier 
than forty days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes upon certification as to non-U.S. 
beneficial ownership. Interest payments in respect of the Notes cannot be collected without such certification of 
non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

Whenever any interest in the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for an interest in a Permanent 
Global Note, the Issuer shall procure (in the case of first exchange) the prompt delivery (free of charge to the 
bearer) of such Permanent Global Note, duly authenticated and, in the case of a NGN, effectuated, to the bearer of 
the Temporary Global Note or (in the case of any subsequent exchange of a part of the Temporary Global Note) 
an increase in the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note in accordance with its terms against:

(i) presentation and (in the case of final exchange) surrender of the Temporary Global Note to or to the 
order of the Fiscal Agent; and

(ii) in either case, receipt by the Fiscal Agent of a certificate or certificates of non-U.S. beneficial 
ownership,
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within seven days of the bearer requesting such exchange.

The principal amount of the Permanent Global Note shall be equal to the aggregate of the principal 
amounts specified in the certificates of non-U.S. beneficial ownership; provided, however, that in no 
circumstances shall the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note exceed the initial principal amount of the 
Temporary Global Note.

Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes

If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being “Temporary Global Note exchangeable for 
Definitive Notes” and also specifies that the TEFRA D Rules are applicable, then the Notes will initially be in the 
form of a Temporary Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for Notes in definitive form 
(“Definitive Notes”) not earlier than forty days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes upon 
certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. Interest payments in respect of the Notes cannot be collected 
without such certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

Whenever the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the 
prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons and 
Talons attached (if so specified in the relevant Final Terms), in an aggregate principal amount equal to the 
principal amount of the Temporary Global Note to the bearer of the Temporary Global Note against the surrender 
of the Temporary Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent within thirty days of the bearer requesting 
such exchange.

Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes

If the relevant Final Terms specifies the form of Notes as being “Permanent Global Note exchangeable for 
Definitive Notes”, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Permanent Global Note. If the relevant Final 
Terms specifies the form of Notes as being “Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note 
which is exchangeable for Definitive Notes”, then the Notes will be initially in the form of a Temporary Global 
Note which will be exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note as set out above. In each case, the Permanent 
Global Note will be exchangeable, in whole but not in part only and at the request of the bearer of the Permanent 
Global Note, for Definitive Notes:

(i) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms; or

(ii) at any time, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, save that this paragraph (ii) shall not apply if 
the relevant Final Terms specify denominations consisting of a minimum Specified Denomination 
plus one or more integral multiples of another smaller amount; or

(iii) if the relevant Final Terms specifies “in the limited circumstances described in the Permanent Global 
Note”, then if:

(a) Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system is closed for 
business for a continuous period of fourteen days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or 
announces an intention permanently to cease business or in fact does so; or

(b) any of the circumstances described in Condition 16 (Events of Default) or, in the case of 
Subordinated Notes or Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, Condition 17 (Enforcement Events) 
occurs.

The Permanent Global Note will become exchangeable, in whole but not in part only and at the request of 
the Issuer, for Definitive Notes if, by reason of any change in the laws of Denmark, the Issuer will be required to 
make any withholding or deduction from any payment in respect of the Notes which would not be required if the 
Notes are in definitive form.

Interest-bearing Definitive Notes will have attached thereto at the time of their initial delivery Coupons. 
Interest-bearing Definitive Notes, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, will have attached thereto at the time 
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of their initial delivery, Talons for further coupons and the expression Coupons shall, where the context so 
requires, include Talons.

Whenever the Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the 
prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons and 
Talons attached (if so specified in the relevant Final Terms), in an aggregate principal amount equal to the 
principal amount of the Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the Permanent Global Note against the surrender 
of the Permanent Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent within thirty days of the bearer requesting 
such exchange.

The Permanent Global Note also provides, inter alia, that:

(i) if Definitive Notes have not been delivered in accordance with the terms of the Permanent Global Note 
by 6.00 p.m. (London time) on the thirtieth day after the day on which such Permanent Global Note 
becomes due to be exchanged; or

(ii) if the Permanent Global Note (or any part thereof) becomes due and payable in accordance with the 
Terms and Conditions or the date for final redemption of the Permanent Global Note has occurred, and, 
in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest thereon has 
not been made on the due date for payment by 6.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date, 

then such Permanent Global Note will become void in accordance with its terms but without prejudice to the 
rights conferred by the Deed of Covenant.

Form of Registered Notes

Each Tranche of Registered Notes will initially be represented by a Global Registered Note which will 
either be a Regulation S Global Note (representing Regulation S Notes) or a Rule 144A Global Note (representing 
Rule 144A Notes). Registered Notes will be in substantially the forms (subject to amendment and completion) 
scheduled to the Agency Agreement. Notes issued in registered form will not be represented upon issue by a 
Temporary Global Note and Registered Notes will not be exchangeable for Bearer Notes.

Upon the initial deposit of a Regulation S Global Note in respect of, and registration of Registered Notes in 
the name of any nominee for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and delivery of the relevant Global Note to 
the common depositary, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will credit each subscriber with a nominal 
amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid.

Upon the initial deposit of a Rule 144A Global Note in respect of, and registration of Registered Notes in 
the name of Cede & Co. as nominee for DTC and delivery of the relevant Global Note to the Custodian for DTC, 
DTC will credit each participant with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it 
has subscribed and paid.

A Regulation S Global Note will be deposited on the relevant issue date either (a) in the case of a Series 
intended to be cleared through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, with a common depositary on behalf 
of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or (b) in the case of a Series intended to be cleared through a clearing 
system other than, or in addition to, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, or delivered outside a clearing 
system, as agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s).

A Rule 144A Global Note will be deposited on the relevant issue date with the Custodian for, and 
registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee for, DTC. Definitive Notes issued in exchange for a beneficial 
interest in a Rule 144A Global Note shall bear the legend applicable to such Notes as set out in “Transfer 
Restrictions” herein.

A Global Registered Note will become exchangeable, in whole but not in part only and at the request of the 
registered Holder of the Global Registered Note, for Definitive Notes:

(i) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms; or
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(ii) at any time, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms; or

(iii) if the relevant Final Terms specifies “in the limited circumstances described in the Global Registered 
Note”, then if:

(a) Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC or any other relevant clearing system is closed for 
business for a continuous period of fourteen days (other than by reason of public holidays) or 
announces an intention permanently to cease business or in fact does so; or

(b) any of the circumstances described in Condition 16 (Events of Default) or, in the case of 
Subordinated Notes or Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, Condition 17 (Enforcement Events) 
occurs.

The Global Registered Note will become exchangeable, in whole but not in part only and at the request of 
the Issuer, for Definitive Notes if, by reason of any change in the laws of Denmark, the Issuer will be required to 
make any withholding or deduction from any payment in respect of the Notes which would not be required if the 
Notes are represented by Definitive Notes.

Whenever the Global Registered Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, such Registered Notes will 
be issued in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Global Registered Note within 
five business days of the delivery, by or on behalf of the registered Holder of the Global Registered Note, 
Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC, to the Registrar of such information as is required to 
complete and deliver such Definitive Notes (including, without limitation, the names and addresses of the persons 
in whose names the Definitive Notes are to be registered and the principal amount of each such person’s holding) 
against the surrender of the Global Registered Note at the Specified Office of the Registrar. Such exchange will be 
effected in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement and the regulations concerning the transfer 
and registration of Notes scheduled thereto and, in particular, shall be effected without charge to any Holder, but 
against such indemnity as the Registrar may require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatsoever nature which 
may be levied or imposed in connection with such exchange.

If (a) Definitive Notes have not been issued and delivered by 6.00 p.m. (London time) on the thirtieth day 
after the date on which the same are due to be issued and delivered in accordance with the terms of the Global 
Registered Note or (b) any of the Notes evidenced by the Global Registered Note has become due and payable in 
accordance with the Terms and Conditions or the date for final redemption of the Notes has occurred and, in 
either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest thereon has not been 
made to the Holder of the Global Registered Note on the due date for payment in accordance with the terms of the 
Global Registered Note, then the Global Registered Note (including the obligation to deliver Definitive Notes) 
will become void at 6.00 p.m. (London time) on such thirtieth day (in the case of (a) above) or at 6.00 p.m. 
(London time) on such date (in the case of (b) above) and the Holder will have no further rights thereunder (but 
without prejudice to the rights which the Holder or others may have under the Deed of Covenant). 

Terms and Conditions applicable to the Notes (other than VP Systems Notes)

The Terms and Conditions applicable to any Definitive Note will be endorsed on that Note and will consist 
of the Terms and Conditions set out under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” below and the provisions of the 
relevant Final Terms which complete, amend and/or replace those Terms and Conditions.

The Terms and Conditions applicable to any Notes represented by one or more Global Notes will differ 
from those Terms and Conditions which would apply to the Notes were they in definitive form to the extent 
described in this “Overview of Form of the Notes”.

Each Global Note will contain provisions which modify the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as they 
apply to the relevant Global Note. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:

Payments: The Holder of a Global Note shall be the only person entitled to receive payments in respect of 
Notes represented by such Global Note and the Issuer will be discharged by payment to, or to the order of, the 
Holder of such Global Note in respect of each amount so paid. Each of the persons shown in the records of 
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Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC as the beneficial holder of a particular nominal amount of Notes 
represented by such Global Note must look solely to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case 
may be, for his share of each payment so made by the Issuer to, or to the order of, the Holder of such Global Note.

Record Date for Global Registered Notes: In the case of a Global Registered Note, with respect to the 
definition of “Record Date” in Condition 13.1 (Method of payment), the words “on the fifteenth day (whether or 
not such fifteenth day is a Relevant Banking Day)” shall be deemed to be deleted and replaced by “on the 
Clearing System Business Day”.  “Clearing System Business Day” means any day other than (i) Saturdays and 
Sundays and (ii) 1 January and 25 December.

Exercise of put option: In order to exercise the option contained in Condition 11.5 (Redemption at the 
option of Holder) the Holder of the relevant Global Note must, within the period specified in the Terms and 
Conditions give written notice of such exercise to the Fiscal Agent or the Registrar, as the case may be, specifying 
the principal amount of Notes in respect of which such option is being exercised. Any such notice will be 
irrevocable and may not be withdrawn.

Partial exercise of call option: In connection with an exercise of the option contained in Condition 11.3
(Redemption at the option of the Issuer) in relation to some only of the Notes, the relevant Global Note may be 
redeemed in part in the principal amount specified by the Issuer in accordance with the Terms and Conditions and 
the Notes to be redeemed will not be selected as provided in the Terms and Conditions, but in accordance with the 
rules and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and 
Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in principal amount, at their discretion) and/or 
DTC.

Notices: Notwithstanding Condition 23 (Notices), while all the Notes are represented by one or more 
Global Notes and such Global Note(s) are held in their entirety on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg and/or DTC and/or any other relevant clearing system, notices to Holders may be given by delivery 
of the relevant notice to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC and/or any other relevant 
clearing system for communication by them to the persons shown in their respective records as having interests 
therein and, in any case, such notices shall be deemed to have been given to the Holders in accordance with 
Condition 23 (Notices) on the date of delivery to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC and/or 
any other relevant clearing system.

Legend concerning United States persons

In the case of any Tranche of Notes having a maturity of more than 1 year, Global Notes, Definitive Notes 
and any Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto will bear a legend to the following effect:

“Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States 
income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.”

The sections referred to in such legend provide that a United States person who holds a Note, Coupon or 
Talon will generally not be allowed to deduct any loss realised on the sale, exchange or redemption of such Note, 
Coupon or Talon and any gain (which might otherwise be characterised as capital gain) recognised on such sale, 
exchange or redemption will be treated as ordinary income.

Form of VP Systems Notes

Each Tranche of VP Systems Notes will be issued in uncertificated and dematerialised book entry form. 
Legal title to the VP Systems Notes will be evidenced by book entries in the records of the VP, VP Lux, VPS or 
Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be. Issues of VP Systems Notes are the subject of the VP Systems Agency 
Agreement. On the issue of such VP Systems Notes, the Issuer will send a copy of the relevant Final Terms to the 
Fiscal Agent, with a copy sent to the VP Systems Agent. On delivery of the relevant Final Terms by the VP 
Systems Agent to the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be, and notification to the VP, VP 
Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be, of the subscribers and their VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear 
Sweden, as the case may be, account details by the relevant Dealer(s), the VP Systems Agent, acting on behalf of 
the Issuer, will give instructions to the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be, to credit each 
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subscribing account holder with the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be, with a nominal 
amount of VP Systems Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid.

Settlement of sale and purchase transactions in respect of VP Systems Notes in the VP, VP Lux, VPS or 
Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be, will take place in accordance with market practice at the time of the 
transaction. Transfers of interests in the relevant VP Systems Notes will take place in accordance with the rules 
and procedures for the time being of the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be.

The Terms and Conditions applicable to any VP Systems Notes will consist of the Terms and Conditions 
set out under “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” below and the provisions of the relevant Final Terms which 
complete, amend and/or replace those Terms and Conditions.

Clearing Systems

Any reference herein to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC and/or the VP, VP Lux, 
VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be, shall, whenever the context so permits, be deemed to include a 
reference to any additional or alternative clearing system approved by the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent, the Registrar 
(in the case of Registered Notes), the other Paying Agents and the relevant Holders.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following is the text of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes which, as completed, amended and/or 
replaced by the relevant Final Terms, will be endorsed on each Definitive Note issued under the Programme. The 
Terms and Conditions applicable to any Global Note will differ from those Terms and Conditions which would 
apply to a Definitive Note to the extent described under “Overview of Form of the Notes” above. The following is 
also the text of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes which, as completed, amended and/or replaced by the 
relevant Final Terms, will be applicable to each VP Systems Note. VP Systems Notes will not be evidenced by any 
physical note or document of title other than statements of account made by the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear 
Sweden, as the case may be. Ownership of VP Systems Notes will be recorded and transfer effected only through 
the book entry system and register maintained by the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be.

1. Introduction

1.1 Programme: Danske Bank A/S (the “Issuer”) has established an Euro Medium Term Note Programme 
(the “Programme”) for the issuance of up to EUR 60,000,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of notes 
(the “Notes”) and where a particular Condition is applicable only to certain classes of Notes, “Notes” 
shall be construed in accordance with the relevant Condition.

1.2 Final Terms: Notes issued under the Programme are issued in series (each a “Series”) and each Series 
may comprise one or more tranches (each a “Tranche”) of Notes. Each Tranche is the subject of a final 
terms document (the “Final Terms”) which completes these Terms and Conditions (the “Conditions”). 
The Terms and Conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes are these Conditions as 
completed, amended and/or replaced by the relevant Final Terms. In the event of any inconsistency 
between these Conditions and the relevant Final Terms, the relevant Final Terms shall prevail.

1.3 Issue and Paying Agency Agreement and VP Systems Agency Agreement: The Notes are the subject of:

(i) in the case of Notes other than VP Systems Notes, an amended and restated issue and paying 
agency agreement dated 25 March 2010 (as supplemented, amended and/or replaced from time 
to time, the “Agency Agreement”) between the Issuer, Citibank, N.A., London Branch as fiscal 
agent (the “Fiscal Agent”, which expression includes any successor fiscal agent appointed from 
time to time in connection with the Notes) and as principal registrar (the “Principal Registrar”, 
which expression shall include any successor to Citibank, N.A., London Branch in its capacity as 
such), Dexia Banque Internationale à Luxembourg in its capacity as alternative registrar (the 
“Alternative Registrar” which expression shall include any successor to Dexia Banque 
Internationale à Luxembourg in its capacity as such) (together the Principal Registrar and the 
Alternative Registrar, the “Registrars”, which expression shall mean either one or both the 
Principal Registrar and the Alternative Registrar) and the paying agents named therein (the 
“Paying Agents”, which expression shall include the Fiscal Agent and any substitute or 
additional paying agents appointed in accordance with the Agency Agreement); or

(ii) in the case of VP Systems Notes, (A) an agency agreement dated 25 March 2010 (as 
supplemented, amended and/or replaced from time to time, the “VP Systems Agency 
Agreement”) between the Issuer, Citibank, N.A., London Branch as Fiscal Agent in connection 
with the Agency Agreement and Danske Bank A/S as agent (the “VP Systems Agent”, which 
expression includes any successor agent appointed from time to time in connection with the VP 
Systems Notes) of the Issuer in respect of all VP Systems Notes and (B) the Agency Agreement 
to the extent specified therein.

1.4 Deed of Covenant: The Notes (other than VP Systems Notes) have the benefit of a deed of covenant dated 
25 March 2010 (as supplemented, amended and/or replaced from time to time, the “Deed of Covenant”).

1.5 The Notes: All subsequent references in these Conditions to “Notes” are to the Notes which are the 
subject of the relevant Final Terms. Copies of the relevant Final Terms are available for inspection by 
Holders during normal business hours at the Specified Office of each of the Paying Agents or, if 
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applicable, the Principal Registrar and the Alternative Registrar. In the case of a Tranche of Notes which 
is not admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation on any listing authority, stock exchange and/or 
quotation system or which is not offered in the European Economic Area in circumstances where a 
prospectus is required to be published under Directive 2003/71/EC, copies of the Final Terms will 
only be available for inspection by Holders (as defined in Condition 1.6 (Summaries) below) or, as the 
case may be, Relevant Account Holders (as defined in the Deed of Covenant) in respect of, such Notes.

1.6 Summaries: Certain provisions of these Conditions are summaries of the Agency Agreement, the Deed of 
Covenant and the VP Systems Agency Agreement and are subject to their detailed provisions. The 
holders of the Notes (the “Holders” or “Noteholders”, which expressions shall, where appropriate, be 
deemed to include holders of Bearer Notes (as defined herein), Registered Holders (as defined herein), 
holders of VP Systems Notes (as defined herein) and Couponholders (as defined below)) and the holders 
of the related interest coupons, if any, (the “Couponholders” and the “Coupons”, respectively) are 
bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of 
Covenant applicable to them. Copies of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are available 
for inspection by Holders during normal business hours at the Specified Office of each of the Paying 
Agents or if applicable, the Principal Registrar and the Alternative Registrar. Copies of the VP Systems 
Agency Agreement are available for inspection by Holders during normal business hours at the Specified 
Office of the VP Systems Agent.

1.7 Guaranteed Notes: If the relevant Final Terms provide that the Notes are “Guaranteed Notes”, such Notes 
(“Guaranteed Notes”) will have the benefit of an irrevocable guarantee from the Kingdom of Denmark 
(the “Guarantor”) pursuant to a transition scheme which came into force on 4 February 2009.

2. Interpretation

2.1 Definitions: In these Conditions the following expressions have the following meanings:

“Accrual Yield” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Additional Interest Amount” has the meaning given to such term in Condition 9 (Interest Deferral);

“Affiliates” has the meaning given to such term in paragraph (a)(l) of Rule 144 under the United States 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended;

“Applicable Business Centre(s)” means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

“Applicable Financial Centre(s)” means the city or cities specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

“Arrears of Interest” has the meaning given to such term in Condition 9 (Interest Deferral);

“Articles of Association” means the articles of association of the Issuer;

“Bankruptcy Act” means the Danish Bankruptcy Act (Consolidated Act No. 1259 of 23 October 2007, 
as amended);

“Bearer Notes” means Notes issued in bearer form;

“Business Day” means:

(i) in the case of Interest Determination Dates only, where the relevant Final Terms specifies a 
“Business Day” preceded by a city for the purposes of the Interest Determination Date(s), a day 
on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general business 
(including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in that city; and

(ii) in all other cases, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle 
payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign 
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currency deposits) in each Applicable Business Centre, and if TARGET is an Applicable 
Business Centre, a TARGET Settlement Day;

“Business Day Convention”, in relation to any particular date, shall be as specified in the relevant Final 
Terms and, if so specified in the relevant Final Terms, may have different meanings in relation to 
different dates and, in this context, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

(i) “Following Business Day Convention” means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the 
first following day that is a Business Day;

(ii) “Modified Following Business Day Convention” or “Modified Business Day Convention” 
means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business Day 
unless that day falls in the next calendar month in which case that date will be the first preceding 
day that is a Business Day;

(iii) “Preceding Business Day Convention” means that the relevant date shall be brought forward to 
the first preceding day that is a Business Day;

(iv) “FRN Convention”, “Floating Rate Convention” or “Eurodollar Convention” means that 
each relevant date shall be the date which numerically corresponds to the preceding such date in 
the calendar month which is the number of months specified in the relevant Final Terms as the 
Specified Period after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred provided, 
however, that:

(a) if there is no such numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which any 
such date should occur, then such date will be the last day which is a Business Day in 
that calendar month;

(b) if any such date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then such 
date will be the first following day which is a Business Day unless that day falls in the 
next calendar month, in which case it will be the first preceding day which is a Business 
Day; and

(c) if the preceding such date occurred on the last day in a calendar month which was a 
Business Day, then all subsequent such dates will be the last day which is a Business 
Day in the calendar month which is the specified number of months after the calendar 
month in which the preceding such date occurred; and

(v) “No Adjustment” means that the relevant date shall not be adjusted in accordance with any 
Business Day Convention;

“Calculation Agent” means the Fiscal Agent or such other Person specified in the relevant Final Terms 
as the party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Interest and Interest Amount(s) and/or such other 
amount(s) as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms;

“Calculation Amount” has the meaning given to such term in the relevant Final Terms, provided that if, 
in the case of a Subordinated Note or a Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Note, the Outstanding Principal Amount of 
such Note is reduced in accordance with Condition 10.2 (Reduction and Cancellation), the Calculation 
Agent shall (i) adjust the Calculation Amount on a pro rata basis to account for such reduction and (ii) 
notify the Holders in accordance with Condition 23 (Notices), the Fiscal Agent and the Registrar (in the 
case of Registered Notes) or the VP Systems Agent (in the case of VP Systems Notes) of the details of 
such adjustment;

“Call Option” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;
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“Capital Event Amount (Subordinated Notes)” means, in respect of any Subordinated Note, its 
Outstanding Principal Amount or such other amount as may be specified in, or calculated or determined 
in accordance with, these Conditions or the relevant Final Terms;

“Contractual Currency” has the meaning given to such term in Condition 24 (Currency Indemnity);

“Coupon Sheet” means, in relation to a Bearer Note, the coupon sheet relating to the Note;

“Danish Financial Business Act” means the Danish Financial Business Act (Consolidated Act No. 793
of 20 August 2009, as amended);

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of the calculation of an amount for any period of time (the 
“Calculation Period”), such day count fraction as may be specified in these Conditions or the relevant 
Final Terms and:

(i) if “Actual/Actual (ICMA)” is so specified, means:

(a) where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular Period during which 
it falls, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (A) 
the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (B) the number of Regular Periods 
in any year; and

(b) where the Calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the sum of:

(i) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Regular 
Period in which it begins divided by the product of (A) the actual number of 
days in such Regular Period and (B) the number of Regular Periods in any year; 
and

(ii) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Regular 
Period divided by the product of (A) the actual number of days in such Regular 
Period and (B) the number of Regular Periods in any year;

(ii) if “Actual/365”, “Actual/Actual” or “Actual/Actual (ISDA)” is so specified, means the actual 
number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the Calculation 
Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the 
Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that 
portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);

(iii) if “Actual/365 (Fixed)” is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation 
Period divided by 365;

(iv) if “Actual/360” is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period 
divided by 360;

(v) if “30/360” is so specified, means the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, 
calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
360

)1D2(D)]1M2(Mx[30)]1Y2(Yx[360 −+−+−

where:

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period 
falls;
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“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last 
day of the Calculation Period falls;

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 
Calculation Period falls;

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 
following the last day of the Calculation Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless 
such number is 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day 
included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and D1 is greater 
than 29, in which case D2 will be 30; and

(vi) if “30E/360” or “Eurobond Basis” is so specified, means the number of days in the Calculation 
Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
360

)1D2(D)]1M2(Mx[30)]1Y2(Yx[360 −+−+−

where:

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period 
falls;

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last 
day of the Calculation Period falls;

“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 
Calculation Period falls;

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 
following the last day of the Calculation Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless 
such number would be 31, in which case D1 will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day 
included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case D2

will be 30; and

(vii) if “30E/360 (ISDA)” is so specified, means the number of days in the Calculation Period divided 
by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
360

)1D2(D)]1M2(Mx[30)]1Y2(Yx[360 −+−+−

where:

“Y1” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period 
falls;

“Y2” is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last 
day of the Calculation Period falls;
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“M1” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the 
Calculation Period falls;

“M2” is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately 
following the last day of the Calculation Period falls;

“D1” is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless 
(i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D1

will be 30; and

“D2” is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day 
included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not 
the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D2 will be 30.

“Determination Date(s)” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“DFSA” means the Danish Financial Supervisory Authority;

“Early Redemption Amount (Tax)” means, in respect of any Note, its Outstanding Principal Amount 
or such other amount as may be specified in, or calculated or determined in accordance with, these 
Conditions or the relevant Final Terms;

“Early Termination Amount” means, in respect of any Note, its Outstanding Principal Amount or such 
other amount as may be specified in, or calculated or determined in accordance with, these Conditions or 
the relevant Final Terms;

“Enforcement Events” has the meaning given to such term in Condition 17 (Enforcement Events);

“Euroclear Sweden” means Euroclear Sweden AB, the Swedish central securities depository;

“Events of Default” has the meaning given to such term in Condition 16 (Events of Default);

“Extraordinary Resolution” has the meaning given in the Agency Agreement;

“Final Redemption Amount” means, in respect of any Note, its Outstanding Principal Amount or such 
other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, these Conditions or the relevant 
Final Terms;

“Fixed Coupon Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes” means the Notes specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

“Interest Amount” means, in relation to the Calculation Amount and an Interest Period, the amount of 
interest payable in respect of the Calculation Amount for that Interest Period;

“Interest Commencement Date” means the Issue Date of the Note or such other date as may be 
specified as the Interest Commencement Date in the relevant Final Terms;

“Interest Determination Date” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Interest Payment Date” means the date or dates specified as such in, or determined in accordance with 
the provisions of, the relevant Final Terms and, if a Business Day Convention is specified in the relevant 
Final Terms:

(i) as the same may be adjusted in accordance with the relevant Business Day Convention; or

(ii) if the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar 
Convention and an interval of a number of calendar months is specified in the relevant Final 
Terms as being the Specified Period, each of such dates as may occur in accordance with the 
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FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention at such Specified Period 
of calendar months following the Interest Commencement Date (in the case of the first Interest 
Payment Date) or the previous Interest Payment Date (in any other case);

“Interest Period” means each period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date or 
any Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next Interest Payment Date;

“ISDA Definitions” means the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as amended and updated as at the date of issue of 
the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series (as specified in the relevant Final Terms) as published 
by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.);

“Issue Date” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Margin” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Maturity Date” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Maximum Redemption Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Member States” means the member states of the European Economic Area;

“Minimum Redemption Amount” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Optional Interest Payment Date” means any Interest Payment Date on which the Issuer does not 
satisfy the solvency requirements of the Danish Financial Business Act;

“Optional Redemption Amount (Call)” means, in respect of any Note, its Outstanding Principal 
Amount, or such other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, these 
Conditions or the relevant Final Terms;

“Optional Redemption Amount (Put)” means, in respect of any Note, its Outstanding Principal 
Amount, or such other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, these 
Conditions or the relevant Final Terms;

“Optional Redemption Date (Call)” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Optional Redemption Date (Put)” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Outstanding Principal Amount” means, in respect of a Note, its principal amount or, in the case of a 
Subordinated Note or a Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Note, the outstanding principal amount as reduced from 
time to time in accordance with Condition 10.2 (Reduction and Cancellation) or otherwise as indicated in 
the relevant Final Terms;

“Participating Member State” means a Member State of the European Communities which adopts the 
euro as its lawful currency in accordance with the Treaty;

“Payment Business Day” means a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle 
payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency 
deposits) in (i) the relevant place of presentation and (ii) each Applicable Financial Centre specified in 
the relevant Final Terms and, if TARGET is an Applicable Financial Centre, a TARGET Settlement Day;

“Person” means any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, association, 
organisation, state or agency of a state or other entity, whether or not having separate legal personality;

“Private Placement Legend” means the legend set forth in the form of Registered Notes scheduled to 
the Agency Agreement;

“Put Option Notice” means a notice, in the form available from the Specified Office of any Paying 
Agent, or in the case of Registered Notes, the Registrar which must be delivered to the Specified Office 
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of a Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes) or the Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes) by any 
Holder wanting to exercise its right to require the Issuer to redeem a Note;

“Put Option Receipt” means a receipt issued by a Paying Agent or the Registrar, as the case may be, to a 
depositing Holder upon deposit of a Note with such Paying Agent or the Registrar, as the case may be, by 
any Holder wanting to exercise its right to require the Issuer to redeem a Note;

“Rate of Interest” means the rate or rates (expressed as a percentage per annum) of interest payable in 
respect of the Notes specified in the relevant Final Terms or calculated or determined in accordance with 
the provisions of these Conditions and/or the relevant Final Terms;

“Record Date” has the meaning given to such term in Condition 13 (Payments – Registered Notes);

“Redemption Amount” means, as appropriate, the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption 
Amount (Tax), the Optional Redemption Amount (Call), the Optional Redemption Amount (Put), the 
Early Termination Amount or such other amount in the nature of a redemption amount as may be 
specified in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of, these Conditions or the relevant Final 
Terms;

“Reference Banks” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms or, if none, four major banks
selected by the Calculation Agent in the market that is most closely connected with the Reference Rate;

“Reference Price” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Reference Rate” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Registered Notes” means Notes issued in registered form;

“Registered Holder” means the persons in whose name a Registered Note is for the time being registered 
by the Registrar;

“Regular Period” means:

(i) in the case of Notes where interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, 
each period from and including the Interest Commencement Date to but excluding the first 
Interest Payment Date and each successive period from and including one Interest Payment Date 
to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date;

(ii) in the case of Notes where, apart from the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid 
only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any 
year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where “Regular Date” means the day and month 
(but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls; and

(iii) in the case of Notes where, apart from one Interest Period other than the first Interest Period, 
interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and 
including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where 
“Regular Date” means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date 
falls other than the Interest Payment Date falling at the end of the irregular Interest Period;

“Relevant Banking Day” means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks 
and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in the place of presentation of the relevant Note 
or, as the case may be, Coupon or, in connection with the transfer of Registered Notes only, the place of 
the Specified Office of the Registrar;

“Relevant Date” means, in relation to any payment, whichever is the later of (a) the date on which the 
payment in question first becomes due and (b) if the full amount payable has not been received in the 
Applicable Financial Centre of the currency of payment by, in the case of Bearer Notes, the Fiscal Agent 
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or, in the case of Registered Notes, the Registrar  on or prior to such due date, the date on which (the full 
amount having been so received) notice to that effect has been given to the Holders;

“Relevant Financial Centre” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Relevant Screen Page” means the page, section or other part of a particular information service 
(including, without limitation, the Reuter Money 3000 Service) specified as the Relevant Screen Page in 
the relevant Final Terms, or such other page, section or other part as may replace it on that information 
service or such other information service, in each case, as may be nominated by the Person providing or 
sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to the 
Reference Rate;

“Relevant Time” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Restricted Securities” has the meaning given to such term in Rule 144(a)(3) under the United States 
Securities Act 1933;

“Specified Currency” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Specified Denomination(s)” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Specified Office” has the meaning given in the Agency Agreement;

“Specified Period” has the meaning given in the relevant Final Terms;

“Subordinated Notes” means the Notes specified as such in the relevant Final Terms;

“Subsidiary” means, in relation to any Person (the “first Person”) at any particular time, any other 
Person (the “second Person”):

(i) whose affairs and policies the first Person controls or has the power to control, whether by 
ownership of share capital, contract, the power to appoint or remove members of the governing 
body of the second Person or otherwise; or

(ii) whose financial statements are, in accordance with applicable law and generally accepted 
accounting principles, consolidated with those of the first Person;

“Supplementary Capital” has the meaning given to such term in the Danish Financial Business Act;

“Talon” means a talon for further Coupons;

“TARGET Settlement Day” means any day on which the Trans-European Automated Real-time Gross 
settlement Express Transfer (TARGET2) System (“TARGET”), which was launched on 19 November 
2007, or any successor thereto is open for the settlement of payments in euro;

“Treaty” means the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, as amended;

“Unsubordinated Notes” means the Notes specified as such (or not specified as being issued on a 
subordinated basis) in the relevant Final Terms;

“VP” means VP Securities A/S, the Danish central securities depository;

“VP Lux” means VP Lux S.à.r.l.;

“VPS” means the Norwegian Central Securities Depository (Verdipapirsentralen), the Norwegian 
central securities depository;

“VP Systems Notes” means Notes issued in uncertificated and dematerialised book entry form cleared 
through the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be; and
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“Zero Coupon Note” means a Note specified as such in the relevant Final Terms.

2.2 Interpretation: In these Conditions:

(i) Notes and Noteholders shall be deemed to include references to Coupons and Couponholders, if 
relevant;

(ii) if the Notes are Zero Coupon Notes, references to Coupons and Couponholders are not 
applicable;

(iii) if Talons are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being attached to the Notes at the time of 
issue, references to Coupons shall be deemed to include references to Talons;

(iv) if Talons are not specified in the relevant Final Terms as being attached to the Notes at the time 
of issue, references to Talons are not applicable;

(v) any reference to principal shall be deemed to include the Redemption Amount, any additional 
amounts in respect of principal which may be payable under Condition 15 (Taxation), any 
premium payable in respect of a Note and any other amount in the nature of principal payable 
pursuant to these Conditions;

(vi) any reference to interest shall be deemed to include any additional amounts in respect of interest 
which may be payable under Condition 15 (Taxation) and any other amount in the nature of 
interest payable pursuant to these Conditions;

(vii) references to Notes being “outstanding” shall be construed in accordance with the Agency 
Agreement;

(viii) if an expression is stated in Condition 2.1 (Definitions) to have the meaning given in the relevant 
Final Terms, but the relevant Final Terms gives no such meaning or specifies that such 
expression is “not applicable” then such expression is not applicable to the Notes;

(ix) any reference to the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant or the VP Systems Agency 
Agreement shall be construed as a reference to the Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant or 
the VP Systems Agency Agreement, as the case may be, as amended and/or supplemented up to 
and including the Issue Date of the first Tranche of such Notes;

(x) if the relevant Final Terms specify any Redemption Amount on a per Calculation Amount basis, 
the relevant Redemption Amount in respect of a Note shall be deemed to be the product of the 
relevant Redemption Amount per Calculation Amount and the amount by which the Calculation 
Amount is multiplied to reach the Specified Denomination; and

(xi) VP Systems Notes are in dematerialised form, and any references in these Conditions to 
Coupons and Talons shall not apply to VP Systems Notes.

3. Form, Denomination and Title

3.1 Form of Notes: The Notes are Bearer Notes, Registered Notes or VP Systems Notes, as specified in the 
relevant Final Terms.

3.2 Notes in Bearer Form: Bearer Notes are issued in the Specified Denomination(s) with Coupons and, if 
specified in the relevant Final Terms, Talons attached at the time of issue. In the case of a Series of 
Bearer Notes with more than one Specified Denomination, Bearer Notes of one Specified Denomination 
will not be exchangeable for Bearer Notes of another Specified Denomination. Title to Bearer Notes and 
Coupons will pass by delivery. The Holder of any Bearer Note or Coupon shall (except as otherwise 
required by law) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not it is overdue and 
regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any other interest therein, any writing thereon or any notice 



46

of any previous loss or theft thereof) and no Person shall be liable for so treating such Holder. Bearer 
Notes will not be exchangeable for Registered Notes or VP Systems Notes.

3.3 Notes in Registered Form: Registered Notes are issued in the Specified Denomination and may be held in 
holdings equal to the Specified Denomination and integral multiples in excess thereof. The Holder of a 
Registered Note shall (except as otherwise required by law) be treated as its absolute owner for all 
purposes (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any other 
interest therein, any writing on the Registered Note relating thereto (other than the endorsed form of 
transfer) or any previous loss or theft of such Registered Note) and no Person shall be liable for so 
treating such Holder. Title to Registered Notes will pass by transfer and registration in the register which 
the Issuer shall procure to be kept by the Registrars. Registered Notes will not be exchangeable for Bearer 
Notes or VP Systems Notes.

3.4 VP Systems Notes: VP Systems Notes are issued in the Specified Denomination(s). Title to the VP 
Systems Notes will pass by registration in the registers between the direct or indirect accountholders at 
the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be, in accordance with the rules and 
procedures of the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be. Where a nominee is so 
evidenced, it shall be treated by the Issuer as the Holder of the relevant VP Systems Note. The Holder of 
a VP Systems Note will be the person evidenced as such by a book entry in the records of the VP, VP
Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be. VP Systems Notes will not be exchangeable for 
Bearer Notes or Registered Notes.

4. Transfer of Registered Notes

4.1 Transfer of Registered Notes: A Registered Note may, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set 
forth in the Agency Agreement, be transferred in whole or in part only (provided that such part is, or is an 
integral multiple of, the Specified Denomination) upon the surrender of the Registered Note to be 
transferred, together with the form of transfer endorsed on it duly completed and executed, at the 
Specified Office of the Registrar. A new Registered Note will be issued to the transferee and, in the case 
of a transfer of part only of a Registered Note, a new Registered Note in respect of the balance not 
transferred will be issued to the transferor.

4.2 Issue of new Registered Notes: Each new Registered Note to be issued upon the transfer of a Registered 
Note will, within four Relevant Banking Days of the day on which such Note was presented for transfer 
be available for collection by each relevant Holder at the Specified Office of the Registrar or, at the 
option of the Holder requesting such transfer, be mailed (by uninsured post at the risk of the Holder(s) 
entitled thereto) to such address(es) as may be specified by such Holder. For these purposes, a form of 
transfer received by the Registrar after the Record Date in respect of any payment due in respect of 
Registered Notes shall be deemed not to be effectively received by the Registrar until the day following 
the due date for such payment.

4.3 Charges for transfer: The issue of new Registered Notes on transfer will be effected without charge by or 
on behalf of the Issuer or the Registrar, but upon payment by the applicant of (or the giving by the 
applicant of such indemnity as the Issuer or the Registrar may require in respect of) any tax, duty or other 
governmental charges which may be imposed in relation thereto.

4.4 Private Placement Legend: Upon the transfer or replacement of Registered Notes bearing the Private 
Placement Legend, the Registrar shall deliver only Registered Notes that also bear such Private 
Placement Legend unless either:

(i) such transfer or replacement occurs one year or more after the later of:

(a) the original issue date of such Notes; or

(b) the last date on which the Issuer or any Affiliates of the Issuer as notified to the 
Registrar by the Issuer was the beneficial owner of such Note (or any predecessor of 
such Note); or
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(ii) there is delivered to the Registrar an opinion reasonably satisfactory to the Issuer of counsel 
experienced in giving opinions with respect to questions arising under the securities laws of the 
United States to the effect that neither such legend nor the restrictions on transfer set forth 
therein are required in order to maintain compliance with the provisions of such laws. The Issuer 
covenants and agrees that it will not acquire any beneficial interest, and will cause its Affiliates 
not to acquire any beneficial interest, in any Registered Note bearing the Private Placement 
Legend unless it notifies the Registrar of such acquisition. The Registrar and all Holders shall be 
entitled to rely without further investigation on any such notification (or lack thereof).

For so long as any of the Registered Notes bearing the Private Placement Legend remain outstanding and 
are Restricted Securities, the Issuer covenants and agrees that it shall, during any period in which it is not 
subject to Section 13 or 15(d) under the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 nor exempt from 
reporting pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) under such Act, make available to any Holder of such Notes in 
connection with any sale thereof and any prospective purchaser of such Notes from such Holder, in each 
case upon request, the information specified in, and meeting the requirements of, Rule 144A(d)(4) under 
the United States Securities Act 1933.

5. Status of the Notes

5.1 Status – Unsubordinated Notes: The Unsubordinated Notes constitute direct, unconditional, 
unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and rank pari passu without any preference 
among themselves and at least pari passu with all other unsubordinated and unsecured obligations 
(including liabilities in respect of deposits) of the Issuer, present and future (save for certain mandatory 
exceptions provided by law).

5.2 Status – Subordinated Notes: The Subordinated Notes (kapitalbeviser) constitute subordinated loan 
capital (ansvarlig lånekapital) of the Issuer within the meaning of Section 136 of the Danish Financial 
Business Act and therefore also Supplementary Capital within the meaning of Section 135 of the Danish 
Financial Business Act.

The Subordinated Notes constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated debt obligations of the Issuer and 
shall at all times rank pari passu without preference among themselves and at least pari passu with all 
other Series of Subordinated Notes and other instruments expressed to be ranking pari passu with 
subordinated loan capital. The Subordinated Notes will at all times rank senior to holders of any classes 
of share capital of the Issuer and any other securities (including Hybrid Tier 1 securities) expressly stated 
to rank junior to the Subordinated Notes, both as regards the right to receive periodic payments and the 
right to receive repayment of capital on a liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer.

The Subordinated Notes will rank junior as regards the right of payment to the payment of any present or 
future claims of (a) depositors of the Issuer and (b) other unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer which all 
rank at least pari passu with its depositors.

5.3 Status – Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes: The Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes (kapitalbeviser) constitute Hybrid 
Tier 1 Capital of the Issuer within the meaning of Section 132 of the Danish Financial Business Act.

The Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated debt obligations of the 
Issuer and shall at all times rank pari passu without preference among themselves and at least pari passu
with all other Series of Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes and other capital instruments expressed to be ranking 
pari passu with Hybrid Tier 1 Capital. The Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes will at all times rank senior to 
holders of any classes of share capital of the Issuer, both as regards the right to receive periodic payments 
and the right to receive repayment of capital on a liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer.

The Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes will rank junior as regards the right of payment to the payment of any 
present or future claims of (a) depositors of the Issuer, (b) other unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer 
and (c) subordinated creditors of the Issuer other than creditors with respect to any Notes expressly stated 
to rank pari passu with or junior to the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes.
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6. Fixed Rate Note Provisions

6.1 Application: This Condition 6 is applicable to the Notes only if the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are 
specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable.

6.2 Accrual of interest: The Notes bear interest from, and including, the Interest Commencement Date at the 
Rate of Interest payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, subject as provided in Condition 12
(Payments – Bearer Notes), Condition 13 (Payments – Registered Notes) or Condition 14 (Payments –
VP Systems Notes), as applicable. Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for final 
redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the Redemption Amount is improperly withheld or 
refused, in which case it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 6 (as well after as 
before judgment) until whichever is the earlier of:

(i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf 
of the relevant Holder; and

(ii) the day which is seven days after the Fiscal Agent, the Registrar or the VP Systems Agent, as 
applicable, has notified the Holders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to 
such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment).

6.3 Fixed Coupon Amount and Broken Amount: Except as provided in the relevant Final Terms, the amount 
of interest payable in respect of the Calculation Amount for any Interest Period shall be the relevant 
Fixed Coupon Amount or the relevant Broken Amount, as the case may be. Where the Specified 
Denomination of a Note is the Calculation Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect of such 
Note shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount or the relevant Broken Amount, as the case may be. 
Where the Specified Denomination of a Note comprises more than one Calculation Amount, the amount 
of interest payable in respect of such Note shall be the aggregate of the Fixed Coupon Amounts or the 
Broken Amounts, as the case may be, for each Calculation Amount comprising the Specified 
Denomination.

6.4 Calculation of interest amount: Except where a Fixed Coupon Amount or a Broken Amount is specified 
in the relevant Final Terms, the amount of interest payable in respect of the Notes for any period shall be 
calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to the Calculation Amount, and multiplying the product by the 
relevant Day Count Fraction and rounding the resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified 
Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards). For this purpose a “sub-unit” means, in the case of 
any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the 
country of such currency and, in the case of euro, means one cent. Where the Specified Denomination of 
a Note is the Calculation Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Note shall be the 
amount (determined in the manner provided above) for the Calculation Amount. Where the Specified 
Denomination of a Note comprises more than one Calculation Amount, the amount of interest payable in 
respect of such Note shall be the aggregate of the amounts (determined in the manner provided above) for 
each Calculation Amount comprising the Specified Denomination, without any further rounding.
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7. Floating Rate Note and Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions

7.1 Application: This Condition 7 is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note Provisions or the 
Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable.

7.2 Accrual of interest: The Notes bear interest from, and including, the Interest Commencement Date at the 
Rate of Interest payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, subject as provided in Condition 12
(Payments – Bearer Notes), Condition 13 (Payments – Registered Notes) or Condition 14 (Payments –
VP Systems Notes), as applicable. Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for final 
redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the Redemption Amount is improperly withheld or 
refused, in which case it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 7 (as well after as 
before judgment) until whichever is the earlier of:

(i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf 
of the relevant Holder; and

(ii) the day which is seven days after the Fiscal Agent, the Registrar or the VP Systems Agent, as 
applicable, has notified the Holders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to 
such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment).

7.3 Screen Rate Determination: If Screen Rate Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the 
manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest applicable to the 
Notes for each Interest Period will be determined by the Calculation Agent on the following basis:

(i) if the Reference Rate is a composite quotation or customarily supplied by one entity, the 
Calculation Agent will determine the Reference Rate which appears on the Relevant Screen Page 
as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date;

(ii) in any other case, the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of the Reference 
Rates which appear on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest 
Determination Date;

(iii) if, in the case of Condition 7.3(i) above, such rate does not appear on that page or, in the case of 
Condition 7.3(ii) above, fewer than two such rates appear on that page or if, in either case, the 
Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, the Calculation Agent will:

(a) request the principal Relevant Financial Centre office of each the Reference Banks to 
provide a quotation of the Reference Rate at approximately the Relevant Time on the 
Interest Determination Date to prime banks in the Relevant Financial Centre interbank 
market in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in that market at that 
time; and

(b) determine the arithmetic mean of such quotations; and

(iv) if fewer than two such quotations are provided as requested, the Calculation Agent will 
determine the arithmetic mean of the rates (being the nearest to the Reference Rate, as 
determined by the Calculation Agent) quoted by major banks in the principal financial centre of 
the Specified Currency, selected by the Calculation Agent, at approximately 11.00 a.m. (local 
time in the principal financial centre of the Specified Currency) on the first day of the relevant 
Interest Period for loans in the Specified Currency to leading European banks for a period equal 
to the relevant Interest Period and in an amount that is representative for a single transaction in 
that market at that time,

and the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Margin and the rate or, as the case 
may be, the arithmetic mean so determined; provided, however, that if the Calculation Agent is unable to 
determine a rate or, as the case may be, an arithmetic mean in accordance with the above provisions in 
relation to any Interest Period, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes during such Interest Period will 
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be the sum of the Margin and the rate or, as the case may be, the arithmetic mean last determined in 
relation to the Notes in respect of the last preceding Interest Period.

7.4 ISDA Determination: If ISDA Determination is specified in the relevant Final Terms as the manner in 
which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each 
Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the relevant ISDA Rate where “ISDA Rate” in relation 
to any Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) that 
would be determined by the Calculation Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Calculation 
Agent were acting as Calculation Agent for that interest rate swap transaction under the terms of an 
agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions and under which:

(i) the Floating Rate Option (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is as specified in the relevant Final 
Terms;

(ii) the Designated Maturity (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is a period specified in the relevant 
Final Terms; and

(iii) the relevant Reset Date (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is either (A) if the relevant Floating 
Rate Option is based on the London inter-bank offered rate (LIBOR) for a currency, the first day 
of that Interest Period or (B) in any other case, as specified in the relevant Final Terms.

7.5 Index-Linked Interest: If the Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Final 
Terms as being applicable, the Rate(s) of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be 
determined in the manner specified in the relevant Final Terms.

7.6 Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest: If any Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest is 
specified in the relevant Final Terms, then the Rate of Interest shall in no event be greater than the 
maximum or be less than the minimum so specified.

7.7 Calculation of Interest Amount: The Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the time at which 
the Rate of Interest is to be determined in relation to each Interest Period, calculate the Interest Amount 
payable in respect of the Calculation Amount for such Interest Period. The Interest Amount will be 
calculated by applying the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period to the Calculation Amount, 
multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction and rounding the resulting figure to the 
nearest sub-unit (as defined in Condition 6.4 (Calculation of interest amount)) of the Specified Currency 
(half a sub-unit being rounded upwards). Where the Specified Denomination of a Note is the Calculation 
Amount, the amount of interest payable in respect of such Note shall be the Interest Amount. Where the 
Specified Denomination of a Note comprises more than one Calculation Amount, the amount of interest 
payable in respect of such Note shall be the aggregate of the Interest Amounts (determined in the manner 
provide above) for each Calculation Amount comprising the Specified Denomination, without any further 
rounding.

7.8 Calculation of other amounts: If the relevant Final Terms specifies that any other amount is to be 
calculated by the Calculation Agent, the Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the time or 
times at which any such amount is to be determined, calculate the relevant amount. The relevant amount 
will be calculated by the Calculation Agent in the manner specified in the relevant Final Terms.

7.9 Publication: The Calculation Agent will cause each Rate of Interest and Interest Amount determined by 
it, together with the relevant Interest Payment Date, and any other amount(s) required to be determined 
by it together with any relevant payment date(s) to be notified to the Paying Agents (and if applicable, the 
Registrar), each listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes 
have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and, in the case of VP Systems Notes, the VP, 
VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be, and the VP Systems Agent as soon as practicable 
after such determination but (in the case of each Rate of Interest, Interest Amount and Interest Payment 
Date) in any event not later than the first day of the relevant Interest Period. Notice thereof shall also 
promptly be given to the Holders. The Calculation Agent will be entitled to recalculate any Interest 
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Amount (on the basis of the foregoing provisions) without notice in the event of an extension or 
shortening of the relevant Interest Period.

7.10 Notifications etc: All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and 
decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of this Condition 7 by the Calculation 
Agent will (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the Registrar (if 
applicable), the VP Systems Agent (if applicable), the Holders and the Couponholders and (subject as 
aforesaid) no liability to any such Person will attach to the Calculation Agent in connection with the 
exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions for such purposes.

8. Zero Coupon Note Provisions

8.1 Application: This Condition 8 is applicable to the Notes only if the Zero Coupon Note Provisions are 
specified in the relevant Final Terms as being applicable.

8.2 Late payment on Zero Coupon Notes: If the Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon 
Note is improperly withheld or refused, the Redemption Amount shall thereafter be an amount equal to 
the sum of:

(i) the Reference Price; and

(ii) the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Reference Price on 
the basis of the relevant Day Count Fraction from (and including) the Issue Date to (but 
excluding) whichever is the earlier of:

(a) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or 
on behalf of the relevant Holder; and

(b) the day which is seven days after the Fiscal Agent, the Registrar or the VP Systems 
Agent, as applicable, has notified the Holders that it has received all sums due in respect 
of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent 
default in payment).

9. Interest Deferral

9.1 Applicability: This Condition 9 is applicable only in relation to Subordinated Notes and Hybrid Tier 1 
Capital Notes.

9.2 Option to Defer Interest – Subordinated Notes: The Issuer may, on any Optional Interest Payment Date, 
defer payment of interest in respect of the Subordinated Notes accrued in the Interest Period ending on 
the day immediately preceding such date. Any interest in respect of the relevant Series of Subordinated 
Notes not paid on an Optional Interest Payment Date, together with any other interest in respect of the 
relevant Series of Subordinated Notes not paid on any other Optional Interest Payment Date, shall, so 
long as the same remains unpaid, constitute “Arrears of Interest”. Interest will accrue on the amount of 
Arrears of Interest at the Rate of Interest from time to time applicable to the relevant Series of 
Subordinated Notes, and such amount of interest (the “Additional Interest Amount”) accrued up to any 
Interest Payment Date shall be added, for the purpose only of calculating the Additional Interest Amounts 
accruing thereafter, to the amount of Arrears of Interest remaining unpaid or not cancelled on such 
Interest Payment Date.

9.3 Option to Defer Interest – Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes: The Issuer may, on any Optional Interest 
Payment Date, defer payment of interest in respect of the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes accrued in the 
Interest Period ending on the day immediately preceding such date. Any interest in respect of the relevant 
Series of Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes not paid on an Optional Interest Payment Date, together with any 
other interest in respect of the relevant Series of Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes not paid on any other 
Optional Interest Payment Date and any mandatory deferred interest as outlined under Condition 9.6
(Mandatory Deferral of Interest and Interest Cancellation – Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes) below, shall, so 
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long as the same remains unpaid or not cancelled, constitute “Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest”. 
Interest will accrue on the amount of Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest at the Rate of Interest from time 
to time applicable to the relevant Series of Notes, and such amount of interest (the “Hybrid Capital 
Additional Interest Amount”) accrued up to any Interest Payment Date shall be added, for the purpose 
only of calculating the Hybrid Capital Additional Interest Amount accruing thereafter, to the amount of 
Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest remaining unpaid or not cancelled on such Interest Payment Date.

9.4 Arrears of Interest or Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest becomes payable: Subject to Condition 10
(Reduction of Amounts of Principal and Unpaid Interest), Arrears of Interest or Hybrid Capital Arrears of 
Interest, as the case may be (together with all corresponding Additional Interest Amount or Hybrid 
Capital Additional Interest Amount, as the case may be, but excluding any interest which has been 
cancelled) in respect of the relevant Series of Notes for the time being outstanding shall become due in 
full on the earliest of:

(i) the date on which the Issuer next satisfies the solvency requirements of the Danish Financial 
Business Act;

(ii) the date upon which the Outstanding Principal Amount of the Notes of the relevant Series 
becomes due and payable (if relevant) or is redeemed according to Condition 11.2 (Early 
Redemption following a Tax Event or a Capital Event) or Condition 11.3 (Redemption at the 
option of the Issuer); or

(iii) the liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer.

9.5 Notice of Interest Deferral: The Issuer shall give notice to the Holders in accordance with Condition 23
(Notices) of any Optional Interest Payment Date on which the Issuer shall elect, as described above, not 
to make such interest payment. Any such notice shall apply to each succeeding Optional Interest Payment 
Date until the next Interest Payment Date to occur on which the Issuer satisfies the solvency requirements 
of the Danish Financial Business Act. Notwithstanding the foregoing, failure to give such notice shall not 
prejudice the right of the Issuer not to pay interest as described above. The Issuer shall also give notice to 
the Holders of any date upon which any amounts in respect of Arrears of Interest, as the case may be, or 
Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest and/or Additional Interest Amounts or Hybrid Capital Additional 
Interest Amounts, as the case may be, shall become due and payable under Condition 9.4 (Arrears of 
Interest or Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest becomes payable).

9.6 Mandatory Deferral of Interest and Interest Cancellation – Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes: The aggregate 
amount of interest payments in respect of the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes during the period between the 
most recent date of approval of the annual accounts of the Issuer and the next succeeding date of approval 
of the annual accounts of the Issuer may not exceed the amount of Available Free Reserves (as defined 
below) shown in the annual accounts of the Issuer approved on the first-mentioned date. Accrual of 
interest will cease with effect from the date of approval of the relevant annual audited accounts if the 
Issuer has no Available Free Reserves. In the event that the amount of the next interest payment will 
exceed the Available Free Reserves, such payment will be reduced to the amount of such Available Free 
Reserves, or, in the case where there are no Available Free Reserves, to zero. Where such reduction of 
interest occurs and part of the applicable Interest Period falls before the date of approval of the relevant 
accounts, to the extent that the amount of interest accrued as at the date of approval of the relevant 
accounts exceeds the amount of the Available Free Reserves, any such excess shall be deferred and shall 
constitute Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest. Where interest has ceased to accrue and subsequent annual 
audited accounts disclose Available Free Reserves, accrual of interest will recommence, provided, 
however, that the amount of the first payment due after the date of approval of such accounts will be 
restricted to the amount accrued from the date of approval of those accounts to the relevant Interest 
Payment Date.

In the event that less than full payment is to be made on any Interest Payment Date, the amount to be paid 
to any Holder of the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes will represent a pro rata share of the full amount 
available for payment, calculated by reference to the principal amount of the relevant holding as a 
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proportion of the total Outstanding Principal Amount of Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes plus the outstanding 
principal amount of any pari passu ranking capital instruments outstanding.

Any interest payment or part thereof which has not been made in accordance with these provisions will, 
to the extent such interest payment or part thereof has not been deferred in accordance with these 
provisions, be cancelled and will not fall due at any time thereafter. The Issuer shall give notice to 
Holders of the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes in accordance with Condition 23 (Notices) of any deferral or 
cancellation of interest payment as applicable.

For the purposes of this Condition, “Available Free Reserves” means the amount of free reserves 
(consisting of the retained profit brought forward from prior fiscal years, the retained profit for the most 
recent fiscal year and other reserves available for distribution of dividends) as disclosed in the Issuer’s 
most recent audited annual financial accounts, prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles in Denmark (“Danish Accounting Principles”), as reduced by any payments already made 
since the date of such accounts by reference to free reserves disclosed therein.

9.7 Dividend suspension: The Issuer shall not declare, pay or make any dividend or other distribution on any 
class of its share capital nor shall the Issuer redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire (i) any of its share 
capital, (ii) any subordinated loan capital ranking pari passu with the Subordinated Notes or any Hybrid 
Tier 1 securities ranking pari passu with the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, as the case may be, or (iii) any 
obligations of the Issuer expressed to rank junior to the Subordinated Notes or Hybrid Tier 1 Capital 
Notes, as the case may be, until (subject to reduction or cancellation as described in Condition 10
(Reduction of Amounts of Principal and Unpaid Interest)) either, in the case of Subordinated Notes, all 
Arrears of Interest (together with all corresponding Additional Interest Amounts but excluding any 
interest which has been cancelled) are paid in full or, in the case of Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, either all 
Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest (together with all corresponding Hybrid Capital Additional Interest 
Amounts but excluding any interest which has been cancelled) are paid in full and/or full interest 
payments are resumed following interest cancellation for the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes in accordance 
with Condition 9.6 (Mandatory Deferral of Interest and Interest Cancellation – Hybrid Tier 1 Capital 
Notes) and have been paid for one year. Notwithstanding this restriction, the Issuer may take such actions 
(a) in connection with transactions effected by or for the account of customers of the Issuer in connection 
with distribution, trading or market making in respect of those securities, (b) in connection with the 
satisfaction by the Issuer of its obligations under any existing or future employee benefit plans or similar 
arrangements with or for the benefit of employees, officers, directors or consultants of the Issuer or any 
of its subsidiaries, or (c) otherwise as required by law.

10. Reduction of Amounts of Principal and Unpaid Interest

10.1 Applicability: This Condition 10 is applicable only in relation to Subordinated Notes and Hybrid Tier 1 
Capital Notes.

10.2 Reduction and Cancellation: The Issuer, by a resolution passed at a general meeting of its shareholders 
duly convened in accordance with Danish law and the Articles of Association, may resolve to reduce and 
cancel:

(i) in the case of Subordinated Notes, part or all of the Outstanding Principal Amount of each 
relevant Series of the Notes and any Arrears of Interest thereon (together with all corresponding 
Additional Interest Amounts) on a pro rata basis with all of the Issuer’s outstanding 
subordinated loan capital and other instruments expressed to be ranking pari passu with 
subordinated loan capital; or
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(ii) in the case of Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, part or all of the Outstanding Principal Amount of 
each relevant Series of the Notes and any Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest thereon (together 
with all corresponding Hybrid Capital Additional Interest Amounts) on a pro rata basis with all 
of the Issuer’s other outstanding Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes and other capital instruments 
expressed to be ranking pari passu with Hybrid Tier 1 Capital,

in either case, upon the occurrence of all of the following circumstances:

(a) the equity capital of the Issuer has been lost;

(b) a general meeting of the shareholders of the Issuer has effectively resolved in accordance with 
Danish law and the Articles of Association to reduce to zero the share capital of the Issuer; and

(c) following the resolution referred to in (b) above either: (I) sufficient new share and/or other 
capital of the Issuer is subscribed or contributed so as to enable the Issuer, following any such 
reduction of the Outstanding Principal Amount of the Notes comprising the relevant Series and 
any Arrears of Interest or Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest, as the case may be, thereon 
(together with all corresponding Additional Interest Amounts or Hybrid Capital Additional 
Interest Amounts, as the case may be, but excluding any interest which has been cancelled), to 
comply with the solvency requirements of the Danish Financial Business Act, or (II) the Issuer 
discontinues its business without a loss to its non-subordinated creditors.

10.3 Prior Approvals and Notice: The amount of any such reduction shall be subject to the prior approval of 
the Issuer’s elected external auditors and the DFSA. The Issuer will give notice of any such reduction and 
cancellation immediately following the passing of such resolution in accordance with Condition 23
(Notices).

10.4 Effect: The reduction and cancellation will take effect on the date specified in the relevant resolution 
approving any such reduction and cancellation and in the following order:

(i) Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest (together with all corresponding Hybrid Capital Additional 
Interest Amounts but excluding any interest which has been cancelled) in relation to each 
relevant Series of Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes on a pro rata basis with any equivalent interest on 
the Issuer’s other outstanding capital instruments (if any) expressed to be ranking pari passu
with Hybrid Tier 1 Capital;

(ii) Outstanding Principal Amount of each relevant Series of Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes on a pro 
rata basis with the outstanding principal amount of the Issuer’s other capital instruments (if any) 
expressed to be ranking pari passu with Hybrid Tier 1 Capital;

(iii) Arrears of Interest (together with all corresponding Additional Interest Amounts but excluding 
any interest which has been cancelled) in relation to each relevant Series of Subordinated Notes 
on a pro rata basis with any equivalent arrears of interest on the Issuer’s other outstanding 
subordinated loan capital (if any) and other instruments (if any) expressed to be ranking pari 
passu with subordinated loan capital; and

(iv) Outstanding Principal Amount of each relevant Series of Subordinated Notes on a pro rata basis 
with the outstanding principal amount of the Issuer’s other outstanding subordinated loan 
capital(if any) and other instruments (if any) expressed to be ranking pari passu with 
subordinated loan capital.

Holders of the relevant Series of Notes will thereafter cease to have any claim in respect of any amounts 
so reduced and cancelled. To the extent that only part of the Outstanding Principal Amount of the Notes 
of the relevant Series or Arrears of Interest or Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest, as the case may be, 
thereon (together with all corresponding Additional Interest Amounts or Hybrid Capital Additional 
Interest Amounts, as the case may be, but excluding any interest which has been cancelled) has been so 
reduced, interest will continue to accrue in accordance with the terms hereof on the Outstanding Principal 
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Amount of the Notes of the relevant Series and any Arrears of Interest or Hybrid Capital Arrears of 
Interest, as the case may be.

11. Redemption and Purchase

11.1 Scheduled redemption: Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled or unless such Note is 
stated in the relevant Final Terms as having no fixed Maturity Date, the Notes will be redeemed at their 
Final Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date, subject as provided in Condition 12 (Payments – Bearer
Notes), Condition 13 (Payments – Registered Notes) or Condition 14 (Payments – VP Systems Notes), as 
applicable.

11.2 Early Redemption following a Tax Event or a Capital Event:

(A) This Condition 11.2(A) is applicable only in relation to Unsubordinated and Subordinated Notes:

(i) Tax Event: If, in relation to any Series of Notes:

(a) as a result of any change in the laws, regulations or rulings of Denmark or of 
any political subdivision thereof or any authority or agency therein or thereof 
having power to tax or in the interpretation or administration of any such laws, 
regulations or rulings which becomes effective on or after the date of issue of 
the first Tranche of such Notes or any other date specified in the relevant Final
Terms, the Issuer would be required to pay additional amounts as provided in 
Condition 15 (Taxation); and

(b) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures 
available to it,

the Issuer may, at its option (but, in the case of Subordinated Notes, subject to the prior 
approval of the DFSA) and having given no less than thirty nor more than sixty days’ 
notice (ending, in the case of the Notes which bear interest at a floating rate, on a day 
upon which interest is payable) to the Holders of the Notes in accordance with 
Condition 23 (Notices) (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem all (but not some 
only) of the outstanding Notes comprising the relevant Series at their Early Redemption 
Amount (Tax), together with accrued interest (if any) thereon (which, for the avoidance 
of doubt in the case of Subordinated Notes, shall include any Arrears of Interest and 
Additional Interest Amounts but shall exclude interest which has been cancelled), 
provided, however, that no such notice of redemption may be given earlier than ninety 
days (or, in the case of Notes which bear interest at a floating rate, a number of days 
which is equal to the aggregate of the number of days falling within the then current 
interest period applicable to the Notes plus sixty days) prior to the earliest date on which 
the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of 
the Notes then due.

(ii) Capital Event: In the case of Subordinated Notes, the Issuer may, subject to the prior 
approval of the DFSA, if required, and having given no less than thirty nor more than 
sixty days’ notice (ending, in the case of the Subordinated Notes which bear interest at a 
floating rate, on a day upon which interest is payable) to the Holders of the Subordinated 
Notes in accordance with Condition 23 (Notices) (which notice shall be irrevocable), 
redeem all (but not some only) of the outstanding Subordinated Notes comprising the 
relevant Series of Subordinated Notes at any time at the Capital Event Amount 
(Subordinated Notes), together with accrued interest (if any) thereon (which, for the 
avoidance of doubt in the case of Subordinated Notes, shall include any Arrears of 
Interest and Additional Interest Amounts but shall exclude interest which has been 
cancelled), if the Issuer is advised by the DFSA that the Subordinated Notes are not 
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eligible for inclusion in full in the subordinated loan capital (ansvarlig lånekapital) of 
the Issuer.

The Issuer may not exercise any such option in respect of any Note which is the subject 
of the prior exercise by the Holder of its Put Option (if applicable) pursuant to Condition 
11.5 (Redemption at the option of Holder).

(B) This Condition 11.2(B) is applicable only in relation to Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes.

(i) Tax Event: In relation to Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, the Issuer may, at its option, 
subject to the prior approval of the DFSA, and having given no less than thirty nor more 
than sixty days’ notice (ending, in the case of the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes which 
bear interest at a floating rate, on a day upon which interest is payable) to the Holders of 
the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes in accordance with Condition 23 (Notices) (which 
notice shall be irrevocable), redeem all (but not some only) of the outstanding Hybrid 
Tier 1 Capital Notes comprising the relevant Series of Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes at 
any time prior to the first Optional Redemption Date (Call), if, as a result of (each a 
“Tax Event”) (1) any amendment to or change (including any announced prospective 
change) in, the laws or treaties (or any regulations thereunder) of Denmark, or any 
political subdivision thereof or any authority or agency therein or thereof having power 
to tax, affecting taxation or (2) any amendment to or change in the official position or 
the interpretation of any such laws, treaties, or regulations, by any legislative body, 
court, governmental authority or regulatory body, which amendment or change occurs 
on or after the date of issue of the first Tranche of the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, the 
Issuer determines that there is more than an insubstantial risk that (a) the Issuer is, or 
will be, subject to more than a de minimis amount of taxes, duties, assessments or other 
governmental charges of whatever nature or civil liabilities with respect to the Hybrid 
Tier 1 Capital Notes, (b) the Issuer’s treatment of items of expense with respect to the 
Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes as deductible interest expense for Danish tax purposes as 
reflected on the tax returns (including estimated returns) filed (or to be filed) by the 
Issuer will not be respected by a taxing authority, which subjects the Issuer to more than 
a de minimis amount of additional taxes, duties or other governmental changes, or (c) 
the Issuer would be required to pay additional amounts as provided in Condition 15
(Taxation).

(ii) Capital Event: The Issuer may, subject to the prior approval of the DFSA, if required, 
and having given no less than thirty nor more than sixty days’ notice (ending, in the case 
of the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes which bear interest at a floating rate, on a day upon 
which interest is payable) to the Holders of the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes in 
accordance with Condition 23 (Notices) (which notice shall be irrevocable), redeem all 
(but not some only) of the outstanding Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes comprising the 
relevant Series of Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes at any time prior to the first Optional 
Redemption Date (Call), if the Issuer is advised by the DFSA that the Hybrid Tier 1 
Capital Notes are not eligible for inclusion in full in the Tier 1 Capital of the Issuer (a 
“Capital Event”).

(iii) Redemption Amount: Where the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes are redeemed prior to the 
first Optional Redemption Date (Call), upon the occurrence of a Tax Event or Capital 
Event (the due date of redemption in respect of which shall be the “Special Event 
Redemption Date”), the redemption amount, per Note, on a Special Event Redemption 
Date shall be equal to the Hybrid Capital Early Redemption Amount.

The “Hybrid Capital Early Redemption Amount” will: (1) in the case of a Tax Event 
described in clause (i) (c) above, be equal to 100 per cent. of the Outstanding Principal 
Amount of such Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes; (2) in the case of any other Tax Event or a 
Capital Event, as the case may be, be equal to the greater of 100 per cent. of the 
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Outstanding Principal Amount of such Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes and the Make Whole 
Amount (as defined below); and (3) in each case, include any unpaid interest accrued 
with respect to such Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes to, but excluding, the Special Event 
Redemption Date (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall include any applicable 
Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest and Hybrid Capital Additional Interest Amounts, but 
shall exclude any interest which has been cancelled).

All Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes which are redeemed pursuant to a Tax Event or Capital 
Event will forthwith be cancelled and accordingly may not be reissued or resold.

(iv) For the purposes of this Condition 11.2(B):

“Adjusted Yield” means the gross redemption yield on the relevant Comparable 
Security (as specified in the relevant Final Terms) plus the applicable Special Margin (as 
specified in the relevant Final Terms); and

“Make Whole Amount” means an amount equal to (i) the present value of the 
Outstanding Principal Amount of the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes discounted from the 
first Optional Redemption Date (Call) to the Special Event Redemption Date, plus (ii) 
the present values of scheduled annual interest payments from the Special Event 
Redemption Date to and including the first Optional Redemption Date (Call). The 
present values calculated in (i) and (ii) above shall be calculated by discounting the 
relevant amounts to the Special Event Redemption Date on an annual basis at the 
Adjusted Yield.

Under the DFSA’s interpretation of the laws and the regulations currently in effect in Denmark, 
the DFSA may not grant an approval for the redemption of Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes earlier 
than ten years after the initial issuance of the relevant securities. However, the DFSA may, under 
special circumstances, authorise such redemption not earlier than five years after the initial 
issuance. Therefore, in the absence of a change in the relevant Danish laws and regulation or in 
their interpretation, the Issuer would not be in a position to redeem the Hybrid Tier 1 Capital 
Notes within five years of initial issuance and may not receive approval for such redemption 
prior to ten years having elapsed from initial issuance. Even after such time, approval for such 
redemption remains at the discretion of the DFSA.

11.3 Redemption at the option of the Issuer: If the Call Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being 
applicable, the Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer (but in the case of Subordinated Notes 
or Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, subject to the prior approval of the DFSA) in whole or, if so specified in 
the relevant Final Terms, in part on any Optional Redemption Date (Call) at the relevant Optional 
Redemption Amount (Call), together with accrued interest (if any) thereon (which, for the avoidance of 
doubt in the case of Subordinated Notes, shall include any Arrears of Interest and Additional Interest 
Amounts but shall exclude interest which has been cancelled) upon the Issuer’s giving not less than thirty 
days’ notice (or such lesser period as may be specified in the relevant Final Terms) to the Holders in 
accordance with Condition 23 (Notices) (which notice shall be irrevocable and shall oblige the Issuer to 
redeem the Notes or, as the case may be, the Notes specified in such notice on the relevant Optional 
Redemption Date (Call)).

If the Notes are Bearer Notes or Registered Notes, the notice to Holders referred to in this Condition 11.3
shall specify the serial numbers of the Notes so to be redeemed.

If any Maximum Redemption Amount or Minimum Redemption Amount is specified in the relevant 
Final Terms, then the Optional Redemption Amount (Call) shall in no event be greater than the maximum 
or be less than the minimum so specified.

The Issuer may not exercise such option in respect of any Note which is the subject of the prior exercise 
by the Holder of its Put Option pursuant to Condition 11.5 (Redemption at the option of Holder).
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11.4 Partial redemption: If the Notes are to be redeemed in part only on any date in accordance with 
Condition 11.3 (Redemption at the option of the Issuer):

(i) in the case of Bearer Notes, the Notes to be redeemed shall be drawn by lot in such European 
city as the Fiscal Agent may specify, or identified in such other manner or in such other place as 
the Fiscal Agent may approve and deem appropriate and fair;

(ii) in the case of Registered Notes, the Notes shall be redeemed (so far as may be practicable) pro 
rata to their principal amounts, provided always that the amount redeemed in respect of each 
Note shall be equal to the Specified Denomination thereof or an integral multiple thereof, subject 
always to compliance with all applicable laws and the requirements of any listing authority, 
stock exchange or quotation system on which the relevant Notes may be listed, traded or quoted; 
or

(iii) in the case of VP Systems Notes, the VP Systems Notes to be redeemed shall be selected in 
accordance with the standard procedures of the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the 
case may be, from time to time.

In the case of the redemption of part only of a Registered Note, a new Registered Note in respect of the 
unredeemed balance shall be issued in accordance with Condition 4 (Transfer of Registered Notes) which 
shall apply as in the case of a transfer of Registered Notes as if such new Registered Note were in respect 
of the untransferred balance.

11.5 Redemption at the option of Holder: If the Put Option is specified in the relevant Final Terms as being 
applicable, upon a Holder of any Note giving not less than forty-five nor more than sixty days’ notice to 
the Issuer, the Issuer will redeem such Note on the Optional Redemption Date (Put) at the relevant 
Optional Redemption Amount (Put) together with interest (if any) accrued to such date.

If the Note is a Bearer Note or a Registered Note, in order to exercise the option contained in this 
Condition 11.5, the Holder of such Note must, within the notice period set out above, deposit at the 
Specified Office of any Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes) or the Registrar (in the case of 
Registered Notes) such Note together with, in the case of Bearer Notes, all unmatured Coupons relating 
thereto and a duly completed Put Option Notice in the form obtainable from any Paying Agent or 
Registrar specifying the aggregate Outstanding Principal Amount in respect of which such option is 
exercised. The Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes) or Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes) 
with which a Note is so deposited shall deliver a duly completed Put Option Receipt to the depositing 
Holder. No Note, once deposited with a duly completed Put Option Notice in accordance with this 
Condition 11.5, may be withdrawn; provided, however, that if, prior to the relevant Optional Redemption 
Date (Put), any such Note becomes immediately due and payable or, upon due presentation of any such 
Note on the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put), payment of the redemption moneys is improperly 
withheld or refused, the relevant Paying Agent or Registrar, as the case may be, shall mail notification 
thereof to the depositing Holder at such address as may have been given by such Holder in the relevant 
Put Option Notice and shall hold such Note at its Specified Office for collection by the depositing Holder 
against surrender of the relevant Put Option Receipt. For so long as any outstanding Note is held by a 
Paying Agent or Registrar, as the case may be, in accordance with this Condition 11.5, the depositor of 
such Note and not such Paying Agent or Registrar shall be deemed to be the holder of such Note for all 
purposes.

If the Note is a VP Systems Note, in order to exercise the option contained in this Condition 11.5, the 
Holder of such Note, must, within the notice period set out above, give notice to the VP Systems Agent 
of such exercise in accordance with the standard procedures of the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear 
Sweden, as the case may be, from time to time.

The Holder of a Note may not exercise such Put Option in respect of any Note which is the subject of an 
exercise by the Issuer of its Call Option.
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In the case of the redemption of part only of a Registered Note, a new Registered Note in respect of the 
unredeemed balance shall be issued in accordance with Condition 4 (Transfer of Registered Notes) which 
shall apply as in the case of a transfer of Registered Notes as if such new Registered Note were in respect 
of the untransferred balance.

11.6 Early redemption of Zero Coupon Notes: Unless otherwise specified in the relevant Final Terms, the 
Redemption Amount payable on redemption of a Zero Coupon Note at any time before the Maturity Date 
shall be an amount equal to the sum of:

(i) the Reference Price; and

(ii) the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Reference Price 
from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or, as the 
case may be, the date upon which the Note becomes due and payable.

Where such calculation is to be made for a period which is not a whole number of years, the calculation 
in respect of the period of less than a full year shall be made on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as 
may be specified in the relevant Final Terms for the purposes of this Condition 11.6 or, if none is so 
specified, a Day Count Fraction of 30E/360.

11.7 Purchase: The Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries (but in the case of Subordinated Notes or Hybrid Tier 1 
Capital Notes, subject to the prior approval of the DFSA, if required) may at any time purchase Notes in 
the open market or otherwise and at any price, provided that, in the case of Bearer Notes, all unmatured 
Coupons are purchased therewith. Such Notes may be held, reissued, resold or, in the case of Bearer 
Notes or Registered Notes, surrendered to any Paying Agent or the Registrar for cancellation.

11.8 Cancellation: All Notes which are redeemed will forthwith (and, in the case of Subordinated Notes or 
Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, subject to the prior approval of the DFSA, if required) be cancelled 
(together with all unmatured Coupons attached thereto or surrendered therewith at the time of 
redemption). All Notes so cancelled and the Notes purchased and cancelled pursuant to Condition 11.7
(Purchase) above (together, in the case of Bearer Notes, with all unmatured Coupons cancelled 
therewith) shall be forwarded to the Fiscal Agent or, in the case of VP Systems Notes, shall be deleted 
from the records of the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be, and, in either case, 
cannot be reissued or resold.

12. Payments – Bearer Notes

12.1 Principal: Payments of principal shall be made only against presentation and (provided that payment is 
made in full) surrender of the relevant Bearer Note at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside 
the United States by cheque drawn in the currency in which the payment is due on, or by transfer to an 
account denominated in that currency (or, if that currency is euro, any other account to which euro may 
be credited or transferred) and maintained by the payee with, a bank in the Applicable Financial Centre of 
that currency.

12.2 Interest: Payments of interest shall, subject to Condition 12.8 (Payments other than in respect of matured 
Coupons) below, be made only against presentation and (provided that payment is made in full) surrender 
of the appropriate Coupons at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States in the 
manner described in Condition 12.1 (Principal) above.

12.3 Payments in New York City: Payments of principal or interest may be made at the Specified Office of a 
Paying Agent in New York City if:

(i) the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents outside the United States with the reasonable expectation 
that such Paying Agents will be able to make payment of the full amount of the interest on the 
Notes in the currency in which the payment is due when due;
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(ii) payment of the full amount of such interest at the offices of all such Paying Agents is illegal or 
effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions; and

(iii) payment is permitted by applicable United States law.

12.4 Payments subject to fiscal laws: All payments in respect of the Notes are subject in all cases to any 
applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the 
provisions of Condition 15 (Taxation). No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Holders in 
respect of such payments.

12.5 Deductions for unmatured Coupons: If the relevant Final Terms specify that the Fixed Rate Note 
Provisions are applicable (and, in the absence of specification, this Condition 12.5 shall apply to Notes 
which bear interest at a fixed rate or rates or in fixed amounts) and a Note is presented for final 
redemption (or partial redemption in accordance with Condition 11.3 (Redemption at the option of the 
Issuer) or Condition 11.4 (Partial redemption)) without all unmatured Coupons relating thereto:

(i) If the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons is less than or equal to the amount of principal 
due for payment, a sum equal to the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons will be deducted 
from the amount of principal due for payment; provided, however, that if the gross amount 
available for payment is less than the amount of principal due for payment, the sum deducted 
will be that proportion of the aggregate amount of such missing Coupons which the gross 
amount actually available for payment bears to the amount of principal due for payment;

(ii) if the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons is greater than the amount of principal due for 
payment:

(a) so many of such missing Coupons shall become void (in inverse order of maturity) as 
will result in the aggregate amount of the remainder of such missing Coupons (the 
“Relevant Coupons”) being equal to the amount of principal due for payment; 
provided, however, that where this sub-paragraph would otherwise require a fraction of 
a missing Coupon to become void, such missing Coupon shall become void in its 
entirety; and

(b) a sum equal to the aggregate amount of the Relevant Coupons (or, if less, the amount of 
principal due for payment) will be deducted from the amount of principal due for 
payment; provided, however, that, if the gross amount available for payment is less than 
the amount of principal due for payment, the sum deducted will be that proportion of the 
aggregate amount of the Relevant Coupons (or, as the case may be, the amount of 
principal due for payment) which the gross amount actually available for payment bears 
to the amount of principal due for payment.

Each sum of principal so deducted shall be paid in the manner provided in Condition 12.1 (Principal) 
against presentation and (provided that payment is made in full) surrender of the relevant missing 
Coupons subject to Condition 18 (Prescription).

12.6 Unmatured Coupons void: If the relevant Final Terms specify that this Condition 12.6 is applicable or 
that the Floating Rate Note Provisions or the Index-Linked Interest Note Provisions are applicable (and, 
in the absence of specification, this Condition 12.6 shall apply to Notes which bear interest at a floating 
rate or rates or in variable amounts), on the due date for final redemption of any Note or early redemption 
in whole of such Note pursuant to Condition 11.2 (Early Redemption following a Tax Event or a Capital 
Event), Condition 11.3 (Redemption at the option of the Issuer), Condition 11.5 (Redemption at the 
option of Holder), Condition 16 (Events of Default) or Condition 17 (Enforcement Events), all unmatured 
Coupons relating thereto (whether or not still attached) shall become void and no payment will be made 
in respect thereof.

12.7 Payments on business days: If the due date for payment of any amount in respect of any Note or Coupon 
is not a Payment Business Day, the Holder shall not be entitled to payment of the amount due until the 
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next succeeding Payment Business Day and shall not be entitled to any further interest or other payment 
in respect of any such delay.

12.8 Payments other than in respect of matured Coupons: Payments of interest other than in respect of 
matured Coupons shall be made only against presentation of the relevant Notes at the Specified Office of 
any Paying Agent outside the United States (or in New York City if permitted by Condition 12.3
(Payments in New York City) above).

12.9 Partial payments: If a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Note or Coupon presented 
to it for payment, such Paying Agent will endorse thereon a statement indicating the amount and date of 
such payment.

12.10 Exchange of Talons: On or after the maturity date of the final Coupon which is (or was at the time of 
issue) part of a Coupon Sheet relating to the Notes, the Talon forming part of such Coupon Sheet may be 
exchanged at the Specified Office of the Paying Agent for a further Coupon Sheet (including, if 
appropriate, a further Talon but excluding any Coupons in respect of which claims have already become 
void pursuant to Condition 18 (Prescription)). Upon the due date for redemption of any Note, any 
unexchanged Talon relating to such Note shall become void and no Coupon will be delivered in respect 
of such Talon.

13. Payments – Registered Notes

13.1 Method of payment: Payments of principal shall be made only against presentation and (provided that 
payment is made in full) surrender of the relevant Registered Note at the Specified Office of the Registrar 
by transfer to the Designated Account (as defined below) of the Holder (or the first named of joint 
Holders) appearing in the register of Holders maintained by the Registrar (the “Register”) at the close of 
business on the third Relevant Banking Day before the relevant due date. Notwithstanding the previous 
sentence, if a Holder does not have a Designated Account, payment will instead be made by cheque 
drawn in the currency in which the payment is due on a Designated Bank (as defined below). For these 
purposes, “Designated Account” means the account denominated in that currency (or, if that currency is 
euro, any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) and maintained by the payee with a 
Designated Bank and identified as such in the Register and “Designated Bank” means a bank in the 
Applicable Financial Centre of that currency.

Payments of interest shall be made only by cheque drawn in the currency in which the payment is due on 
a Designated Bank and mailed by uninsured mail on the Relevant Banking Day immediately preceding 
the relevant due date to the Holder (or the first named of joint Holders) appearing in the Register at the 
close of business on the fifteenth day (whether or not such fifteenth day is a Relevant Banking Day) 
before the relevant due date (the “Record Date”) at his address shown in the Register on the Record Date 
and at his risk. Upon application of the Holder to the Specified Office of the Registrar not less than three 
Relevant Banking Days before the due date for any payment of interest in respect of a Registered Note, 
the payment may be made by transfer on the due date in the manner provided in the preceding paragraph. 
Any such application for transfer shall be deemed to relate to all future payments of interest (other than 
interest due on redemption) in respect of the Registered Notes which become payable to the Holder who 
has made the initial application until such time as the Registrar is notified in writing to the contrary by 
such Holder. Payment of the interest due in respect of each Registered Note on redemption will be made 
in the same manner as payment of the principal amount of such Registered Note.

Holders will not be entitled to any interest or other payment for any delay in receiving any amount due in 
respect of any Registered Note as a result of a cheque posted in accordance with this Condition arriving 
after the due date for payment or being lost in the post. No commissions or expenses shall be charged to 
such Holders by the Registrar in respect of any payments of principal or interest in respect of the 
Registered Notes.

13.2 Payments on business days: If the due date for payment of any amount in respect of any Registered Note 
is not a business day, the Holder shall not be entitled to payment of the amount due until the next 
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succeeding business day and shall not be entitled to any further interest or other payment in respect of any 
such delay.

13.3 Payments subject to fiscal laws: All payments in respect of the Registered Notes are subject in all cases to 
any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the 
provisions of Condition 15 (Taxation). No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Registered 
Holders in respect of such payments.

13.4 In this Condition, “business day” means a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange 
markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and 
foreign currency deposits) in (i) the relevant place of presentation and (ii) each Applicable Financial 
Centre specified in the relevant Final Terms and, if TARGET is an Applicable Financial Centre, a 
TARGET Settlement Day.

14. Payments – VP Systems Notes

14.1 Principal and interest: Payments of principal and interest in respect of VP Systems Notes shall be made 
to the Holders shown in the relevant records of the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case 
may be, in accordance with and subject to the rules and regulations from time to time governing the VP, 
VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be, by transfer to an account denominated in the 
currency in which the payment is due (or, if that currency is euro, any other account to which euro may 
be credited or transferred) and maintained by the payee with a bank in the Applicable Financial Centre of 
that currency.

14.2 Payments subject to fiscal laws: All payments in respect of the VP Systems Notes are subject in all cases 
to any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the 
provisions of Condition 15 (Taxation). No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Holders in 
respect of such payments.

14.3 Payments on VP Systems Notes payment days: If the due date for payment of any amount in respect of 
any VP System Note is not a VP Systems Notes payment day, the Holder shall not be entitled to payment 
of the amount due until the next succeeding VP Systems Notes payment day and shall not be entitled to 
any further interest or other payment in respect of any such delay.

14.4 In this Condition, “VP Systems Notes payment day” means day on which commercial banks and 
foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign 
exchange and foreign currency deposits) in each Applicable Financial Centre specified in the relevant 
Final Terms and, if TARGET is an Applicable Financial Centre, a TARGET Settlement Day.

15. Taxation

15.1 Gross up: All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes and the Coupons by or on behalf 
of the Issuer shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for or on account of, 
any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, 
levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of Denmark or any political subdivision therein or 
any authority or agency therein or thereof having power to tax, unless the withholding or deduction of 
such taxes, duties, assessments, or governmental charges is required by law. In that event, the Issuer shall 
pay such additional amounts as will result in receipt by the Holders after such withholding or deduction 
of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been 
required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable in relation to any payment in respect of 
any Note or Coupon:

(i) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a Holder which is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or 
governmental charges in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of it having some connection 
with Denmark other than:

(a) the mere holding of the Note or Coupon; or



63

(b) the receipt of principal, interest or other amount in respect of such Note or Coupon; or

(ii) presented for payment more than thirty days after the Relevant Date, except to the extent that the 
relevant Holder would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting the same for 
payment on or before the expiry of such period of thirty days; or

(iii) where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual and is required to 
be made pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other Directive 
implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27 November 2000 or any 
law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive; or

(iv) presented for payment by or on behalf of a Holder who would have been able to avoid such 
withholding or deduction by presenting the relevant Note or Coupon to another Paying Agent or 
Registrar in a Member State of the EU.

15.2 Taxing jurisdiction: If the Issuer becomes subject at any time to any taxing jurisdiction other than 
Denmark, references in these Conditions to Denmark shall be construed as references to Denmark and/or 
such other jurisdiction.

16. Events of Default

16.1 Applicability: This Condition 16 is applicable only in relation to Unsubordinated Notes.

16.2 Events of Default – Unsubordinated Notes: The following events or circumstances as modified by, and/or 
such other events as may be specified in, the relevant Final Terms (each an “Event of Default”) shall be 
acceleration events in relation to the Notes of any Series of Unsubordinated Notes, namely:

(i) the Issuer fails to pay any amount of principal or interest in respect of the Notes of the relevant 
Series or any of them on the due date for payment thereof and such default continues for a period 
of five days on which banks are open for business in Copenhagen after written notice has been 
given by the Fiscal Agent or the Holder of any such Note to the Issuer; or

(ii) the Issuer defaults in the performance or observance of any of its other obligations under or in 
respect of the Notes of the relevant Series and (except in any case where such default is 
incapable of remedy when no such continuation or notice, as is hereinafter mentioned, will be 
required) such default remains unremedied for thirty days after written notice requiring such 
default to be remedied has been received by the Issuer from the Fiscal Agent or the Holder of 
any such Note; or

(iii) a distress, execution, seizure before judgment or other legal process is levied or enforced or sued 
out upon or against any part of the property, assets or revenues of the Issuer which is material in 
its effect upon the operation of the Issuer and is not discharged or stayed within sixty days of 
having been so levied, enforced or sued out; or

(iv) (A) an application for the commencement of bankruptcy against the assets of the Issuer is filed 
and the application has been filed by or on behalf of the Issuer, or (B) a third party has filed an 
application for the commencement of bankruptcy against the assets of the Issuer and (the earlier 
of) either (1) the DFSA advises the competent court to open up bankruptcy proceedings, or (2) 
the competent court opens bankruptcy proceedings against the assets of the Issuer, or (C) under 
Section 233 of the Danish Financial Business Act, the DFSA permits liquidators of the Issuer 
appointed pursuant to Sections 227 or 228 of the Danish Financial Business Act to file a petition 
for bankruptcy under and pursuant to Section 17 of the Bankruptcy Act in relation to the Issuer, 
or (D) under Sections 233 or 234 of the Danish Financial Business Act, the DFSA files a petition 
for bankruptcy under and pursuant to Section 17 of the Bankruptcy Act in relation to the Issuer; 
or
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(v) under Section 238 of the Danish Financial Business Act, the DFSA files a petition for the 
suspension of payments of the Issuer.

16.3 Acceleration: If any Event of Default shall occur in relation to any Series of Notes, any Holder of a Note 
of the relevant Series may, by written notice to the Issuer (effective upon receipt), at the Specified Office 
of the Fiscal Agent, declare that such Note and (if the Note is interest-bearing) together with all interest 
(if any) accrued thereon shall be forthwith due and payable, whereupon the same shall become 
immediately due and payable at its Early Termination Amount, together with all interest (if any) accrued 
thereon without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which the Issuer will 
expressly waive, anything contained in such Notes to the contrary notwithstanding, unless, prior thereto, 
all Events of Default in respect of the Notes of the relevant Series shall have been cured.

17. Enforcement Events

17.1 Applicability: This Condition 17 is applicable only in relation to Subordinated Notes and Hybrid Tier 1 
Capital Notes.

17.2 Enforcement Events: The following events or circumstances as modified by, and/or such other events as 
may be specified, in the relevant Final Terms (each an “Enforcement Event”) shall be enforcement 
events in relation to the Notes of any Series of Subordinated Notes and Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, 
namely:

(i) subject to Condition 10 (Reduction of Amounts of Principal and Unpaid Interest), if the Issuer 
shall fail to meet its payment obligations under the Notes, other than in accordance with the
provisions of Condition 9 (Interest Deferral) and such payment obligations are not met within 
seven business days (as defined in Condition 13.4) after the Issuer has received notice thereof, 
any Holder of the Notes may, at its own discretion and without further notice, institute 
proceedings in Denmark in order to recover the amounts due from the Issuer to such Holder of 
the Notes, provided that a Holder of the Notes may not at any time file for bankruptcy of the 
Issuer. Any Holder of the Notes may, at its discretion and without further notice, institute such 
proceedings against the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce any obligation, condition or provision 
binding on the Issuer under the Notes, provided that the Issuer shall not by virtue of the 
institution of any proceedings be obliged to pay any sum or sums sooner than the same would 
otherwise have been payable by it; and

(ii) if an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the liquidation or bankruptcy of the 
Issuer, then the Notes shall become due and payable at their Early Termination Amount (or such 
other redemption amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with the 
provisions of, the relevant Final Terms) together with interest (if any) accrued to such date, any 
Arrears of Interest or Hybrid Capital Arrears of Interest, as the case may be, and all 
corresponding Additional Interest Amounts or Hybrid Capital Additional Interest Amounts, as 
the case may be, but excluding any interest which has been cancelled.

According to Section 234(2) of the Danish Financial Business Act, notwithstanding Section 17(2) of the 
Danish Bankruptcy Act, if the Issuer cannot meet its obligations regarding the Subordinated Notes or 
Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes, the Issuer is not considered insolvent. According to Section 17(2) of the 
Danish Bankruptcy Act, a debtor is insolvent, if it cannot meet its obligations as and when they fall due, 
unless the inability to meet such obligations may be considered to be temporary.

If proceedings with respect to the liquidation or bankruptcy of the Issuer should occur, the Holders of the 
Subordinated Notes or Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes would be required to pursue their claims on the 
Subordinated Notes or Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes in proceedings with respect to the Issuer in Denmark. 
In addition, to the extent that the Holders of the Subordinated Notes or Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes are 
entitled to any recovery with respect to the Subordinated Notes or Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes in any 
such Danish bankruptcy proceedings, such Holders of the Subordinated Notes or Hybrid Tier 1 Capital 
Notes would be entitled to a recovery in Danish Kroner or, as the case may be, other currencies, which
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would be based on the relevant conversion rate in effect on the date the Issuer entered into such 
liquidation or bankruptcy proceedings.

18. Prescription

Claims for principal shall become void unless the relevant Notes are presented for payment within ten 
years of the appropriate Relevant Date. Claims for interest shall become void unless the relevant Coupons 
are presented for payment within five years of the appropriate Relevant Date.

19. Replacement of Notes and Coupons

If any Note or Coupon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the Specified 
Office of the Fiscal Agent or the Registrar (and, if the Notes are then admitted to listing, trading and/or 
quotation by any listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system which requires the 
appointment of a Paying Agent or Registrar in any particular place, the Paying Agent or Registrar having 
its Specified Office in the place required by such listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation 
system), subject to all applicable laws and listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system 
requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with such 
replacement and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer may 
reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes or Coupons must be surrendered before replacements will 
be issued.

20. Agents

20.1 Obligations of Agents: In acting under the Agency Agreement or the VP Systems Agency Agreement and 
in connection with the Notes and the Coupons, the Paying Agents, the Calculation Agent, the Registrars 
and the VP Systems Agent act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligations towards or 
relationship of agency or trust for or with any of the Holders or Couponholders, and each of them shall 
only be responsible for the performance of the duties and obligations expressly imposed upon it in the 
Agency Agreement, the VP Systems Agency Agreement or other agreement entered into with respect of 
its appointment or incidental thereto.

20.2 Termination of Appointments: The initial Paying Agents, the Registrars and the VP Systems Agent and 
their initial Specified Offices are listed in the Agency Agreement or the VP Systems Agency Agreement, 
as applicable. Unless the Calculation Agent is the Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent in respect of any 
Notes shall be specified in the relevant Final Terms. The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or 
terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent (including the Fiscal Agent) or the Registrar or the VP 
Systems Agent or the Calculation Agent and to appoint an additional or successor fiscal agent, paying 
agent, calculation agent, registrar or agent in connection with the VP Systems Notes; provided, however, 
that:

(i) the Issuer shall at all times maintain a Fiscal Agent;

(ii) the Issuer shall at all times maintain, in the case of Registered Notes, a Registrar;

(iii) the Issuer shall at all times maintain a Paying Agent (which may be the Fiscal Agent) with a 
Specified Office in a continental European city;

(iv) if a Calculation Agent is specified in the relevant Final Terms, the Issuer shall at all times 
maintain a Calculation Agent with a Specified Office located in such place as may be required by 
the Conditions;

(v) if and for so long as the Notes are admitted to listing and/or to trading and/or quotation on any 
listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system which requires the appointment of a 
Paying Agent in any particular place, the Issuer shall maintain a Paying Agent (which may be the 
Fiscal Agent) and a Registrar (for Registered Notes) each with a Specified Office in the place 
required by such listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system;
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(vi) in the case of VP Systems Notes, the Issuer shall at all times maintain a VP Systems Agent 
authorised to act as an account holding institution with the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear 
Sweden, as the case may be, and one or more Calculation Agent(s) where the Terms and 
Conditions of the relevant VP Systems Notes so require; and

(vii) in the circumstances described in Condition 12.3 (Payments in New York City), a Paying Agent 
with a Specified Office in New York City.

20.3 Change of Specified Offices: The Paying Agents, the Registrars, the VP Systems Agent and the 
Calculation Agent reserve the right at any time to change their respective Specified Offices to some other 
Specified Office in the same city. Notice of any change in the identities or Specified Offices of any 
Paying Agent, Registrar, the VP Systems Agent or the Calculation Agent shall promptly be given to the 
Holders in accordance with Condition 23 (Notices).

21. Meetings of Holders; Modification and Waiver

21.1 Meetings of Holders of Notes other than VP Systems Notes: This Condition 21.1 is applicable only in 
relation to Notes other than VP Systems Notes. The Agency Agreement contains provisions (which 
shall have effect as if incorporated herein) for convening meetings of Holders of Notes of any Series 
(other than VP Systems Notes) to consider matters relating to such Series of Notes, including (without 
limitation) the modification by Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Agency Agreement) of any 
provision of these Conditions and the Deed of Covenant insofar as the same may apply to such Notes. 
Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed at any such meeting of Holders of Notes of any Series will be 
binding on all Holders of Notes of such Series, whether present or not at the meeting and on all Holders 
of Coupons relating to Notes of such Series.

In addition, a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of all Holders who for the time being are 
entitled to receive notice of a meeting of Holders of Notes will take effect as if it were an Extraordinary 
Resolution. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several documents in the 
same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more Holders of Notes.

21.2 Modification of Notes other than VP Systems Notes: This Condition 21.2 is applicable only in relation 
to Notes other than VP Systems Notes.The Issuer may, with the consent of the Fiscal Agent, amend the 
Notes, these Conditions and the Deed of Covenant without the consent of the Holders or Couponholders 
to correct a manifest error. Subject as aforesaid, no other modification may be made to these Conditions 
or the Deed of Covenant except with the sanction of an Extraordinary Resolution.

21.3 Meeting of VP Systems Noteholders: This Condition 21.3 is applicable only in relation to VP Systems 
Notes. Meetings of Holders of VP Systems Notes shall be held in compliance with the relevant 
regulations of the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be. 

21.4 Modification of VP Systems Notes: This Condition 21.4 is applicable only in relation to VP Systems 
Notes. The Issuer may amend the Notes and these Conditions without the consent of the Holders to 
correct a manifest error. Subject as aforesaid, no other modification may be made to these Conditions 
except as provided below.

In addition, the Notes and these Conditions may be modified by a resolution in writing signed by or on 
behalf of all Holders or pursuant to a meeting of VP Systems Noteholders in accordance with Condition 
21.3 above.

21.5 Amendments to Guaranteed Notes: Any amendment to, or variation, waiver, or release of any obligation 
of the Issuer in respect of any Series of Guaranteed Notes, however fundamental, shall require the prior 
written consent of the Guarantor.

22. Further Issues
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The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of the Holders or the Couponholders, create and 
issue further Notes having the same Terms and Conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects 
except for the first payment of interest, if any, on them, the issue price and/or the denomination(s) 
thereof) so as to form a single series with the Notes.

23. Notices

23.1 Bearer Notes: Notices to Holders of Bearer Notes will, save where another means of effective 
communication has been specified herein or in the relevant Final Terms, be deemed to be validly given if 
published in a leading English language daily newspaper having general circulation in Europe or, if such 
Notes are listed on the Official List and admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg 
Stock Exchange (so long as such Notes are listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange 
and the rules of that exchange so permit), if published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange 
(www.bourse.lu).

The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly published in a manner which complies with the rules of 
any stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the Bearer Notes are for the time being listed or 
by which they have been admitted to trading.

Any notice so given will be deemed to have been validly given, in the case of any Bearer Notes, on the 
date of first such publication (or, if required to be published in more than one newspaper, on the first date 
on which publication shall have been made in all the required newspapers). Couponholders will be 
deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to Holders of Bearer Notes in 
accordance with this Condition.

Notwithstanding Condition 23 (Notices), while all the Notes are represented by one or more Global 
Notes and such Global Note(s) are held in their entirety on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system, notices to Holders may be given by delivery of 
the relevant notice to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing 
system for communication by them to the persons shown in their respective records as having interests 
therein and, in any case, such notices shall be deemed to have been given to the Holders in accordance 
with Condition 23 (Notices) on the date of delivery to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or 
any other relevant clearing system.

23.2 Registered Notes: Notices to Holders of Registered Notes will, save where another means of effective 
communication has been specified herein or in the relevant Final Terms, be deemed to be validly given if 
sent by first class mail (or equivalent) or (if posted to an overseas address) by air mail to them (or, in the 
case of joint Holders, to the first-named in the register kept by the Registrar) at their respective addresses 
as recorded in the register kept by the Registrar, and will be deemed to have been validly given on the 
fourth weekday after the date of such mailing or, if posted from another country, on the fifth such day 
and, if such Notes are listed on the Official List and admitted to trading on the regulated market of the 
Luxembourg Stock Exchange (so long as such Notes are listed on the Official List of the Luxembourg 
Stock Exchange and the rules of that exchange so permit), if published on the website of the Luxembourg 
Stock Exchange (www.bourse.lu).

The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly published in a manner which complies with the rules of 
any stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the Registered Notes are for the time being listed 
or by which they have been admitted to trading.

Notwithstanding Condition 23 (Notices), while all the Notes are represented by one or more Global 
Notes and such Global Note(s) are held in their entirety on behalf of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg and/or DTC and/or any other relevant clearing system, notices to Holders may be given by 
delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC and/or any 
other relevant clearing system for communication by them to the persons shown in their respective 
records as having interests therein and, in any case, such notices shall be deemed to have been given to 

www.bourse.lu
www.bourse.lu
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the Holders in accordance with Condition 23 (Notices) on the date of delivery to Euroclear and/or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC and/or any other relevant clearing system.

23.3 VP Systems Notes: Notices to Holders of VP Systems Notes shall be given (i) in accordance with the 
procedures of the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be, and (ii) in a manner which 
complies with the rules of any stock exchange or other relevant authority on which the relevant VP 
Systems Notes are for the time being listed or by which they have been admitted to trading.

24. Currency Indemnity

The currency in which the Notes are denominated or, if different, payable, as specified in the relevant 
Final Terms (the “Contractual Currency”), is the sole currency of account and payment for all sums 
payable by the Issuer in respect of the Notes, including damages. Any amount received or recovered in a 
currency other than the Contractual Currency (whether as a result of, or of the enforcement of, a 
judgment or order of a court of any jurisdiction or otherwise) by any Holder in respect of any sum 
expressed to be due to it from the Issuer shall only constitute a discharge to the Issuer to the extent of the 
amount of the Contractual Currency which such Holder is able to purchase with the amount so received 
or recovered in that other currency on the date of that receipt or recovery (or, if it is not practicable to 
make that purchase on that date, on the first date on which it is practicable to do so). If that amount is less 
than the amount of the Contractual Currency expressed to be due to any Holder in respect of such Note or 
Coupon the Issuer shall indemnify such Holder against any loss sustained by such Holder as a result. In 
any event, the Issuer shall indemnify each such Holder against any cost of making such purchase which is 
reasonably incurred. These indemnities constitute a separate and independent obligation from the Issuer’s 
other obligations, shall give rise to a separate and independent cause of action, shall apply irrespective of 
any indulgence granted by any Holder and shall continue in full force and effect despite any judgment, 
order, claim or proof for a liquidated amount in respect of any sum due in respect of the Notes or any 
judgment or order. Any such loss as aforesaid shall be deemed to constitute a loss suffered by the relevant 
Holder and no proof or evidence of any actual loss will be required by the Issuer.

25. Rounding

For the purposes of any calculations referred to in these Conditions (unless otherwise specified in these 
Conditions or the relevant Final Terms):

(i) all percentages resulting from such calculations will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one 
hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded up to 0.00001 
per cent.);

(ii) all United States dollar amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded to 
the nearest cent (with one half cent being rounded up);

(iii) all Japanese Yen amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded downwards 
to the next lower whole Japanese Yen amount; and

(iv) all amounts denominated in any other currency used in or resulting from such calculations will 
be rounded to the nearest two decimal places in such currency, with 0.005 being rounded 
upwards.

26. Waiver and Remedies

No failure to exercise, and no delay in exercising, on the part of the Holder of any Note, any right in these 
Conditions shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any 
other or future exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right. Rights hereunder shall be in addition to 
all other rights provided by law. No notice or demand given in any case shall constitute a waiver of rights 
to take other action in the same, similar or other instances without such notice or demand.

27. Governing Law and Jurisdiction
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27.1 Governing Law: The Notes, the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant, and any non-contractual 
obligations arising therefrom or in connection therewith, shall be governed by, and construed in 
accordance with, English law, except for Condition 5.2 (Status – Subordinated Notes), Condition 5.3
(Status – Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes), Condition 9 (Interest Deferral), Condition 10 (Reduction of
Amounts of Principal and Unpaid Interest), Condition 11.2 (Early Redemption following a Tax Event or 
a Capital Event), Condition 17 (Enforcement Events), the registration of Notes in the VP and the 
dematerialisation of Notes in the VP Lux, which shall be governed by, and shall be construed in 
accordance with, Danish law. In the case of the registration of Notes in the VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear 
Sweden, such registration shall be governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, Luxembourg 
law, Norwegian law and Swedish law, respectively.

27.2 English courts: The courts of England have jurisdiction to settle any dispute (a “Dispute”) arising from 
or connected with the Notes (including any Dispute relating to any non-contractual obligations arising 
from or connected with the Notes).

27.3 Appropriate forum: The Issuer agrees that the courts of England are the most appropriate and convenient 
courts to settle any Dispute and, accordingly, that it will not argue to the contrary.

27.4 Rights of the Holders to take proceedings outside England: Condition 27.2 (English courts) is for the 
benefit of the Holders only. As a result, nothing in this Condition 27 prevents any Holder from taking 
proceedings relating to a Dispute (“Proceedings”) in any other courts with jurisdiction. To the extent 
allowed by law, any Holder may take concurrent Proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.

27.5 Service of process: The Issuer agrees that the documents which start any Proceedings and any other 
documents required to be served in relation to those Proceedings may be served on it by being delivered 
to the Issuer at 75 King William Street, London EC4N 7DT or at any address of the Issuer in Great 
Britain at which service of process may be served on it in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. 
Nothing in this paragraph shall affect the right of any Holder to serve process in any other manner 
permitted by law. This Condition applies to Proceedings in England and to Proceedings elsewhere.

28. Rights of Third Parties

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or Condition in respect of a Note under the Contracts 
(Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.
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PRO FORMA FINAL TERMS

Pro Forma Final Terms for an issue by Danske Bank A/S under the EUR 60,000,000,000 Euro Medium 
Term Note Programme.

The Final Terms in respect of each Tranche of Notes will be substantially in the following form, duly 
supplemented (if necessary), amended (if necessary) and completed to reflect the particular terms of the relevant 
Notes and their issue. Text in this section appearing in italics does not form part of the form of the Final Terms 
but denotes directions for completing the Final Terms.

FINAL TERMS DATED [l]

Series No. [l] Tranche No. [l]

DANSKE BANK A/S

EUR 60,000,000,000

Euro Medium Term Note Programme

Issue of

[Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]

[The Base Prospectus referred to below (as completed by these Final Terms) has been prepared on the 
basis that, except as provided in sub-paragraph (ii) below, any offer of Notes in any Member State of the 
European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus Directive (2003/71/EC) (each, a “Relevant 
Member State”) will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that 
Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of the Notes. Accordingly any 
person making or intending to make an offer of the Notes may only do so:

(i) in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any Dealer to publish a 
prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant 
to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer; or

(ii) in those Public Offer Jurisdictions mentioned in item [37] of Part A below, provided such person 
is one of the persons mentioned in item [37] of Part A below and that such offer is made during 
the Offer Period specified for such purpose therein.

Neither the Issuer nor any Dealer has authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes 
in any other circumstances.] [N.B. Consider including this legend where a non-exempt offer of Notes is 
anticipated.]

[The Base Prospectus referred to below (as completed by these Final Terms) has been prepared on the 
basis that any offer of Notes in any Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the 
Prospectus Directive (2003/71/EC) (each, a “Relevant Member State”) will be made pursuant to an exemption 
under the Prospectus Directive, as implemented in that Relevant Member State, from the requirement to publish a 
prospectus for offers of the Notes. Accordingly any person making or intending to make an offer in that Relevant 
Member State of the Notes may only do so in circumstances in which no obligation arises for the Issuer or any 
Dealer to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus 
pursuant to Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive, in each case, in relation to such offer. Neither the Issuer nor 
any Dealer has authorised, nor do they authorise, the making of any offer of Notes in any other circumstances.] 
[N.B. Consider including this legend where only an exempt offer of Notes is anticipated.]

PART A – CONTRACTUAL TERMS
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Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Terms and Conditions 
(the “Conditions”) set forth in the Base Prospectus dated 25 March 2010 [and the Prospectus Supplement No. [l] 
dated [l]] which [together] constitute[s] a base prospectus (the “Base Prospectus”) for the purposes of the 
Prospectus Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC) (the “Prospectus Directive”). This document constitutes the Final 
Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the Prospectus Directive and must be read 
in conjunction with such Base Prospectus. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only 
available on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the Base Prospectus. The Base Prospectus is 
available for viewing at and copies may be obtained from the Specified Offices of the Paying Agents.

The following alternative language applies if the first Tranche of an issue which is being increased was 
issued under a Base Prospectus with an earlier date.

Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Terms and Conditions 
(the “Conditions”) set forth in the [Information Memorandum/Base Prospectus] dated [original date]. This 
document constitutes the Final Terms of the Notes described herein for the purposes of Article 5.4 of the 
Prospectus Directive (Directive 2003/71/EC) (the “Prospectus Directive”) and must be read in conjunction with 
the Base Prospectus dated 25 March 2010 [and the Prospectus Supplement No. [l] dated [l]], which [together] 
constitute[s] a base prospectus (the “Base Prospectus”) for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive, save in 
respect of the Conditions which are extracted from the [Information Memorandum/Base Prospectus] dated 
[original date] and are attached hereto. Full information on the Issuer and the offer of the Notes is only available 
on the basis of the combination of these Final Terms and the [Information Memorandum/Base Prospectus] dated 
[original date] and the Base Prospectus. The [Information Memorandum/Base Prospectus] dated [original date] 
and the Base Prospectus are available for viewing at and copies may be obtained from the Specified Offices of the 
Paying Agents.

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as “Not Applicable” (N/A). Note that the numbering 
should remain as set out below, even if “Not Applicable” is indicated for individual paragraphs or 
subparagraphs. Italics denote guidance for completing the Final Terms.]

[When completing any final terms, or adding any other final terms or information, consideration should 
be given as to whether such terms or information constitute “significant new factors” and consequently trigger 
the need for a supplement to the Base Prospectus under Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.]

[Holders of the Notes will constitute unsecured creditors against Danske Bank A/S and as such will be 
covered by the Kingdom of Denmark guarantee scheme until 30 September 2010 as outlined in the Act on 
Financial Stability (Act No. 1003 of 10 October 2008, as amended) which took effect as of 5 October 2008.]∗

1. [(i)] Issuer: Danske Bank A/S 

[(ii)] [Guaranteed Notes: Yes. The Notes will have the benefit of an irrevocable 
guarantee from the Kingdom of Denmark, acting through 
Finansiel Stabilitet A/S (the “Guarantor”) pursuant to a 
Programme guarantee dated [l] (the “Programme 
Guarantee”) issued by the Guarantor pursuant to a 
transition scheme which came into force on 4 February 
2009.]

2. (i) Series Number: [l] 

(ii) Tranche Number: [l] 

[(If fungible with an existing Series, details 
of that Series, including the date on which 
the Notes become fungible).]

  
∗ Include if the Notes are Unsubordinated Notes which have the benefit of the Guarantee Scheme.
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3. Specified Currency or Currencies: [l] 

4. Aggregate Nominal Amount: [[l]] 

[(i)] Series: [l] 

[(ii)] Tranche: [l]] 

5. Issue Price: [l] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus 
[amount] accrued interest from [insert date] (if 
applicable)] 

6. (i) Specified Denomination(s): [Notes which may be listed on the Official List and 
admitted to trading on the regulated market of the 
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and/or admitted to listing, 
trading and/or quotation by any other listing authority, 
stock exchange and/or quotation system situated or 
operating in a member state of the European Union may 
not (a) have a minimum denomination of less than EUR 
1,000 (or nearly equivalent in another currency) except 
that in the case of any Notes to be sold in the United 
States to QIBs, the minimum specified denomination 
shall be USD 100,000 or at least its equivalent in any 
other currency and integral multiples of USD 1,000, or 
(b) carry the right to acquire shares (or transferable 
securities equivalent to shares) issued by the Issuer or by 
any entity to whose group the Issuer belongs. Subject 
thereto, Notes will be issued in such denominations as 
may be specified in the relevant Final Terms, subject to 
compliance with all applicable legal and/or regulatory 
and/or central bank requirements.] 

[In the case of specified denominations of EUR 50,000 
and integral multiples of EUR 1,000 in excess thereof, 
insert the following:

“EUR 50,000 and integral multiples of EUR 1,000 in 
excess thereof up to and including EUR 99,000. No 
Definitive Notes will be issued with a denomination 
above EUR 99,000.”] 

[l] 

(ii) Calculation Amount: [l] 

(If only one Specified Denomination, insert the Specified 
Denomination. 

If more than one Specified Denomination, insert the 
highest common factor. Note: There must be a common 
factor in the case of two or more Specified 
Denominations.) 

7. (i) Issue Date: [l] 

(ii) Interest Commencement Date: [l] 
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8. Maturity Date: [specify date] [subject to adjustment in accordance with 
the Business Day Convention specified in item 
[16(iii)]/[18(viii)] below] [(N.B. include adjustment 
wording for Floating Rate Notes and Index-Linked 
Interest Notes)]

9. Interest Basis: [[l] per cent. Fixed Rate]
[[specify reference rate] +/- [l] per cent. Floating Rate]
[Zero Coupon]
[Index-Linked Interest]
[Other (specify)]
(further particulars specified below) 

10. Redemption/Payment Basis: [Redemption at par]
[Index-Linked Redemption]
[Dual Currency]
[Partly Paid]
[Instalment] 
[Other (specify)] 

(N.B. If the Final Redemption Amount is more or less 
than 100 per cent. of the nominal value, the Notes will be 
derivative securities for the purposes of the Prospectus 
Directive and the requirements of Annex XII to the 
Prospectus Directive Regulation will apply [and a Base 
Prospectus Supplement will be prepared]. [This pro 
forma has been annotated to indicate where the key 
additional requirements of Annex XII are dealt with.]) 

11. Change of Interest or Redemption/ Payment 
Basis: 

[Not Applicable/or specify details of any provision for 
convertibility of Notes into another interest or 
redemption/payment basis] 

12. Put/Call Options: [Call Option/
Put Option/Not Applicable]
[(further particulars specified below)]

13. [(i)] Status of the Notes: [Subordinated/Unsubordinated/Hybrid Tier 1 Capital] 

[(ii)] [Date [Board] approval for issuance 
of Notes obtained:

[l]

[(N.B. Only relevant where Board (or similar) 
authorisation is required for the particular Tranche of 
Notes)]

14. Method of distribution: [Syndicated/Non-syndicated] 

PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

15. Fixed Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs 
of this paragraph) 

(i) Rate[(s)] of Interest: [l] per cent. per annum [payable [annually/ 
semi-annually/quarterly/monthly] in arrear] 
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(ii) Interest Payment Date(s): [l] in each year

(iii) Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]: [l] per Calculation Amount 

(iv) Broken Amount(s): [Insert particulars of any initial or final broken interest 
amounts which do not correspond with the Fixed Coupon 
Amount[(s)]] 

(v) Day Count Fraction: [30/360 / Actual/Actual ([ICMA]/[ISDA])/ other] 

(vi) Other terms relating to the method 
of calculating interest for Fixed Rate 
Notes:

[Not Applicable/give details] 

16. Floating Rate Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs 
of this paragraph)

(i) Specified Period: [l] 
(Specified Period and Interest Payment Dates are 
alternatives. A Specified Period, rather than Interest 
Payment Dates, will only be relevant if the Business Day 
Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate 
Convention or Eurodollar Convention. Otherwise, insert 
“Not Applicable”)

(ii) Interest Payment Dates: [l]
(Specified Period and Interest Payment Dates are 
alternatives. If the Business Day Convention is the FRN 
Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar 
Convention, insert “Not Applicable”)

(iii) Business Day Convention: [Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day 
Convention/Modified Following Business Day 
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/ other 
(give details)] 

(iv) Applicable Business Centre(s): [insert Applicable Business Centres] 

(v) Manner in which the Rate(s) of 
Interest is/are to be determined:

[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination/ other 
(give details)] 

(vi) Party responsible for calculating 
the Rate(s) of Interest and Interest 
Amount(s):

[l]

(vii) Screen Rate Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs 
of this paragraph)

- Reference Rate: [l]

- Interest Determination 
Date(s): 

[l]

- Relevant Screen Page: [l]
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- Relevant Time: [l]

- Relevant Financial Centre: [l]

- Reference Banks: [l]

(viii) ISDA Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs 
of this paragraph)

- Floating Rate Option: [l]

- Designated Maturity: [l]

- Reset Date: [l]

(ix) Margin(s): [+/-][l] per cent. per annum 

(x) Minimum Rate of Interest: [l] per cent. per annum

(xi) Maximum Rate of Interest: [l] per cent. per annum

(xii) Day Count Fraction: [l]

(xiii) Fall back provisions, rounding 
provisions, denominator and any 
other terms relating to the method 
of calculating interest on Floating 
Rate Notes, if different from those 
set out in the Conditions: 

[l]

17. Zero Coupon Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs 
of this paragraph)

(i) Accrual Yield: [l] per cent. per annum

(ii) Reference Price: [l]

(iii) Any other formula/basis of 
determining amount payable:

[l]

18. Index-Linked Interest Note/other 
variable-linked interest Note Provisions

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of 
this paragraph)

(i) Index/Formula/other variable: [give or annex details]

(ii) Calculation Agent responsible for 
calculating the interest due:

[give name and address if not the Fiscal Agent]

(iii) Provisions for determining Coupon 
where calculated by reference to 
Index and/or Formula and/or other 
variable:

[l]

(iv) Interest Determination Date(s): [l]
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(v) Provisions for determining Coupon 
where calculated by reference to 
Index and/or Formula and/or other 
variable is impossible or 
impracticable or otherwise 
disrupted:

[l]

(vi) Interest or calculation period(s): [l]

(vii) Interest Payment Dates: [l]

(viii) Business Day Convention: [Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day 
Convention/Modified Following Business Day 
Convention/Preceding Business Day Convention/ other 
(give details)]

(ix) Applicable Business Centre(s): [l]

(x) Minimum Rate/Amount of Interest: [l] per cent. per annum

(xi) Maximum Rate/Amount of Interest: [l] per cent. per annum

(xii) Day Count Fraction: [l]

19. Dual Currency Note Provisions [Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of 
this paragraph)

(i) Rate of Exchange/method of 
calculating Rate of Exchange:

[give details]

(ii) Calculation Agent, if any, 
responsible for calculating the 
principal and/or interest due:

[give name and address if not the Fiscal Agent]

(iii) Provisions applicable where 
calculation by reference to Rate of 
Exchange impossible or 
impracticable:

[l]

(iv) Person at whose option Specified 
Currency(ies) is/are payable:

[l]

PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

20. Call Option [Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of 
this paragraph)

(i) Optional Redemption Date(s) (Call): [l]

(ii) Optional Redemption Amount (Call) 
and method, if any, of calculation of 
such amount(s):

[l] per Calculation Amount

(iii) If redeemable in part:

(a) Minimum Redemption [l]
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Amount:

(b) Maximum Redemption 
Amount:

[l]

(iv) Notice period: [l] [Specify if the Notice Period in Condition 11.3 is 
amended]

21. Put Option [Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of 
this paragraph)

(i) Optional Redemption Date(s) (Put): [l]

(ii) Optional Redemption Amount (Put) 
and method, if any, of calculation of 
such amount(s):

[l] per Calculation Amount

(iii) Notice period: [l]

22. Final Redemption Amount [[l] per Calculation Amount/other/see Appendix]

In cases where the Final Redemption 
Amount is Index-Linked or other variable-
linked:

[Applicable/Not Applicable]
(If not applicable, delete the remaining subparagraphs of 
this paragraph)

(i) Index/Formula/variable: [give or annex details]

(ii) Calculation Agent responsible for 
calculating the Final Redemption 
Amount:

[give name and address if not the Fiscal Agent]

(iii) Provisions for determining Final 
Redemption Amount where 
calculated by reference to Index 
and/or Formula and/or other 
variable:

[l]

(iv) Determination Date(s): [l]

(v) Provisions for determining Final 
Redemption Amount where 
calculation by reference to Index 
and/or Formula and/or other 
variable is impossible or 
impracticable or otherwise 
disrupted:

[l]

(vi) Payment Date: [l]

(vii) Minimum Redemption Amount: [l]

(viii) Maximum Redemption Amount: [l]

23. [Hybrid Capital] Early Redemption 
Amount [(Tax)] and Early Termination 
Amount



78

[Hybrid Capital] Early Redemption Amount 
[(Tax)] or Early Termination Amount on 
event of default or other early redemption 
and/or the method of calculating the same 
(if required or if different from that set out 
in the Conditions):

[As set out in the Conditions/specify]

[Comparable Security1: [l]]

[Special Margin2: [l]]

GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

24. Form of Notes: [Bearer Notes:] [Initially represented by a 
[Temporary/Permanent] Global Note] [Specify. If nothing 
is specified and these Final Terms do not specify that 
TEFRA C Rules apply, the Notes will be represented 
initially by a Temporary Global Note. If these Final 
Terms specify that TEFRA C Rules apply, the Notes will 
be represented by a Permanent Global Note.]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent 
Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Notes 
on [l] days’ notice/at any time/in the limited 
circumstances described in the Permanent Global Note]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive 
Notes]

[Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive 
Notes on [l] days’ notice/at any time/in the limited 
circumstances described in the Permanent Global Note] 

(N.B. In the case of Bearer Notes, the exchange upon 
notice/at any time options as specified above and in the 
Conditions should not be expressed to be applicable if 
the Specified Denomination of the Notes in item 6 
includes language substantially to the following effect: 
“[EUR 50,000 and integral multiples of EUR 1,000 in 
excess thereof and up to and including EUR 99,000].”) 

[Registered Notes:] [Regulation S/Rule 144A] Global 
Note[s]

Global Registered Note exchangeable for Registered 
Notes on [l] days’ notice/at any time/in the limited 
circumstances described in the Global Registered Note]

[VP Systems Notes issued in uncertificated and 
dematerialised book entry form. See further item [9] of 
Part B below.]

25. If issued in Registered Form, Registrar: [Name and Specified Office]

  
1 Applicable to Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes; delete if not applicable.
2 Applicable to Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes; delete if not applicable.
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26. New Global Note Form: [Applicable/Not Applicable] 

27. Applicable Financial Centre(s) or other 
special provisions relating to Payment 
Business Days, business days or VP 
Systems Notes payment days, as applicable:

[Give details. See definition of Payment Business Day, 
business day or VP Systems Notes payment day, as 
applicable, in the Conditions. Note that this item relates 
to the date and place of payment, and not to Interest 
Payment Dates]

28. Talons for future Coupons to be attached to 
Definitive Notes (and dates on which such 
Talons mature):

[Yes/No. If yes, give details]

29. Details relating to Partly Paid Notes: 
amount of each payment comprising the 
Issue Price and date on which each payment 
is to be made: 

[Not Applicable/give details] 

30. Details relating to Instalment Notes: amount 
of each instalment, date on which each 
payment is to be made:

[Not Applicable/give details] 

31. Receipts to be attached to Instalment Notes 
which are Definitive Notes:

[Yes/No]

32. Other final terms: [Not Applicable/give details]

(When adding any other final terms consideration should 
be given as to whether such terms constitute “significant 
new factors” and consequently trigger the need for a 
supplement to the Base Prospectus under Article 16 of 
the Prospectus Directive.)

DISTRIBUTION

33. (i) If syndicated, names and addresses 
of Managers and underwriting 
commitments:

[Not Applicable/give names, addresses and underwriting 
commitments]

(Include names and addresses of entities agreeing to 
underwrite the issue on a firm commitment basis and 
names and addresses of the entities agreeing to place the 
issue without a firm commitment or on a “best efforts” 
basis if such entities are not the same as the Managers.) 

(ii) Date of Subscription Agreement: [l]

(iii) Stabilising Manager(s) (if any): [Not Applicable/give name] 

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, 
[name of stabilising manager(s)] (the “Stabilising 
Manager”) (or persons acting on behalf of the 
Stabilising Manager) may over allot Notes or effect 
transactions with a view to supporting the price of the 
Notes at a level higher than that which might 
otherwise prevail. However, there is no assurance that 
the Stabilising Manager (or persons acting on behalf 
of the Stabilising Manager) will undertake 
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stabilisation action. Any stabilisation action may 
begin at any time after the adequate public disclosure 
of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of 
Notes and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it 
must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the 
issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 
days after the date of the allotment of the relevant 
Tranche of Notes. Such stabilising or over allotment 
shall be conducted in accordance with all applicable 
laws, regulations and rules. 

34. If non-syndicated, name and address of 
Dealer:

[Not Applicable/give name and address]

35. Total commission and concession: [l] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount 

36. Additional selling restrictions: [Not Applicable/give details]

[In respect of the U.S. Selling Restrictions, specify if 
Regulation S Category 2 restrictions do not apply to the 
Notes. Specify whether TEFRA C Rules apply or whether 
TEFRA Rules are not applicable. If “Not Applicable” is 
specified, TEFRA D Rules will apply. Specify if Notes are 
Rule 144A eligible.]

37. Non-exempt Offer: [Not Applicable] [An offer of the Notes may be made by 
the Managers [and [specify names of other financial 
intermediaries/placers making non-exempt offers, to the 
extent known OR consider a generic description of other 
parties involved in non-exempt offers (e.g. “other parties 
authorised by the Managers”) or (if relevant) note that 
other parties may make non-exempt offers in the Public 
Offer Jurisdictions during the Offer Period, if not 
known]] (together with the Managers, the “Financial 
Intermediaries”) other than pursuant to Article 3(2) of 
the Prospectus Directive in [specify relevant Member 
State(s) - which must be jurisdictions where the Base 
Prospectus and any supplements have been passported 
(in addition to the jurisdiction where approved and 
published)] (“Public Offer Jurisdictions”) during the 
period from [specify date] until [specify date or a 
formula such as “the Issue Date” or “the date which 
falls [l] Business Days thereafter”] (“Offer Period”). 
See further item [10] of Part B below. 

(N.B. Consider any local regulatory requirements 
necessary to be fulfilled so as to be able to make a non-
exempt offer in relevant jurisdictions. No such offer 
should be made in any relevant jurisdiction until those 
requirements have been met. Non-exempt offers may only 
be made into jurisdictions in which the Base Prospectus 
(and any supplement) has been notified/passported.) 

[LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING APPLICATION
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These Final Terms comprise the final terms required to list and have admitted to trading the issue of Notes 
described herein pursuant to the Danske Bank A/S EUR 60,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme.]

RESPONSIBILITY

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in these Final Terms. The Issuer confirms that such 
information has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware, no facts have been omitted which would 
render the reproduced inaccurate or misleading.

Signed on behalf of the Issuer:

By: ..................................................................... By: ......................................................................
Duly authorised Duly authorised

CC: Citibank, N.A., London Branch as Fiscal Agent and Principal Registrar
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PART B – OTHER INFORMATION

1. Listing and Admission to Trading

(i) Listing: [The Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange within 
the meaning of the Prospectus Directive/other (specify)/None] 

(ii) Admission to trading: [Application has been made for the Notes to be admitted to 
trading on [l] with effect from [l]/ Not Applicable.] 

(Where documenting a fungible issue need to indicate that 
original securities are already admitted to trading.) 

2. Ratings

Ratings: [Not Applicable/The Notes to be issued have been rated:

[S & P: [l]]
[Moody’s: [l]]
[Fitch: [l]]
[[Other]: [l]]

[Need to include a brief explanation of the meaning of the 
ratings if this has previously been published by the rating 
provider.]

(The above disclosure should reflect the rating allocated to 
Notes of the type being issued under the Programme generally 
or, where the issue has been specifically rated, that rating.)]

3. Interests of Natural and Legal Persons involved in the [Issue/Offer]

Need to include a description of any interest, including conflicting ones, that is material to the issue/ 
offer, detailing the persons involved and the nature of the interest. May be satisfied by the inclusion of the 
following statement:

Save as discussed in the “Subscription and Sale” section of the Base Prospectus, so far as the Issuer is 
aware, no person involved in the offer of the Notes has an interest material to the offer.

4. [Reasons for the Offer, Estimated Net Proceeds and Total Expenses ∗

[(i) Reasons for the offer: [l]

(See “Use of Proceeds” wording in Base Prospectus –
if reasons for offer different from making profit and/or 
hedging certain risks will need to include those reasons 
here.)]

[(ii)] Estimated net proceeds: [l]

(If proceeds are intended for more than one use will 
need to split out and present in order of priority. If 
proceeds insufficient to fund all proposed uses state 
amount and sources of other funding.) 

[(iii)] Estimated total expenses: [Include breakdown of expenses.] 

  
∗ This section may be deleted in the case of an issue of Notes with a minimum denomination of EUR 50,000 (or its equivalent in another currency).
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(If the Notes are derivative securities to which Annex 
XII of the Prospectus Directive Regulation applies it is 
only necessary to include disclosure of net proceeds 
and total expenses at (ii) and (iii) above where 
disclosure is included at (i) above.)]

[5.] Fixed Rate Notes only – Yield

Indication of yield: [l]

Calculated as [include details of method of calculation 
in summary form] on the Issue Date. 

As set out above, the yield is calculated at the Issue 
Date on the basis of the Issue Price. It is not an 
indication of future yield.]1

[6.] [Floating Rate Notes only – Historic Interest Rates

Details of historic [LIBOR/EURIBOR/other] rates can be obtained from [Bloomberg].]

[7.] [Index-Linked or other variable-linked Notes only – Performance of Index/Formula/Other Variable, 
Explanation of Effect on Value of Investment and Associated Risks and Other Information 
Concerning the Underlying

Need to include details of where past and future performance and volatility of the index/formula/other 
variable can be obtained and a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the value of the investment 
is affected by the underlying and the circumstances when the risks are most evident. Need to include a 
description of any market disruption or settlement disruption events that affect the underlying and any 
adjustment rules in relation to events concerning the underlying (if applicable).

Where the underlying is an index need to include the name of the index and a description if composed by 
the Issuer and if the index is not composed by the Issuer need to include details of where the information 
about the index can be obtained. Where the underlying is not an index need to include equivalent 
information. Where the underlying is a security need to include the name of the issuer of the security and 
the International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) or equivalent identification number. Where the 
underlying is a basket of underlyings, need to include the relevant weightings of each underlying in the 
basket.]2

[8.] [Dual Currency Notes only – Performance of Rate[s] of Exchange and Explanation of Effect on 
Value of Investment

Need to include details of where past and future performance and volatility of the relevant rate[s] can be 
obtained and a clear and comprehensive explanation of how the value of the investment is affected by the 
underlying and the circumstances when the risks are most evident.]2

[9.] Operational Information:

ISIN Code/CUSIP: [l]

Common Code: [l]

New Global Note intended to be held in a [Not Applicable3/Yes/No]

  
1 Complete section only if applicable. Otherwise delete and re-number sections accordingly.
2 Required for derivative securities to which Annex XII to the Prospective Directive Regulation applies.
3 Specify “Not Applicable” if the Notes being used are CGNs.
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manner which would allow Eurosystem 
eligibility: Note that the designation “Yes” simply means that the 

Notes are intended upon issue to be deposited with 
Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg as common 
safe-keeper and does not necessarily mean that the 
Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for 
Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit 
operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at 
any or all times during their life. Such recognition will 
depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility 
criteria.] [Include this text if “Yes” selected in which 
case the Notes must be issued in NGN form]

Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear 
Bank SA/NV and Clearstream Banking société 
anonyme (including The Depositary Trust 
Company) and the relevant identification 
number(s):

[Not Applicable/ The Depositary Trust Company/ give 
name(s) and number(s)/ VP Securities, Denmark. VP 
identification number: [l]./ VP Lux, Luxembourg, VP 
Lux identification number: [l]./ VPS, Norway, VPS 
identification number: [l]./Euroclear Sweden, 
Euroclear Sweden identification number: [l].] The 
Issuer shall be entitled to obtain certain information 
from the register maintained by [VP]/[VP 
Lux]/[VPS]/[Euroclear Sweden] for the purpose of 
performing its obligations under the issue of VP 
Systems Notes] (delete as applicable) 

Settlement Procedures: [Specify whether customary medium term note/ 
eurobond/other settlement and payment procedures 
apply]

Delivery: Delivery [against/free of] payment 

Names and addresses of additional Paying 
Agent(s) (if any):

[l]

[10.] Terms and Conditions of the Offer:

Offer Price: [Issue Price/Not Applicable/specify]

[Conditions to which the offer is subject:] [Not Applicable/give details]

[Description of the application process]: [Not Applicable/give details]

[Details of the minimum and/or maximum 
amount of application]:

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Description of possibility to reduce 
subscriptions and manner for refunding excess 
amount paid by applicants]:

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Details of the method and time limits for 
paying up and delivering the Notes:]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Manner in and date on which results of the 
offer are to be made public:]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Procedure for exercise of any right of pre-
emption, negotiability of subscription rights 

[Not Applicable/give details]
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and treatment of subscription rights not 
exercised:]

[Categories of potential investors to which the 
Notes are offered and whether tranche(s) have 
been reserved for certain countries:]

[Not Applicable/give details] 

[Process for notification to applicants of the 
amount allotted and the indication whether 
dealing may begin before notification is 
made:]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Amount of any expenses and taxes 
specifically charged to the subscriber or 
purchaser:]

[Not Applicable/give details]

[Name(s) and address(es), to the extent known 
to the Issuer, of the placers in the various 
countries where the offer takes place.]

[None/give details]
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds of the issue of each Tranche of Notes will be applied by the Issuer to meet part of its 
general financing requirements.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE DANSKE BANK GROUP

The general corporate structure of the Danske Bank Group (the “Danske Bank Group” or the 
“Group”) is as shown below:

The Danske Bank Overview 

The Group provides a wide range of banking, mortgage finance and insurance products as well as other 
financial services, and is the largest financial service provider in Denmark – and one of the largest in the Nordic 
region – measured by total assets as at 31 December 2009. The Bank is the parent company of the Group, which 
includes Realkredit Danmark (mortgage finance), Forsikringsselskabet Danica, Skadeforsikringsaktieselskab af 
1999 (life and pensions) and other subsidiaries. The Bank is represented through branches in the Nordic countries, 
Ireland, the United Kingdom (London), Germany, Poland, and in the Baltic countries, and through subsidiaries in 
Finland, Northern Ireland, Luxembourg and Russia. The Group currently serves more than five million customers. 
Approximately 2.2 million customers use the Group’s online services. As at 31 December 2009, the Group’s total 
assets amounted to DKK 3,098 billion and the Group employed approximately 22,000 employees.

The Group operates its business through five business units, namely Banking Activities, Danske Markets, 
Danske Capital, Danica Pension and Other Activities. 

The registered office of Danske Bank A/S is at 2-12 Holmens Kanal, DK-1092 Copenhagen K, Denmark, 
with telephone number +45 33 44 00 00 and Danish corporate registration number 61126228.

History

Danske Bank A/S (“Danske Bank” or the “Bank”) was founded in Denmark in 1871 and has, through 
the years, merged with a number of financial institutions. The Bank is a commercial bank with limited liability 
and carries on business under the Danish Financial Business Act.

In recent years, the Bank has strengthened its position in the Nordic region by acquisitions. In 1997, it 
acquired Östgöta Enskilda Bank in Sweden, in 1999, Fokus Bank in Norway and, in 2000, RealDanmark and its 
subsidiaries BG Bank and Realkredit Danmark. Furthermore, on 1 March 2005, the Bank acquired Northern Bank 
in Northern Ireland and National Irish Bank in the Republic of Ireland, and, on 1 February 2007, the purchase of 
Sampo Bank in Finland, including Sampo Bank’s activities in the three Baltic countries and a subsidiary in St. 
Petersburg, Russia, was completed.

Effective on 1 June 1998, all branches of Östgöta Enskilda Bank were converted into branches of the 
Bank and effective on 1 April 2007, Fokus Bank and National Irish Bank were converted into branches of the 
Bank and, in June 2008, the three Baltic banks were converted into branches of the Bank.
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Financial highlights

(DKKm) Index (EURm)

Danske Bank Group 2009 2008 09/08 2009 2008

Total income 59,339 43,043 138 7,974 5,777

Expenses 28,907 28,726 101 3,885 3,856

Profit before loan impairment charges 30,432 14,317 213 4,089 1,922

Loan impairment charges 25,677 12,088 212 3,451 1,622

Profit before tax 4,755 2,229 213 639 299

Total assets 3,098,477 3,543,974 87 416,378 475,663

Loans and advances 1,127,142 1,352,113 83 151,467 181,477

Loans and advances at fair value 688,473 667,181 103 92,518 89,547

Trading portfolio assets 620,052 860,788 72 83,324 115,533

Deposits 859,580 874,690 98 115,512 117,399

Earnings per share (DKr) 2.5 1.5 — 0.3 0.2

Solvency ratio (%) 17.8 13.0 — — —

Tier 1 capital ratio (%) 14.1 9.2 — — —

Exchange rate (End of period) 744.15 745.06

Note: The solvency and tier 1 capital ratios are calculated in accordance with the Capital Requirements Directive. Source: (DKK amounts) 
Annual Report 2009, pgs. 4 and 66.

The Business Units 

The Group operates its business through five business units, namely Banking Activities, Danske Markets, 
Danske Capital, Danica Pension and Other Activities. 

Banking Activities 

Overview

Banking Activities contains the Group’s entire banking business with retail customers as well as 
corporate and institutional customers. In each of the countries outside of Denmark where the Group operates, all 
brands are operated in country divisions. Banking Activities also encompasses the Group’s mortgage finance and 
real-estate agency businesses. 

Banking Activities Denmark 

Banking Activities Denmark encompasses the banking activities of Danske Bank as well as the mortgage 
finance activities of Realkredit Danmark. In Denmark, the Bank caters to all types of retail and corporate 
customers. Banking Activities Denmark’s finance centres serve large corporate and private banking customers. In 
addition, Banking Activities Denmark has six agricultural centers and offers a range of leasing solutions to the 
corporate segment. As at 31 December 2009, customers of Banking Activities Denmark were served through 327 
branches and the business unit had 5,664 employees. Banking Activities Denmark had approximately 2.4 million 
customers as at 31 December 2009. 
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Banking Activities Finland 

Banking Activities Finland encompasses the banking activities of Sampo Bank in Finland and the Bank’s 
Helsinki branch. Sampo Bank, which is the third-largest bank in Finland, caters to retail customers, small and 
medium-sized enterprises and institutional customers. As at 31 December 2009, customers of Banking Activities 
Finland were served through 121 branches in Finland and the business unit had 2,169 employees. Banking 
Activities Finland had approximately 1.2 million customers as at 31 December 2009. 

Banking Activities Sweden 

Banking Activities Sweden encompasses the banking activities of Östgöta Enskilda Bank and 
Provinsbankerna in Sweden, which serve all types of retail and corporate customers. 

As at 31 December 2009, customers of Banking Activities Sweden were served through 56 branches and 
the business unit had 913 employees. Banking Activities Sweden had approximately 235,000 customers as at 31 
December 2009. 

Banking Activities Norway 

Banking Activities Norway encompasses the banking activities of Fokus Bank in Norway. Fokus Bank 
serves all types of retail and corporate customers. As at 31 December 2009, customers of Banking Activities 
Norway were served through 49 branches and the business unit had 966 employees. Banking Activities Norway 
had approximately 243,000 customers as at 31 December 2009. 

Banking Activities Northern Ireland 

Banking Activities Northern Ireland encompasses the banking activities of Northern Bank, which serves 
both retail and corporate customers. Northern Bank is a leading retail bank in Northern Ireland. As at 31 
December 2009, Banking Activities Northern Ireland had served its customers through 83 branches and the 
business unit had 1,253 employees. Banking Activities Northern Ireland had approximately 467,000 customers as 
at 31 December 2009. 

Banking Activities Ireland 

Banking Activities Ireland encompasses the banking activities of National Irish Bank, which serves both 
retail and corporate customers. Effective on April 2007, National Irish Bank was converted into a branch of the 
Bank. As at 31 December 2009, Banking Activities Ireland served its customers through 58 branches and the 
business unit had 625 employees. National Irish Bank had approximately 227,000 customers as at 31 December 
2009. 

Banking Activities Baltics 

Banking Activities Baltics encompasses the Group’s banking activities in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, 
which serve all types of retail and corporate customers. As at 31 December 2009, customers of Banking Activities 
Baltics were served through 40 branches and it had 1,051 employees. Banking Activities Baltics had 
approximately 321,000 customers as at 31 December 2009. 

Other Banking Activities 

Other Banking Activities encompasses the Group’s banking activities in Germany, Poland and Russia. 
Currently, Nordania Leasing’s activities reported under Other Banking Activities include primarily car and truck 
leasing solutions and fleet management. 

Danske Markets 

Danske Markets is responsible for the Group’s activities in the financial markets. Trading activities 
include trading in fixed-income products, foreign exchange, equities and interest-bearing securities; providing the 
largest corporate customers and institutional customers with financial products and advisory services on mergers 
and acquisitions; and assisting customers with equity and debt issues on the international financial markets. 
Within Danske Markets, Group Treasury covers the Bank’s strategic fixed-income, foreign exchange and equity 
portfolios and serves as the Group’s internal bank. Institutional banking includes services provided to 
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international financial institutions outside the Nordic region, whereas services provided to Nordic financial 
institutions are part of the Group’s Banking Activities. Danske Markets is also responsible for the Bank’s own 
funding activities. As at 31 December 2009, Danske Markets had 887 employees.

Danske Capital 

Danske Capital develops and sells wealth management products and services that are offered through the 
Group’s banking activities and directly to businesses, institutional customers and external distributors. Danske 
Capital supports the advisory and asset management activities of the Group’s Banking Activities, and through 
Danske Bank International in Luxembourg, it provides international private banking services to customers outside 
the Group’s home markets. As at 31 December 2009, Danske Capital had 540 employees and is represented in 
Denmark, Sweden, Norway, Finland, Estonia, Lithuania and Luxembourg. In May 2008, Danske Capital acquired 
the investment management company, Investeringsforvaltningsselskabet Danske Invest Management A/S. As at 
31 December 2009, the assets managed by Danske Capital amounted to DKK 548 billion. 

Danica Pension 

Danica Pension encompasses the Danske Bank Group’s activities in the life insurance and pension 
market. Danica Pension targets both personal and corporate customers. Danica Pension offers life insurance, 
pension schemes and health and accident insurance to employers and private individuals. These include both 
conventional policies based on guaranteed benefit (Danica Traditionel) and savings and unit-linked schemes in 
which the customers select the risk profiles themselves (Danica Link), including life-cycle products (Danica 
Balance). In the Swedish, Norwegian and Irish markets, Danica Pension primarily offers unit-linked pension 
products to employers and private individuals. Products are marketed through a range of distribution channels 
within the Group, primarily Banking Activities’ outlets and Danica Pension’s insurance brokers and advisers. As 
at 31 December 2009, Danica Pension had 925 employees.

As at 31 December 2009, the Danica Group’s total investments amounted to DKK 256 billion, the 
unit-linked assets amounted to DKK 46 billion and total assets amounted to DKK 264 billion. 

Other Activities

Other Activities includes the Group’s real property activities and support functions. Other Activities also 
includes the elimination of return on own shares and bonds. 

The Group’s support functions mainly consist of Group Business Development & Marketing, Shared 
Services Centre, Group HR & Communications, Group Finance, Group Risk and Group Credits.

Funding structure

The Group regularly monitors the composition of its funding to ensure that it has a well-diversified 
funding base. The Group’s retail deposits play an important role in this regard.

In addition, the Group has comprehensive and well-established funding programmes, including covered 
bonds. The existing CP and EMTN programmes are used for short- and medium-term funding, while covered 
bond issues are used mainly for longer-term funding. Covered bonds thus help diversify the Group’s funding 
across investors and maturities.

Group funding sources (by type) (Year-end)
(%) 2009 2008
Central banks, Credit institutions and repo transactions 16 24
Short-term bonds 7 9
Long-term bonds 15 12
Danish mortgage bonds (match-funded) 23 19
Deposits 32 30
Subordinated debt 3 2
Shareholder's equity 4 4

Total 100 100
Source: Annual Report 2009, pg. 150.
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The Danske Bank Group has two channels through which it grants mortgage loans: (i) Realkredit 
Danmark A/S; and (ii) the Bank itself.

The mortgage loans on the Realkredit Danmark A/S platform are match-funded through the issuance of 
mortgage bonds according to the Danish Mortgage-Credit Loans and Mortgage-Credit Bonds, etc. Act and 
executive orders issued by the Danish FSA. Match-funding means that the Group has no refinancing or interest 
rate risk on the loans.

Realkredit Danmark A/S currently issues mortgage covered bonds only through the Capital Centres of 
Realkredit Danmark A/S. Bonds issued out of the Capital Centres are rated Aaa by Moody’s and AAA by S&P, 
the highest possible ratings, which also apply to Danish government bonds.

Shareholders’ equity

The Bank’s shareholders’ equity was DKK 101 billion (EUR 14 billion) as at the end of 2009 against 
DKK 98 billion (EUR 13 billion) at the end of 2008. The development in the Bank’s equity reflect primarily total 
comprehensive income for the year.

At the end of 2009, Danske Bank’s authorised and issued share capital totalled DKK 6,988,042,760 (EUR 
939 million) based on 698,804,276 shares of DKK 10 (EUR 1.3) each. Danske Bank’s shares are listed on the 
NASDAQ OMX, Copenhagen.

At year-end 2009, Danske Bank had approximately 342,000 shareholders. According to the Danish 
Companies Act, shareholders must notify a company if their shareholding exceeds 5 per cent. of the company’s 
share capital or higher percentages divisible by 5. Two shareholder groups have notified the Bank that they hold 
more than 5 per cent. of its share capital:

A.P. Møller and Chastine Mc-Kinney Møller Foundation and companies of the A.P. Møller -Mærsk 
Group, Copenhagen, hold 22.76 per cent. of the share capital; and

Realdania, Copenhagen, holds 10.07 per cent. of the share capital.

The Bank estimates that approximately 30 per cent. of its share capital is held by investors outside of 
Denmark. Most foreign investors are based in the U.S. and the U.K.

Capital and Solvency

In May 2009, Danske Bank and Realkredit Danmark A/S raised subordinated loan capital from the 
Danish state in the form of hybrid capital of DKK 24 billion and DKK 2 billion, respectively. The subordinated 
loans have strengthened the capital base, and the Group is better prepared to withstand losses any further negative 
economic developments may cause.The following table below shows the solvency ratio, tier 1 capital ratio and 
core tier 1 capital ratio excluding hybrid capital. The second table shows the risk-weighted assets, subordinated 
debt and hybrid capital.

Danske Bank Group

(%) 31 Dec. 2009 31 Dec. 2008

Solvency ratio ................................................................ 17.8 13.0

Tier 1 capital ratio ................................................................ 14.1 9.2

Core tier 1 capital ratio, excluding hybrid core capital............. 9.5 8.1
Note: The ratios are calculated in accordance with the Capital Requirements Directive.

Source: Annual Report 2009, pg. 69.
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Danske Bank Group (DKKm) (EURm)

31 Dec. 
2009

31 Dec. 
2008

31 Dec.
2009

31 Dec.
2008

Risk-weighted assets ................................ 834,242 960,079 112,107 128,859

Subordinated debt, excluding hybrid 
capital.............................................................. 33,965 38,222 4,564 5,130

Hybrid capital ................................................. 43,783 17,373 5,884 2,332

Hybrid capital included in tier 1 capital .......... 41,099 13,640 5,523 1,831
Source: (DKK amounts) Annual Report 2009, pgs. 69 and 105.

At 31 December 2009, the solvency ratio was 17.8 per cent, with 14.1 percentage points deriving from 
tier 1 capital. The loan capital raised from the Danish state accounted for 3.1 percentage points of the solvency 
and tier 1 capital ratios. Impairment charges against particularly highly weighted facilities and the reduction of 
total assets triggered a fall in risk-weighted assets from DKK 960 billion at end-2008 to DKK 834 billion. At the 
end of 2008, the solvency ratio was 13.0 per cent and the tier 1 capital ratio was 9.2 per cent.

Legal Proceedings 

Owing to its business volume, the Group is continually a party to various lawsuits. In view of its size, the 
Group does not expect the outcomes of the cases pending to have any material effect on its financial position.
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Management of Danske Bank (the “Bank”)

The Bank’s administrative bodies are the Board of Directors and the Executive Board. The Board of 
Directors, which consists of non-executive directors, is elected by the shareholders of the Bank in the annual 
general meeting, with the exception of those directors who are elected pursuant to prevailing law concerning 
employee representation on the Board of Directors (currently five). The non-employee directors, who are elected 
by the shareholders, are elected for terms of one year and the number of such directors may range from six to ten. 
Directors are eligible for re-election. Danske Bank’s Executive Board may consist of two to ten members who are 
responsible for the day-to-day business and affairs of Danske Bank. The business address of the Board of 
Directors is 2-12 Holmens Kanal, DK-1092 Copenhagen K, Denmark.

The present members of the Board of Directors and their external positions are as follows:

Alf Duch-Pedersen, Chairman ................................ Director of:

• Group4Securicor plc (Chairman) 
• The Denmark-America Foundation. 

Eivind Kolding, Vice Chairman.............................. Partner of the firm A.P. Møller

Director of: 

• Maersk Inc. 
• Maersk Line Agency Holding A/S (Chairman)
• ELAA (The European Liner Affairs Association)

(Chairman)
• Safmarine Container Lines N.V. (Chairman).
• E. Kolding Shipping ApS
• Box Club (International Council of Containership 

Operators) (Chairman).

Ole Gjessø Andersen............................................... • Chr. Hansen Holding A/S (Chairman)
• Privathospitalet Hamlet A/S (Clairman)
• ISS Equity A/S (Chairman)
• ISS Holding A/S (Chairman)
• ISS A/S (Chairman)
• Georg Jensen A/S
• Bang& Olufsen A/S
• EQT Partners (Senior Advisor).

Susanne Arboe* ...................................................... Danske Bank

Director of Danske Kreds.

Helle Brøndum*...................................................... Danske Bank

Director of Danske Kreds. 

Carsten Eilertsen* ................................................... Danske Bank

Director of Danske Kreds (Vice Chairman).

Michael Fairey ........................................................ Director of:

• Horizon PLC (Chairman)
• Lloyds TSB Pension Fund (Chairman)
• Northern Rock PLC
• Vertex Data
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• Energy Saving Trust PLC.

Charlotte Hoffmann* .............................................. Personal Customer Adviser, Danske Bank.

Peter Højland .......................................................... Director of:

• Amrop-Hever A/S (Chairman) 
• Bikuben Fondene (Chairman) 
• Copenhagen Capacity, Fonden til Markedsføring 

og Erhvervsfremme i Hovedstadsregionen 
(Chairman) 

• The Denmark-America Foundation 
• Frederiksbergfonden 
• Ituri Management ApS (Chairman) 
• Nordic Vision Clinics AS
• Rambøll Gruppen A/S (Chairman) 
• Siemens A/S (Chairman). 

Mats Jansson ........................................................... President and CEO of SAS Group

Director of:

• SAS Danmark A/S.

Sten Scheibye.......................................................... Director of:

• DADES A/S
• The Danish Academy of Technical Sciences 
• The Denmark-America Foundation (Chairman)
• The Fulbright Commission in Denmark
• The Trade Council of Denmark (Chairman)
• The Danish Industry Foundation
• The Danish Committee on Corporate Governance 

(Chairman)
• Novo Nordisk A/S (Chairman)
• Rambøll Gruppen A/S
• The Technical University of Denmark (Chairman)
• Aase og Ejnar Danielsens Foundation.

Majken Schultz ....................................................... Professor of Organization at Copenhagen Business School

Director of: 

• The Academy of Management
• COWI A/S 
• Realdania 
• Børnehjertefonden (Vice Chairman) 
• Danish Management Society
• Reputation Institute (Executive Committee).

Per Alling Toubro* ................................................. Danske Bank

Director of:

• Danske Kreds (Chairman)
• Danske Unions (Chairman).
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Claus Vastrup.......................................................... Professor of Economics, University of Aarhus

Director of Aarhus Universitets Jubilæumsfond.

Birgit Aagaard-Svendsen ........................................ Executive Vice President and CFO of J. Lauritzen A/S

Director of: 

• Handyventure Singapore Pte. (Chairman) 
• The Council of Det Norske Veritas
• Metroselskabet I/S. 

______________

* Elected by the Bank’s staff

The present members of the Executive Board and their external positions are as follows:

Peter Straarup, Chairman ........................................ Director of:

• Forsikringsselskabet Danica, 
Skadeforsikringsaktieselskab af 1999 (Chairman) 

• Danica Pension, Livsforsikringsaktieselskab 
(Chairman) 

• Danica Liv III, Livsforsikringsaktieselskab 
(Chairman) 

• Danica Pension I, Livsforsikringsaktieselskab 
(Chairman) 

• DDB Invest AB (Chairman) 
• Northern Bank Limited (Chairman) 

Member of: 

• The Denmark-America Foundation 
• The International Monetary Conference 
• Institut International d’Etudes Bancaires
• The Private Contingency Association for the 

Winding up of Distressed Banks, Savings Banks 
and Cooperative Banks (Chairman)

• The Danish Bankers Association (Chairman).

Tonny Thierry Andersen......................................... Director of: 

• Forsikringsselskabet Danica, 
Skadeforsikringsaktieselskab af 1999 

• Danica Pension, Livsforsikringsaktieselskab 
• Danica Liv III, Livsforsikringsaktieselskab 
• Danica Pension I, Livsforsikringsaktieselskab 
• Realkredit Danmark A/S 
• Sampo Pankki Oyj.

Thomas F. Borgen................................................... Director of:

• Northern Bank Limited (Chairman)
• Sampo Pankki Oyj (Chairman).
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Sven Lystbæk.......................................................... Director of:

• Multidata Holding A/S (Vice Chairman) 
• Multidata A/S (Vice Chairman) 
• PBS Holding A/S (Vice Chairman) 
• PBS A/S (Vice Chairman) 
• VP Securities A/S (Chairman) 
• Visa Europe Limited 
• Forsikringsselskabet Danica,  

Skadeforsikringsaktieselskab af 1999 (Vice 
Chairman) 

• Danica Pension, Livsforsikringsaktieselskab (Vice 
Chairman) 

• Danica Liv III, Livsforsikringsaktieselskab (Vice 
Chairman) 

• Danica Pension I, Livsforsikringsaktieselskab 
(Vice Chairman) 

• Realkredit Danmark A/S (Vice Chairman) 
• Kreditforeningen Danmarks 

Pensionsafviklingskasse 
• Danske Bank International S.A 
• Sampo Pankki Oyj (Vice Chairman). 

Per Skovhus ............................................................ Director of: 

• Danmarks Skibskredit A/S (Chairman) 
• Holdingbolag 25-6-2009 AB (Chairman)
• Northern Bank Limited
• Realkredit Danmark A/S 
• Sampo Pankki Oyj
• ICC Denmark.

The external positions for the members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Board may change. 
Updates of this information can be found on the Danske Bank homepage, 
www.danskebank.com/corporategovernance.

After application of the relevant laws and conflict of interest policies of Danske Bank, no potential 
conflicts of interest exist between the duties to the Issuer of the persons on the Board of Directors and the 
Executive Board and their private interests listed above.

www.danskebank.com/corporategovernance
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KINGDOM OF DENMARK

The information in this section “Kingdom of Denmark” is publicly available information. Certain 
information in this section “Kingdom of Denmark” has been extracted from third party sources. These 
third party sources are indicated throughout this section. The Issuer confirms that such information has 
been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from information 
published by each of the third party sources specified throughout this section, no facts have been omitted 
which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

Outline

General Information

The legal name of Denmark is the Kingdom of Denmark with the contact address: The Ministry of 
Economics and Business Affairs, 10-12 Slotsholmsgade, DK-1216 Copenhagen K, Denmark. The telephone 
number of the Ministry of Economics and Business Affairs is +45 33 92 33 50.

Area and Population

Denmark, the southernmost of the Scandinavian countries, covers an area of 16,630 square miles. It 
consists of the Peninsula of Jutland, a part of the European Continent extending towards Norway, and 
approximately 500 islands, of which 100 are inhabited, between the continental mainland and the Scandinavian 
peninsula. The largest of these islands is Zealand (2,913 square miles), on the eastern coast of which, only eight 
miles from Sweden, is situated the capital city of Copenhagen. Denmark’s sole land frontier is with the Federal 
Republic of Germany at the southern extremity of Jutland. Greenland, the world’s largest island (840,000 square 
miles), with a population of 56,500, and the Faroe Islands (540 square miles), with a population of 47,000, also 
form part of Denmark, although both have been granted a certain measure of home rule.

The population of Denmark proper at 1 January 2010 was approximately 5.5 million (approximately 1.8 
million in the Greater Copenhagen area) and has grown at an average annual rate of approximately 0.3 per cent.
over the last ten years. The density of Denmark’s population, 310 inhabitants per square mile, is substantially 
greater than that of Norway or Sweden, but considerably less than that of the United Kingdom or the Federal 
Republic of Germany.

Politics and Foreign Relations

Government and Political Parties

Denmark has been a constitutional monarchy since 1849. The Constitution, most recently amended on 5 
June 1953, provides for a basic separation of powers among the executive, legislative and judicial branches.

Executive power is vested in the Queen, who exercises her authority through Ministers formally 
appointed by her in accordance with the will of the unicameral legislature known as the “Folketing” (Parliament). 
Ministers are the administrative heads of their respective Ministries. They number nineteen at present, including 
the Prime Minister. While Ministers are not required to be members of the Folketing, a majority of them have 
traditionally been members. Together the Ministers constitute the Cabinet and regularly meet in the so-called 
Council of State with the Queen who presides over the meeting in which important governmental matters are 
presented. The Cabinet is responsible to the Folketing for governing the country.

The Folketing consists of a single chamber of 179 members who are elected for a maximum period of 
four years. Two of its members are elected in the Faroe Islands and two in Greenland. The 175 members are 
elected through proportional representation with the exemption that a political party has to obtain at least 2 per
cent. of the votes.

Legislative power is exercised by the Folketing and formally all laws are signed by the Queen. By a vote 
of no confidence, the Folketing may force the resignation of the Prime Minister and his Cabinet (unless a general 
election is called) or of any individual Minister. The Queen may formally call a new election at any time, but in 
practice will do so only at the request of the Prime Minister.
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All Danish citizens who are residents of the country and who have reached the age of 18 are entitled to 
vote. Denmark has numerous political parties. The following table sets forth the results of the three most recent 
general elections to the Folketing:

November 
2001

February 
2005

November 
2007

Party
Social Democratic  52 47 45
Liberal  56 52 47
Conservative  16 18 17
Socialist People’s  12 11 23
Progressive (Right)  - - -
Danish People’s (Right)  22 24 25
Social Liberal  9 17 9
Unitylist (Left)  4 6 4
Ny Alliance - - 3
Christian People’s  4 - -
Faroe Islands and Greenland  4 4 4
Other   -  - 2
Total Members  179 179 179

From September 1982 until January 1993 Denmark was governed by minority governments with Mr. 
Poul Schlüter of the Conservative Party as Prime Minister. During the period September 1982 to May 1988 the 
governments were composed of representatives of the Conservative, Liberals, Centre Democrats and Christian 
People’s party. In the period from May 1988 until December 1990 the Social Liberal Party joined the Government 
while the Centre Democrats and the Christian People’s Party left the Government. After the election of December 
1990, the Social Liberal Party left the Government leaving the Conservative Party and the Liberal Party in 
government. In January 1993, a new Government was formed with Mr. Poul Nyrup Rasmussen from the Social 
Democratic Party appointed as the new Prime Minister. This Government was composed of the Social Liberal 
Party, the Centre Democrats, the Christian People’s Party and the Social Democratic Party. With the exit of the 
Christian People’s Party in September 1994 and of the Centre Democrats in late 1996, the coalition of the Social 
Democratic Party and the Social Liberal Party continued after the election in March 1998. Following the election 
in November 2001, the Liberal Party and the Conservative Party took over and formed Government with Mr. 
Anders Fogh Rasmussen of the Liberal Party as Prime Minister. This government was re-elected in February 2005 
and in November 2007. In the spring of 2009, Anders Fogh Rasmussen was appointed Secretary General of North 
Atlantic Treaty Organization (“NATO”), and Mr. Lars Løkke Rasmussen of the Liberal Party was appointed 
prime minister without an election. Danish governments have a long tradition for operating with “changing 
majorities”, i.e. by carrying some matters through Parliament with one majority and other matters with a different 
majority.

The next election to the Folketing will be held in November 2011, at the latest.

Foreign Relations

Denmark has diplomatic relations with almost all countries of the world. Geographical location, a 
democratic way of life and foreign trade pattern and historical and cultural traditions are the key elements which 
determine Denmark’s foreign policy. Accordingly, as a European and Western country forming part of 
Scandinavia, Denmark has a vital interest in developments in Europe and North America. Denmark’s location at 
the approaches to the Baltic implies geographical strategic importance. Denmark has developed a large volume of 
foreign trade. Because of these extensive economic connections with the rest of the world, Denmark is always 
influenced by world economic development. Denmark’s foreign policy recognizes, therefore, that not only 
geographically close countries but all countries are Denmark’s neighbors, and consequently that her interests in 
Europe must not impair the mutual connections with the people of other continents.

In January 1973 Denmark joined the European Communities; the EEC, the European Coal and Steel 
Community and the European Atomic Energy Community, as well as the related European Investment Bank. 
Denmark has subsequently ratified the Treaty on the EU, which encompasses these communities and institutions, 
but in connection with the Edinburgh decision of 1992, the Danish government notified the other member states, 
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that Denmark would not participate in the third phase of EMU starting 1 January 1999. This position was 
confirmed by the referendum on 28 September 2000, where a majority rejected Danish Euro participation. 
Denmark was a founding member of the NATO, the Council of Europe, the United Nations, and the Organization 
for Economic Co-operation and Development.

Other major international organizations of which Denmark is a member include the International 
Monetary Fund, the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, the International Finance 
Corporation, the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development and the International Development 
Association. Denmark is also a party to the World Trade Organization.

Within the five Nordic countries (Denmark, Norway, Sweden, Finland and Iceland), Denmark is a 
member of many coordinating bodies and organizations, including the Nordic Council (a forum for common 
affairs which makes non-binding recommendations to member governments for action) and the Nordic Investment 
Bank (the primary objective of which is to aid in the financing of projects of common Nordic interest as well as 
for countries outside the Nordic region in which the projects are financed).

Economy

Outline of Recent Economic Trends

General

The Danish economy has entered the current economic crisis from a robust position with very low 
unemployment and surpluses on both the current account and on the public finances. 

For more information on the expectations of the future of the Danish economy, see the website of the 
Danish Ministry of Finance www.fm.dk which contains the latest forecasts.

The following table sets forth certain economic information relating to Denmark:

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
Danish Economy – key figures
Gross Domestic Product –

Current Market Prices
(billions of Danish Kroner) 1,400.7 1,466.2 1,545.3 1,631.7 1,691.5 1,737.4 1,657.9
(% change)  2.0 4.7 5.4 5.6 3.7 2.7 (4.6)

Gross Domestic Product –
Constant 2000 Market Prices

(billions of Danish Kroner) 1,316.5 1,347.9 1,379.0 1,425.4 1,454.9 1,444.7 1,371.7
(% change)  0.4 2.4 2.3 3.4 2.1 (0.7) (5.1)

Unemployment Rate
(average %)   5.8 5.8 5.1 3.9 2.8 1.8 3.3

Rate of Inflation
(year-to-year change in consumer price 

index) 2.1 1.2 1.8 1.9 1.7 3.4 2.1

Balance of Payments Current Account 
(billions of Danish Kroner) 48.3 44.2 67.1 48.6 25.0 38.0 66.3
(% of GDP)  3.4 3.0 4.3 3.0 1.5 2.2 4.0

Foreign Exchange Reserves
(billions of Danish Kroner equivalent) 224 218 209 172 167 213 389

_________
Source: Statistics Denmark.

www.fm.dkwhich
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Gross Domestic Product and Domestic Expenditure (At Current Market Prices)

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2009
(DKK, in billions) (per cent. 

of GDP)

Goods and Services Available for 
Domestic Expenditure

Gross Domestic Product 1,466.2 1,545.3 1,631.7 1,691.5 1,737.4 1,705.7 100.0

Plus: Imports of Goods and Services 593.6 681.2 797.7 845.1 909.2 726.1 42.6
Total Supply 2059.8 2226.5 2429.4 2536.6 2646.6 2,431.8 142.6

Less: Exports of Goods and Services 665.0 757.0 849.6 886.4 955.9 781.8 45.8
1394.7 1469.5 1579.8 1650.2 1690.7 1650.6 96.8

Private Sector Consumption 707.2 745.1 786.6 821.7 845.5 490.9 28.8

Public Sector Consumption 389.0 402.5 422.6 439.1 463.8 817.5 47.9
Total Consumption 1096.2 1147.6 1209.2 1260.8 1309.3 1308.4 76.7

Gross Fixed Capital Formation
Machines and equipment 79.3 80.2 93.3 99.8 93.5 71.2 4.2
Transport 30.8 31.4 38.1 38.2 36.4 36.7 2.2
Housing 76.9 92.4 107.9 117.4 102.8 85.0 5.0
Other buildings 42.3 43.9 52.8 58.1 64.3 52.8 3.1

Total Gross fixed capital formation 285.0 303.9 356.0 376.6 365.7 312.6 18.3
_________
Source: Statistics Denmark.

Description of Economic Policies and Results 

Economic policy is firmly directed towards ensuring a stable rate of exchange vis-à-vis the euro, low 
inflation, solid surpluses on general government finances ensuring sustainability of fiscal policy and a reduction in 
general government debt, a gradual repayment of foreign debt and high employment.

The measures to achieve this economic policy include a sufficiently tight fiscal policy, a monetary policy 
ensuring that the Danish Kroner is stable, and improved structures on the labor market and in the tax system.

The Government has adhered to its medium-term and long-term objective of fiscal consolidation in 
accordance with the Danish EU-convergence program. The general government budget moved into surplus in 
1998 and was around 5 per cent. of GDP between 2005–2007 due in part to above normal revenues from taxation 
on oil extraction and pension funds’ returns. In 2008, the budget surplus declined to 3.6 per cent. The decline is 
partly caused by a one-off compensation paid to private pension savings following changes in the rules on 
taxation of returns on pensions. 

As a result of the substantial budget surpluses and high economic growth the government debt has been 
reduced from 65.2 per cent. of GDP in 1997 to 26.8 per cent. of GDP in 2007. In 2008 the government debt 
increased to 33.5 per cent. despite a significant budget surplus. The increase in the government debt is primarily 
caused by the extraordinary issuance of a 30-year government bond and a shift in the Social Pension Funds 
portfolio from government bonds towards mortgage bonds (which cannot be deducted in the EMU-debt). The 
table below sets forth Danish government surpluses and public debt (EMU-definition):
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Budget surplus and government debt
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008

(DKK, in billions)
Budget surplus 1.1 29.3 80.6 84.7 76.7 58.7
Public debt 641.7 651.9 572.9 509.6 453.2 580.3

(per cent. of GDP)
Budget surplus 0.1 2.0 5.2 5.2 4.5 3.4
Public debt 45.8 44.5 37.1 31.3 26.8 33.5

__________
Source: Statistics Denmark.

Note: Information for 2009 unavailable as at the date of this Base Prospectus.

A general government surplus on average over the course of the economic cycle is seen as necessary to 
meet the future challenges from an ageing population.

As a tax freeze is one of the government’s overall objectives, a strict prioritization of expenditures is 
important to meet the target of solid surpluses on general government finances.

Monetary policy remains firmly geared towards maintaining a stable exchange rate vis-à-vis the euro and 
low inflation. The strong confidence in the Danish Kroner has allowed for relatively low short-term interest rate 
differentials to the short-term interest rates in the euro area. Danmarks Nationalbank decided to widen the interest 
rate spread in October 2008 because of substantial currency outflow. The interest rate spread topped at 1.75 
percentage point before Danmarks Nationalbank started to narrow the spread in December 2008. The spread 
between the key monetary policy rates of Danmarks Nationalbank and the European Central Bank (“ECB”) 
amounts presently to 0.25 percentage points – which could be considered a normal level.

The yield spread between Danish and German 10-year government bonds has averaged 0.20-0.30 
percentage points during 2000–2007, but the spread widened to about 0.5 percentage points during 2008 on the 
background of the financial crisis. During 2009, the spread has narrow and is presently about 0.35 percentage 
points. The interest rate spread between Danish and German bonds is still low compared to the interest rate spread 
between most euro area member states’ government bonds and German government bonds and can among other 
things be attributed to the solid Danish economy.

Another cornerstone of long-term stabilization policy is structural improvements. The Danish tax system 
and labor market policies have been reformed substantially over the past 15 years. Accordingly Denmark, to a 
great extent, has done away with inexpedient structures that have contributed to a less stable economic 
development. It has also meant that general government finances rest on a more solid foundation.

Reforms to improve structures further have been decided. In terms of taxation, the government reached an 
agreement on lowering the tax on earned income in 2010 and 2011. The reform is targeted at lowering the
marginal tax rate.

In terms of labor market policy, the Government has implemented the action plan “More people in 
employment”. The action plan include, among other things, initiatives aimed at making work pay, a better labor 
market integration of immigrants, an extension of the special youth program to include the age group of 25 to 29 
years and more effective active labor market programs including more direct and job-oriented activation measures 
and a wider use of private job training. 

Prices and Wages

The following table sets forth for the periods indicated changes in prices and wages:

Inflation and Wage Growth
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Inflation (Consumer Price Index) 2.1 1.2 1.8 1.9 1.7 3.4 1.3
Net Retail Prices (2000 = 100) 2.3 1.4 2.0 2.0 1.9 3.7 2.1
Private Sector Wages (1996 = 100) 3.8 3.1 2.8 3.1 3.8 4.4 3.1

_________
Source: Statistics Denmark.
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Employment and Labor

In March 1994, unemployment peaked at 12.9 per cent. The unemployment rate fell to an average of 1.8 
per cent. in 2008, due to the upturn in the economy in 1994–2007 and the introduction of new paid leave schemes.

The following table sets forth information on the Danish labor markets:

Labor Market
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

(1,000 persons)
Labor Force 

2,743.31 2,765.57 2,748.27 2,780.05 2,756.00 2,873.39 2,793.39
Employment 

2,584.20 2,605.17 2,608.11 2,671.63 2,678.83 2,821.67 2,701.21
Unemployment 159.112 160.403 140.162 108.422 77.168 51.721 92.182
Employment Rate (15-66 years)  73.3 74 74.2 75.3 75 75.7 73.1
Unemployment Rate 5.8 5.8 5.1 3.9 2.8 1.8 3.3

_________
Source: Statistics Denmark.

Note: Information for 2009 is preliminary.

The labor force totaled approximately 2.8 million persons in 2009 or approximately 70 per cent. of the 
population in the age group from 15 to 74 years. In general, more than three quarters of the labor force were 
unionized, and approximately the same proportion were members of unemployment insurance funds.

Collective bargaining negotiations on the labor market are now less centralized than 10 or 20 years ago, 
and a substantial part of the wage agreement is left to firm specific negotiations. The more centralized part of the 
negotiations may focus on labor market pensions and working hours and are typically settled separately for major 
areas like manufacturing or construction.

Social Legislation and Services

The comprehensive system of social legislation and services in effect in Denmark includes public health 
insurance, old age and disability pensions, employees’ supplemental pensions, workmen’s compensation, 
unemployment insurance, child welfare programs, care of the physically and mentally handicapped, allowances to 
orphans and to single persons with dependents and general public assistance to needy persons.

Foreign Trade and Balance of Payments

Outline

The Danish economy is heavily dependent on foreign trade, with the size of both exports as well as 
imports of goods and services being around 55 per cent. of GDP.

Denmark has traditionally advocated free and fair conditions of international trade. Following Denmark’s 
entry into the EU in January 1973, the EU common tariff policy was gradually implemented. Tariffs and quota 
restrictions are generally prohibited on trade among EU member states. Uniform rules govern the exchange of 
goods by member states with non-member countries.

In 1950, agricultural exports accounted for approximately 68 per cent. of Denmark’s total exports. The 
relative importance of agricultural exports has declined since that time, and agricultural ex-ports accounted for 
approximately 45 per cent. of total goods exports in 1960, approximately 23 per cent. in 1970 and approximately 
9 per cent. in 2007.

Exports of industrial products as a percentage of total exports rose from approximately 50 per cent. in 
1964 to 64 per cent. in 1970. This trend has continued at a slower rate since 1970, with exports of industrial 
products constituting around 75 per cent. of total exports in 2007. While the relative share of industrial exports 
accounted for by most major categories of items has remained fairly constant over the last ten years, the 
importance of some of the less significant items, such as furniture and chemicals, has increased.
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The neighboring countries Germany, the United Kingdom and Sweden together account for over 40 per
cent. of Denmark’s exports and imports. Consequently, Denmark’s foreign trade and balance of payments are 
strongly influenced by economic conditions and activities existing in those countries.

The following table shows the principal items in Denmark’s balance of payments:

Balance of Payments
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Current Account:
Exports, total: 755.7 849.2 883.2 949.3 781.8

Goods 495.2 539.0 547.0 581.0 487.2
Services 260.5 310.2 336.2 368.3 294.6

Imports, total: 673.4 789.0 838.2 901.9 724.5
Goods 451.3 520.8 545.0 584.7 451.5
Services 222.2 268.2 293.2 317.2 273.0

Net export (goods and services)  82.2 60.2 45.0 47.3 57.3
Income, net 9.9 16.8 9.2 19.8 42.7
Current transfers (25.0) (28.4) (29.3) (29.2) (33.7)

Current account surplus 67.1 48.6 25.0 38.0 66,3
_________
Source: Statistics Denmark.

International Investment Position

The following table shows the principal items in Denmark’s international investment position: 

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
2009, 
Q3

(DKK, in billions)
Total assets 1,991 2,293 2,919 3,188 3,559 3,479 3,479
Direct investments 611 691 817 833 920 996 1,102
Portfolio investments 755 916 1,240 1,415 1,526 1,222 1,445
Equity securities 309 369 556 741 793 445 564
Debt securities 446 547 684 674 733 777 881
Other investments 623 686 861 941 1,114 1,262 1,029

Total liabilities 2,387 2,591 3,082 3,393 3,849 3,736 4,045
Direct investments 596 637 737 757 820 798 818
Portfolio investments 948 1,098 1,330 1,425 1,549 1,444 1,776
Equity securities 186 241 311 358 425 245 344
Debt securities 762 857 1,019 1,067 1,124 1,199 1,432
Other investments 842 856 1,015 1,211 1,480 1,493 1452

Net (396) (298) (163) (205) (290) (257) (428)
_________
Source: Danmarks Nationalbank.
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Foreign Reserves

The following table shows the net external monetary position of Denmark at the dates indicated:

Foreign-Exchange Reserves
December 31,

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
(DKK, in billions)

Gold  5.2 5.3 5.1 6.9 7.7 9.1 9.8
Foreign Assets 213.7 208.5 202.6 165.3 161.0 204.5 367.8
Claims on the European Central Bank 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Claims on the IMF 8.0 5.9 3.2 3.3 2.7 3.4 15.7
Foreign Exchange reserve Gross 226.9 219.7 210.9 175.5 171.4 217.0 393.3
Foreign liabilities 3.0 1.6 2.4 3.7 4.6 4.3 4.3
Net Exchange Reserves 223.9 218.1 208.5 171.8 166.8 212.7 389.1

________
Source: Danmarks Nationalbank.

In addition to these reserves Denmark as a member of the EU has access to certain credit facilities within 
the community.

Exchange Rate

Since the beginning of the 1980s it has been a clear and successful policy to maintain the value of the 
Danish Kroner within the EU’s Exchange Rate Mechanism (“ERM”) (since 1999 ERM II), see below. Within the 
ERM II the Danish Kroner is allowed to fluctuate within a band of +/- 2.25 per cent. vis-à-vis the central rate 
against the euro. In practice the fixed exchange rate is kept within a much narrower band.

Exchange Control and Foreign Direct Investment

All exchange controls including regulations of direct investments were abolished as of 1 October 1988.

Monetary Policy

Monetary System

Denmark maintains a fixed-exchange-rate policy vis-à-vis the euro area. This means that the aim of 
monetary and foreign-exchange policy is to keep the Danish Kroner stable vis-à-vis the euro. 

The formal framework for the fixed-exchange-rate policy is the ERM II. Denmark participates at a central 
rate of DKK 746.038 per 100 euro and a fluctuation band of +/- 2.25 per cent. In recent years, Danmarks 
Nationalbank has maintained the Danish Kroner rate closer to the central rate.

When the foreign-exchange market is calm, the fixed-exchange-rate policy means that Danmarks 
Nationalbank adjusts its monetary-policy interest rates (i.e. the discount rate, the current-account rate and the 
lending rate) in step with the ECB’s adjustments of minimum bid rate. In a situation with upward or downward 
pressure on the Danish Kroner or a sustained inflow or outflow of foreign exchange, Danmarks Nationalbank 
independently adjusts its interest rates in order to stabilize the Danish Kroner. 

Danmarks Nationalbank conducts its monetary policy via the monetary-policy counterparties, comprising 
banks and mortgage-credit institutes. The monetary-policy counterparties can make overnight deposits with 
Danmarks Nationalbank, and participate in Danmarks Nationalbank’s weekly market operations. In the weekly 
market operations the counterparties can obtain 7-day loans by pledging securities as collateral, or make 7-day 
deposits by purchasing certificates of deposit. Overnight deposits with Danmarks Nationalbank accrue interest at 
the current-account rate. Danmarks Nationalbank’s 7-day loans bear interest at the lending rate, which is 
equivalent to the rate of interest for certificates of deposit.

Danmarks Nationalbank’s interest rates guide the short-term interest rates in the money market in Danish 
Kroner. In connection with major adjustments to the discount rate, the commercial banks usually also adjust the 
interest rates offered to customers.
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For a more detailed description of the monetary policy in Denmark, see Danmarks Nationalbank’s 
website (www.nationalbanken.dk).

Banking and Other Financial Institutions

At 31 December 2009 the consolidated balance sheet of the MFI sector in Denmark had domestic lending 
of 3,784 billion Danish Kroner (excluding Danmarks Nationalbank). This is a 2 per cent. decrease from end of 
2008. Bank lending totaled 1,359 billion Danish Kroner at end 2009. This is a decrease of 12 per cent. from end 
2008. Mortgage institutions lending totaled 2,279 billion Danish Kroner at end 2009. This is an increase of 5 per
cent. from end 2008. Household lending from banks and mortgage institutions totaled 570 billion Danish Kroner 
and 1,712 billion Danish Kroner respectively. 

Securities Market

The OMX Copenhagen is the major stock exchange in Denmark (earlier named the Copenhagen Stock 
Exchange before being part of the OMX Nordic Exchange) and therefore the place where most listed securities 
are traded and to which trades are reported. The OMX Nordic Exchange covers trading in securities as well as in 
futures and options. 

For further information on the OMX Nordic Exchange see the website: www.omxgroup.com.

The Danish Securities Centre (VP Securities A/S) is a combined central securities depository and clearing 
centre. 

Under the Securities Trading Act of 1996, any credit institution or investment firm from an EU member 
state (or a country with which the EU has an agreement on such matters) carrying a European passport (licence 
from the financial supervisory authority of the company’s home country) can become a member of and trade 
securities on the OMX Nordic Exchange. No physical presence is required. Companies from other countries may 
participate through branches established in Denmark, provided that they obtain a license from the Financial 
Supervisory Authority.

Danmarks Nationalbank

Danmarks Nationalbank is the note-issuing bank and the central bank of Denmark. Danmarks 
Nationalbank was established under and its operations are governed by Danmarks Nationalbank Act of April 7, 
1936 (the “Nationalbank Act”). Although subject ultimately to the legislative control of the Folketing, Danmarks 
Nationalbank is an autonomous institution.

Danmarks Nationalbank’s central banking functions include acting as banker and fiscal agent for the 
Government, conducting open market operations in government and other securities, regulating bank liquidity and 
foreign currencies positions of banks, administering Denmark’s official exchange reserves, acting as clearing 
house for other financial institutions and assisting the Government in the marketing of its domestic and foreign 
bond issues.

In 1991, the management of the debt of the Kingdom was moved from the Ministry of Finance to 
Danmarks Nationalbank.

www.nationalbanken.dk).
www.omxgroup.com.
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The balance sheet of the Danmarks Nationalbank at 31 December 2008 appears in the following table:

Danmarks Nationalbank Balance Sheet at 28 February 2009
(DKK, in billons)

Assets Liabilities
Stock of gold  9,781 Notes 52,609
Foreign assets 388,881 Coins 5,703
Net assets with the IMF 15,684 Foreign liabilities 0,750
Loans, etc. 

15,469
Allocation of Special Drawing Rights in IMF 
(SDRs) ................................................................ 12,419

Bonds and shares, etc. 31,551 Deposits, etc. 7,381
Other lending 3,432
Claims related to banks and
mortgage-credit institutes target 
accounts in the ECB............................ 0,483
Other assets 2,109 Monetary policy deposits 126,106

Central government 201,980
Other liabilities 4,890
Deposits related to the swap facilities with
central banks........................................................  -
Total obligations 411,838
Capital and reserves 58,063

Total assets 469,902 Total liabilities 547,829

_________
Source: Danmarks Nationalbank.

Audit

The state accounts are audited by Rigsrevisionen. Rigsrevisionen is headed by the Auditor General. 
Rigsrevisionen sends the reports and notes to Statsrevisorerne (the Public Accounts Committee). Statsrevisorerne 
consists of six politicians who are appointed by the Parliament’s parties. They are elected for a four-year period 
independently of the national elections. They meet approximately one time per month. Statsrevisorerne is the only 
entity which can request Rigsrevisionen to investigate a particular area. Statsrevisorerne is also responsible for 
any criticism of the ministries and public authorities based on Rigsrevisionen’s reports and notes. It is also 
Statsrevisorerne which speaks to the press and public about which initiatives ought to be taken based on 
Rigsrevisionen’s reports and notes.

Information on Legal Proceedings

To the best of our knowledge, there are no relevant governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings 
(including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened) during the previous 12 months which may have 
a significant effect on the financial position of the Kingdom of Denmark.

The Kingdom of Denmark does not enjoy immunity from judgments rendered against it by the Courts of 
Denmark, with the exception of execution against real property and the contents thereof owned by the Ministry of 
Foreign Affairs and situated outside the Kingdom of Denmark and assets necessary for the proper functioning of 
the Kingdom of Denmark as a sovereign power.

Documents on Display

The Danish Government publishes detailed financial information on itself which is publicly available on 
its website www.governmentdebt.dk. In addition, the Ministry of Finance regularly publishes an update of 
economic data regarding the Danish economy at http://uk.fm.dk/.

www.governmentdebt.dk.
http://uk.fm.dk/.
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DANISH STATE SUPPORT SCHEMES

Danish Act on Financial Stability

Pursuant to the Danish Act No. 1003 of 10 October 2008 on Financial Stability as amended by Act No. 
68 of 3 February 2009 (as further amended from time to time, the “FS Act”), the Kingdom of Denmark has 
unconditionally guaranteed, as provided below, unsubordinated creditors’ claims against losses in Danish banks to 
the extent such claims are not otherwise covered, including claims of deposit holders (the “Guarantee Scheme”).

The Issuer participates in the Guarantee Scheme, which pursuant to the FS Act took effect from 5 
October 2008 and expires on 30 September 2010 (the “Scheme Period”).

The Danish Ministry of Economic and Business Affairs has, as part of the Guarantee Scheme, established 
a public limited company, Finansiel Stabilitet A/S, CVR no. 30515145 (the “Financial Stability Company”), 
which is wholly owned by the Kingdom of Denmark. The objective of the Financial Stability Company is to 
ensure that unsubordinated, unsecured creditors (as defined in the FS Act) in Danish banks and foreign branches 
of Danish banks (only covered if the relevant country has a similar scheme in place) as well as Danish branches of 
foreign banks participating in the Guarantee Scheme are covered in full.

If during the Scheme Period a bank participating in the Guarantee Scheme is taken over by the Financial 
Stability Company, either because of its inability to satisfy the capital adequacy requirements set out in the Danish 
Financial Business Act or it is declared bankrupt, the unsecured creditors of this bank will, through the Financial 
Stability Company, be able to benefit from the Guarantee Scheme to the extent their claims are not otherwise 
covered. The unsecured creditors will thus in this situation have a claim against the Financial Stability Company 
(or a subsidiary set up by the Financial Stability Company for the purpose of taking over such bank). The 
unsecured creditors will not have a direct claim against the Kingdom of Denmark but will have a claim against the 
Financial Stability Company. All obligations of the Financial Stability Company are guaranteed by the Kingdom 
of Denmark. An unsecured creditor will be entitled to refuse a transfer of its claim that is covered by the
Guarantee Scheme to a new legal entity.

Payment obligations in respect of Subordinated Notes and Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes will not be 
eligible for coverage under the Guarantee Scheme.

During the Scheme Period, Unsubordinated Notes issued under the Programme will be covered by the 
Guarantee Scheme if (i) the Unsubordinated Notes fall due for payment no later than at the expiry of the Scheme 
Period and (ii) either (a) the DFSA no later than at the expiry of the Scheme Period has determined a deadline by 
which the Issuer must meet the capital adequacy requirements pursuant to section 225(1) of the Danish Financial 
Business Act and the capital of the Issuer has not been restored before the expiry of such deadline or (b) the Issuer 
becomes subject to bankruptcy proceedings and the bankruptcy petition has been filed on or before the expiry of 
the Scheme Period.

According to section 4(3) of the FS Act, the Financial Stability Company will ensure timely payment of 
claims covered by the Guarantee Scheme.

The Guarantee Scheme is in part funded by the Danish banks participating in the Guarantee Scheme, 
which provides cover for an amount of up to DKK 35 billion of the potential losses under the Guarantee Scheme. 
The contribution comprises an up-front indemnity of an amount up to DKK 10 billion to cover potential losses, 
which is undertaken by the banks participating in the Guarantee Scheme. In addition, the Danish banks 
participating in the Guarantee Scheme have to pay a guarantee commission of DKK 7.5 billion annually. If the 
aggregate losses under the Guarantee Scheme were to exceed DKK 25 billion, the participating Danish banks 
must cover any additional losses up to DKK 10 billion. Over the two-year period of the Guarantee Scheme, the 
total contribution from the participating Danish banks will thus amount to not less than DKK 15 billion and not 
more than DKK 35 billion. The FS Act provides that any losses in the Financial Stability Company exceeding the 
liabilities of the Danish banks participating in the Guarantee Scheme as described above shall be covered by the 
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Kingdom of Denmark. In the preparatory works to the FS Act it is stated that the Kingdom of Denmark is obliged 
to cover all obligations of the Financial Stability Company irrespective of whether the Danish banks participating 
in the Guarantee Scheme fulfil their obligations as described above.

Each Danish bank’s share of the state guarantee commission and the commitment to cover losses under 
the Guarantee Scheme is calculated on the basis of the bank’s past capital base that can be allocated to activities
covered by the guarantee. The Issuer’s share is one third of the total amount, or an annual guarantee commission
of approximately DKK 2.5 billion, and a remaining commitment to cover losses of approximately DKK 4.7
billion, of which DKK 3.3 billion becomes payable only if the Danish financial sector’s need for capital exceeds
DKK 25 billion. As at 31 December 2009, the Group’s total provisions for this commitment amounted to DKK
1.9 billion. The Issuer paid a guarantee commission of DKK 0.6 billion in 2008 and DKK 2.5 billion in 2009.

Participants in the Guarantee Scheme have agreed not to (i) pay dividends, (ii) establish new share 
buyback programs or (iii) issue new share option programs or extend or renew existing programs as long as the
Guarantee Scheme remains in force..

Transition Scheme under FS Act

Chapter 4a of the FS Act established a transition scheme whereby a Danish bank can apply individually 
for a state guarantee of its unsubordinated and unsecured debt and of its supplemental security (junior covered 
bonds) in respect of its covered bonds, in each case issued no later than 31 December 2010 with a maturity of up 
to three years (the “Transition Scheme”). Applications for a state guarantee under the Transition Scheme must be 
submitted no later than 31 December 2010. The Danish Minister of Economic and Business Affairs is authorised 
to extend the 31 December 2010 time limit referred to above.

The Issuer made eight bond issues under the Transition Scheme in June and July 2009 for a total amount 
of DKK 35 billion. The Group has not utilised the state guarantee option since these issues.  The Issuer is eligible 
to apply for a state guarantee in respect of its unsubordinated and unsecured debt, including Unsubordinated 
Notes, and its senior debt (junior covered bonds), in each case issued no later than 31 December 2010 with a 
maturity up to three years, provided that the Issuer satisfies the solvency requirements in the Danish Financial 
Business Act.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the EU Commission has approved of the Transition Scheme only up to 30 
June 2010. At this time, it is uncertain as to whether the EU Commission will extend its approval up to 31 
December 2010. If the approval is not extended, guarantees under the Transition Scheme will not be issued after 
30 June 2010.

Payment obligations in respect of Subordinated Notes, Hybrid Tier 1 Capital Notes and covered bonds 
will not be eligible for coverage under the Transition Scheme.

The Issuer has entered into an Agreement on Terms and Conditions for Granting of the State Guarantee 
(in Danish: Aftale om Vilkår for Ydelse af Statsgaranti) (the “Agreement”) with the Kingdom of Denmark, acting 
through the Financial Stability Company, which contains the overall terms and procedures under which the Issuer 
may issue unsubordinated and unsecured debt, including Unsubordinated Notes under the Programme, as well as 
other notes, senior debt (junior covered bonds) or bilateral or syndicated loans with a state guarantee. 

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Kingdom of Denmark, acting through the Financial Stability Company, 
will, upon the Issuer’s request, issue one or more Programme guarantees (each a “Programme Guarantee”) in 
favour of relevant holders of Unsubordinated Notes having the benefit of the state guarantee. Each Programme 
Guarantee so issued will be valid for a period of 30 days from its date and will be in the form of Programme 
Guarantee annexed to the Agreement.  The form of Programme Guarantee contains the terms of the guarantee and 
the procedure for claiming payment under the guarantee. According to the form of Programme Guarantee, 
individual issues of Unsubordinated Notes issued under the Programme may, upon specific request by the Issuer, 
become state-guaranteed by way of the Kingdom of Denmark issuing an eligibility certificate in the form of 
schedule 1 to the relevant Programme Guarantee in respect of that issue of Unsubordinated Notes, on the 
condition that the Final Terms in respect of that issue of Unsubordinated Notes has been approved by the 
Kingdom of Denmark (such Unsubordinated Notes being referred to as “Guaranteed Notes”). It should be noted 
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that it is the individual issues of Unsubordinated Notes that are guaranteed and not the Programme.  

Copies of each Programme Guarantee so issued, and any eligibility certificates issued pursuant thereto, 
may be inspected during normal business hours at the registered office of the Issuer.

Under the terms of the Agreement, the Issuer shall pay a guarantee commission. The Issuer will receive a 
rebate for the commission paid under the original Guarantee Scheme until the Scheme Period expires on 30 
September 2010.

It is a requirement under the Agreement and the Programme Guarantee that any amendment to, or 
variation, waiver, or release of any obligation of the Issuer in respect of any Series of Guaranteed Notes, however 
fundamental, shall require the prior written consent of the Kingdom of Denmark in its capacity as guarantor.

State-funded Injection of Tier 1 Hybrid Capital

Pursuant to the Danish Act No. 67 of 3 February 2009 on State Capital Injections in Credit Institutions 
etc., as amended (the “Credit Act”), a scheme has been set up whereby the Danish state will offer to inject 
state-funded tier 1 hybrid capital and/or to underwrite issues of tier 1 hybrid capital for Danish banks and 
mortgage credit institutions.

The capital injections will be in the form of tier 1 hybrid capital without a set maturity and a possibility 
for redemption after three years. Redemption will be subject to approval from the DFSA. 

Danish banks and mortgage credit institutions that are in compliance with the solvency requirements in 
the Danish Financial Business Act are eligible to apply for a capital injection from the Danish state.

The law generally requires that any state-funded capital injection be of a size ensuring that the credit 
institution attains 12 per cent. in tier 1 capital as a minimum. Credit institutions which have a tier 1 capital of 9 
per cent. or above before any state-funded capital injection are entitled to apply for an injection of tier 1 capital of 
3 per cent. but may choose a lower amount if the 12 per cent. minimum is met after the injection. However, credit 
institutions with a tier 1 capital below 9 per cent. must apply for a capital injection equivalent to the difference 
between 12 per cent. tier 1 capital and their existing tier 1 capital.

The credit institutions will be required to pay interest on state-funded capital injections at individual rates 
ranging from approximately 9 per cent. to approximately 11.25 per cent. per annum. After a period of three years, 
the rate used will be the higher of (i) the interest rate fixed and (ii) an interest rate calculated by multiplying (a) 
125 per cent. of the individual institution’s dividend payments to its shareholders by (b) the amount of the state-
funded capital injection divided by an amount equal to the value of the credit institution at the time of the state-
funded capital injection.

The Danish government will determine interest rates, terms for early redemption, and other provisions of 
the capital injections on a bank-by-bank basis. 

The dividend-indexed coupon presupposes that a capital injection is approved by the general meeting of a 
bank.

At the general meeting of the Issuer held on 4 March 2009, the shareholders authorised the Board of 
Directors to apply for and implement a tier 1 hybrid capital injection from the Danish state. In May 2009, Danske 
Bank and Realkredit Danmark received subordinated loan capital from the Danish state in the form of hybrid core 
capital of approximately DKK 24 billion and approximately DKK 2 billion, respectively. Until 14 May 2014, the 
Issuer will have the option to gradually convert the loan capital into shares in the Issuer if the hybrid core capital 
exceeds 35 per cent. of total core capital. Further, the Issuer must convert part of the loan capital into share capital 
if the hybrid core capital exceeds 50 per cent. of total core capital. The conversion must be made at market price. 
The interest rate (defined as “annual yield”) on the loans from the Danish state is 9.265 per cent. per annum,  of 
which the margin, calculated on the basis of the Group’s average external ratings, constitutes 0.375 of a 
percentage point. Payment for the conversion option is 0.5 of a percentage point per annum. The interest rate will 
increase if the Issuer pays dividends in excess of DKK 3.4 billion per annum. 
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Pursuant to the agreement on state-funded capital injection between the Issuer and the Danish state, dated 
5 May 2009 (the “State-funded Hybrid Agreement”), the Issuer has undertaken at the time of the conclusion of 
the State-funded Hybrid Agreement and during the entire term of the State-funded Hybrid Agreement to fulfill 
certain obligations, including those listed below, provided that clause (iv) shall continue to apply until the Danish 
state has disposed of any and all shares in the Issuer received through conversion of the notes to share capital in 
the Issuer in accordance with the State-funded Hybrid Agreement. In this paragraph, “term of the State-funded 
Hybrid Agreement” shall mean the period from the date of the State-funded Hybrid Agreement until the earlier of 
the time when (i) all amounts payable under the loan, including interest and costs, have been repaid in full, 
cancelled or converted into equity under the State-funded Hybrid Agreement and the loan notes agreement, or (ii) 
the Danish state has transferred all notes and has thus ceased to be creditor of all or part of the loan. 

The State-funded Hybrid Agreement, which is annexed to the Articles of Association, among others, sets 
forth the following obligations for the Issuer: 

(i) The Issuer shall not (i) effect any capital reductions except to cover losses or to write down share capital 
in accordance with the loan notes agreement or (ii) purchase own shares, including initiating new share 
buy back programs, if such purchase will constitute a violation of the Credit Act. The Issuer may not 
sell own shares on terms and conditions that are more burdensome for the Issuer than market terms 
unless it is necessary to do so in order to honor the Issuer’s employee stock option programs.

(ii) The Issuer shall not distribute dividends prior to 1 October 2010. After 1 October 2010, dividends may 
only be distributed to the extent that the dividends can be financed by the Issuer’s net profits after taxes, 
which may be added to the distributable reserves, as generated in the period following 1 October 2010.

(iii) The Issuer may not use funds to capitalize businesses in violation of the Credit Act. The Issuer may not 
make acquisition of shares that would constitute a violation of the Credit Act. All agreements and 
transactions with Group entities shall be concluded on arm’s length terms.

(iv) The Issuer may not in its Articles of Association introduce restrictions on ownership, voting rights, 
negotiability, nor may the Issuer introduce share classes.

(v) The Issuer may not (i) initiate new share option programs or other similar plans for the Executive Board 
or prolong or renew existing programs; (ii) remunerate the members of the Executive Board by variable 
pay elements to an extent exceeding 20 per cent. of the total basic salary including pension; (iii) issue 
bonus shares at a favorable price or use similar beneficial schemes for the Executive Board; or (iv) 
make tax deductions of more than half the Executive Board’s salaries, to the extent that such action 
would constitute a violation of the Credit Act. The Issuer shall state the amount at which tax deductions 
have been made in a note to the annual report. 

(vi) No later than on 31 March and 30 September of each year, the Issuer shall present a statement on its 
lending activities in the immediately preceding period from 1 July to 31 December and 1 January to 30 
June, respectively, to the Danish state in accordance with the Credit Act. The statement on lending 
activities shall be published as provided by the Credit Act.

(vii) The Issuer shall deliver to the Danish state a draft of any company announcement or press release 
relating to the State-funded Hybrid Agreement, the loan notes agreement or the notes as soon as 
possible prior to the disclosure of such press release or announcement. Furthermore, if the Issuer intends 
or has taken a decision to convert any notes or interest into shares as set out in the loan notes agreement, 
the Issuer shall, until such conversion has been given up or completed, as applicable, deliver to the 
Danish state a draft of any company announcements or press release as soon as possible prior to the 
disclosure of such press release or announcement. 

The description of the state-funded injection of tier 1 hybrid capital is given for disclosure and 
information purposes only.
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Notes may be sold from time to time by the Issuer to any one or more of Barclays Bank PLC, Citigroup 
Global Markets Limited, Credit Suisse Securities (Europe) Limited, Danske Bank A/S, Deutsche Bank AG, 
London Branch, Goldman Sachs International, J.P. Morgan Securities Ltd., Merrill Lynch International, Morgan 
Stanley & Co. International plc and UBS Limited (the “Dealers”). Notes may also be sold by the Issuer directly to 
institutions who are not Dealers. The arrangements under which Notes may from time to time be agreed to be sold 
by the Issuer to, and purchased by, Dealers are set out in an amended and restated dealership agreement dated 25 
March 2010 (the “Dealership Agreement” which expression shall include any amendments or supplements 
thereto or any amendment and restatement thereof) and made between the Issuer and the Dealers. Any such 
agreement will, inter alia, make provision for the form and terms and conditions of the relevant Notes, the price at 
which such Notes will be purchased by the Dealers and the commissions or other agreed deductibles (if any) 
payable or allowable by the Issuer in respect of such purchase. The Dealership Agreement makes provision for the 
resignation or termination of the appointment of existing Dealers and for the appointment of additional or other 
Dealers either generally in respect of the Programme or in relation to a particular Tranche of Notes.

United States of America: Regulation S Category 2; TEFRA D, unless TEFRA C is specified as applicable in the 
relevant Final Terms; Rule 144A eligible if so specified in the relevant Final Terms.

Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or sold 
within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except that Notes in registered form 
may be offered or sold to qualified institutional buyers (as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act) in 
reliance on the exemption from registration requirements of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A. Terms 
used in the preceding sentence have the meanings given to them by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

Notes in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered 
within the United States or its possessions or to U.S. persons, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax 
regulations. Terms used in the preceding sentence have the meanings given to them by the United States Internal 
Revenue Code and regulations thereunder.

Each Dealer has agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree, 
that, except as permitted by the Dealership Agreement, it will not offer, sell or deliver Notes, (i) as part of their 
distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the distribution of the Notes 
comprising the relevant Tranche, as certified to the Fiscal Agent or the Issuer by such Dealer (or, in the case of a 
sale of a Tranche of Notes to or through more than one Dealer, by each of such Dealers as to the Notes of such 
Tranche purchased by or through it, in which case the Fiscal Agent or the Issuer shall notify each such Dealer 
when all such Dealers have so certified) (the “distribution compliance period”) within the United States or to, or 
for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (other than Notes sold pursuant to Rule 144A), and it will have sent to 
each distributor, dealer or person to which it sells Notes during the distribution compliance period a confirmation 
or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for 
the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. Terms used in this paragraph have the respective meanings given to them 
by Regulation S under the Securities Act.

In addition, until forty days after the commencement of the offering of Notes comprising any Tranche, any 
offer or sale of Notes within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may 
violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in 
accordance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act (if available).

European Economic Area

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus 
Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”), each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer 
appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that with effect from and including the 
date on which the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State (the “Relevant 
Implementation Date”) it has not made and will not make an offer of Notes which are the subject of the offering 
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contemplated by this Base Prospectus as completed by the final terms in relation thereto to the public in that 
Relevant Member State except that it may, with effect from and including the Relevant Implementation Date, 
make an offer of such Notes to the public in that Relevant Member State:

(i) if the final terms in relation to the Notes specify that an offer of those Notes may be made other than 
pursuant to Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State (a “Non-exempt 
Offer”), following the date of publication of a prospectus in relation to such Notes which has been 
approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member State or, where appropriate, approved
in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that Relevant Member 
State, provided that any such prospectus has subsequently been completed by the final terms 
contemplating such Non-exempt Offer, in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, in the period 
beginning and ending on the dates specified in such prospectus or final terms, as applicable;

(ii) at any time to legal entities which are authorised or regulated to operate in the financial markets or, 
if not so authorised or regulated, whose corporate purpose is solely to invest in securities;

(iii) at any time to any legal entity which has two or more of (a) an average of at least 250 employees 
during the last financial year; (b) a total balance sheet of more than EUR 43,000,000 and (c) an 
annual net turnover of more than EUR 50,000,000, as shown in its last annual or consolidated 
accounts;

(iv) at any time to fewer than 100 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the 
Prospectus Directive) subject to obtaining the prior consent of the relevant Dealer(s) nominated by 
the Issuer for any such offer; or

(v) at any time in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive,

provided that no such offer of Notes referred to in (ii) to (v) above shall require the Issuer or any Dealer to publish 
a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 16 of 
the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an “offer of Notes to the public” in relation to any Notes 
in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information 
on the terms of the offer and the Notes to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe 
the Notes, as the same may be varied in that Member State by any measure implementing the Prospectus Directive 
in that Member State and the expression Prospectus Directive means Directive 2003/71/EC and includes any 
relevant implementing measure in each Relevant Member State.

United Kingdom

Each Dealer has further represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme 
will be required to represent and agree, that:

(a) Financial promotion: it has only communicated or caused to be communicated, and will only 
communicate or cause to be communicated, any invitation or inducement to engage in investment 
activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000) received 
by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the 
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 would not, if the Issuer was not an authorised person, 
apply to the Issuer; and

(b) General compliance: it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000 with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from 
or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.
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Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of 
Japan (Law No.25 of 1948, as amended; the “FIEA”) and each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each 
further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it will not offer or sell 
any Notes, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (as defined under Item 
5, Paragraph 1, Article 6 of the Foreign Exchange and Foreign Trade Control Law (Law No. 228 of 1949, as 
amended)), or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, a 
resident of Japan, except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in 
compliance with, the FIEA and any other applicable laws, regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan.

Denmark

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be 
required to represent and agree, that it has not offered or sold and will not offer, sell or deliver any Notes directly 
or indirectly in Denmark by way of a public offering, unless in compliance with the Danish Consolidated Act No. 
795 of 20 August 2009 on Trading in Securities, as amended, and any Executive Orders issued thereunder and in 
compliance with Executive Order 964 of 30 September 2009 to the Danish Financial Business Act.

Each Dealer has further represented and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme 
will be required to represent and agree, that it has not advertised and will not advertise any issue of Subordinated 
Notes to retail investors in Denmark or provide to such investors any advisory service unless in compliance with 
the rules laid down by the Danish Financial Supervisory Authority in Executive Order No. 964 of 30 September 
2009 on Investor Protection.

General

With the exception of the application to the CSSF for the approval of this document as a Base Prospectus 
issued in compliance with the Prospectus Directive and relevant implementing measures in Luxembourg, no 
action has been or will be taken in any country or jurisdiction by the Issuer or the Dealers that would permit a 
public offering of Notes, or possession or distribution of any offering material in relation thereto, in any country 
or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Persons into whose hands this Base Prospectus or any 
Final Term comes are required by the Issuer and the Dealers to comply with all applicable laws and regulations in 
each country or jurisdiction in or from which they purchase, offer, sell or deliver Notes or have in their possession 
or distribute such offering material, in all cases at their own expense.

The Dealership Agreement provides that the Dealers shall not be bound by any of the restrictions relating 
to any specific jurisdiction (set out above) to the extent that such restrictions shall, as a result of change(s) or 
change(s) in official interpretation, after the date hereof, of applicable laws and regulations, no longer be 
applicable but without prejudice to the obligations of the Dealers described in the paragraph headed “General” 
above.

Selling restrictions may be supplemented or modified with the agreement of the Issuer. Any such 
supplement or modification will be set out in the relevant Final Terms (in the case of a supplement or 
modification relevant only to a particular Tranche of Notes) or (in any other case) in a supplement to this 
document.
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TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

As a result of the following restrictions, purchasers of Notes in the United States are advised to consult 
legal counsel prior to making any offer, resale, pledge or transfer of such Notes.

On or prior to the 40th day after the Closing Date, a beneficial interest in a Regulation S Global Note may 
be transferred to a person who wishes to take delivery of such beneficial interest through the relevant Rule 144A 
Global Note only upon receipt by the Registrar of a written certification (in the form set out in the schedule to the 
Agency Agreement) from the transferor to the effect that such transfer is being made to a person whom the 
transferor reasonably believes is a QIB within the meaning of Rule 144A, in a transaction meeting the 
requirements of Rule 144A and in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state of the United States 
or any other jurisdiction. After such 40th day, such certification requirements will no longer apply to such 
transfers, but such transfers will continue to be subject to the transfer restrictions contained in the legend 
appearing on the face of such Note, as set out below.

A beneficial interest in a Rule 144A Global Note may also be transferred to a person who wishes to take 
delivery of such beneficial interest through the relevant Regulation S Global Note only upon receipt by the 
Registrar of a written certification (in the form set out in the schedule to the Agency Agreement) from the 
transferor to the effect that such transfer is being made in accordance with Regulation S or Rule 144A (if 
available) under the Securities Act.

Any beneficial interest in either a Regulation S Global Note or a Rule 144A Global Note that is transferred 
to a person who takes delivery in the form of a beneficial interest in the other Global Note will, upon transfer, 
cease to be a beneficial interest in such Global Note and become a beneficial interest in the other Global Note and, 
accordingly, will thereafter be subject to all transfer restrictions and other procedures applicable to a beneficial 
interest in such other Global Note for so long as such person retains such an interest.

Each purchaser of the Notes who is in the United States or who is a U.S. Person or purchasing for the 
account of a U.S. Person will be deemed to have represented and agreed as follows (terms used herein that are 
defined in Regulation S or Rule 144A are used herein as defined therein):

(i) It is purchasing the Notes for its own account or an account with respect to which it exercises sole 
investment discretion and it and any such account is either (a) a non-U.S. person that is outside the 
United States (or a non-U.S. person that is a dealer or other fiduciary as referred to above) in 
accordance with Rule 903 or 904 of Regulation S or (b) a QIB, and is aware that the sale to it is 
being made in reliance on Rule 144A.

(ii) The Notes are being offered only in a transaction not involving any public offering in the United 
States within the meaning of the Securities Act, and the Notes offered hereby have not been and will 
not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be reoffered, resold, pledged or otherwise 
transferred except in accordance with the legend set forth below.

(iii) It understands and agrees that Notes offered outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S 
will be represented by Regulation S Global Notes and that Notes initially offered in the United 
States to QIBs will be represented by Rule 144A Global Notes.

(iv) It shall not resell or otherwise transfer any of such Notes except (a) to the Issuer or by, through, or in 
a transaction approved by a Dealer, (b) outside the United States, in compliance with Rule 903 or 
904 of Regulation S, (c) within the United States to a QIB in a transaction complying with Rule 
144A, (d) pursuant to the exemption from registration provided by Rule 144 under the Securities Act 
(if available) or (e) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act.

(v) It agrees that it will deliver to each person to whom it transfers the Notes notice of any restrictions 
on transfer of such Notes.
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(vi) All Rule 144A Global Notes and any Definitive Notes issued in exchange therefor, if any will bear a 
legend to the following effect, unless the Issuer determines otherwise in accordance with applicable 
law:

“THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 
1933, AS AMENDED (THE “U.S. SECURITIES ACT”) OR ANY OTHER SECURITIES 
LAWS. THE HOLDER HEREOF, BY PURCHASING THIS NOTE, AGREES FOR THE 
BENEFIT OF DANSKE BANK A/S (THE “ISSUER”) THAT THIS NOTE MAY BE 
OFFERED, RESOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED ONLY (1) TO THE 
ISSUER OR BY, THROUGH OR IN A TRANSACTION APPROVED BY A DEALER, (2) IN 
AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 903 OR 904 OF 
REGULATION S UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT, (3) SO LONG AS THIS 
SECURITY IS ELIGIBLE FOR RESALE PURSUANT TO RULE 144A UNDER THE U.S. 
SECURITIES ACT (“RULE 144A”), TO A PERSON WHO THE SELLER REASONABLY 
BELIEVES IS A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER (AS DEFINED IN RULE 144A) IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 144A, (4) PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM 
REGISTRATION UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 144 UNDER 
THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT (IF AVAILABLE) OR (5) PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE 
REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT, AND IN EACH OF 
SUCH CASES IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF 
ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER APPLICABLE JURISDICTION. 
THE HOLDER HEREOF, BY PURCHASING THIS NOTE, REPRESENTS AND AGREES 
FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE ISSUER THAT IT WILL NOTIFY ANY PURCHASER OF 
THIS SECURITY FROM IT OF THE RESALE RESTRICTIONS REFERRED TO ABOVE.

BY ITS ACQUISITION AND HOLDING OF THIS NOTE OR ANY INTEREST HEREIN, 
THE PURCHASER AND HOLDER HEREOF AND EACH TRANSFEREE WILL BE 
DEEMED TO HAVE REPRESENTED AND AGREED AT THE TIME OF ITS PURCHASE 
AND THROUGHOUT THE PERIOD THAT IT HOLDS THIS NOTE OR INTEREST 
HEREIN, THAT (1) EITHER (A) IT IS NOT AND IS NOT ACTING ON BEHALF OF (AND 
WILL NOT BE AND WILL NOT BE ACTING ON BEHALF OF), DIRECTLY OR 
INDIRECTLY, AN EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN (AS DEFINED IN SECTION 3(3) OF 
THE U.S. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT INCOME SECURITY ACT OF 1974, AS 
AMENDED (“ERISA”)) SUBJECT TO TITLE I OF ERISA, A PLAN TO WHICH SECTION 
4975 OF THE U.S. INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED (THE “CODE”), 
APPLIES OR AN ENTITY WHOSE UNDERLYING ASSETS INCLUDE “PLAN ASSETS” 
BY REASON OF ANY SUCH PLAN’S OR EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN’S INVESTMENT 
IN THE ENTITY OR (B) THE ACQUISITION, HOLDING AND DISPOSITION OF THIS 
NOTE BY SUCH PURCHASER OR TRANSFEREE DOES NOT AND WILL NOT 
CONSTITUTE A NON-EXEMPT PROHIBITED TRANSACTION UNDER ERISA OR 
SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE.”

(vii) It acknowledges that the Registrar will not be required to accept for registration of transfer any 
Notes acquired by it, except upon presentation of evidence satisfactory to the Issuer and the 
Registrar that the restrictions set forth herein have been complied with.

(viii) It acknowledges that the Issuer, the Dealers and others will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the 
foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements, and agrees that if any of the 
acknowledgements, representations or agreements deemed to have been made by it by its purchase 
of the Notes are no longer accurate, it shall promptly notify the Issuer and the Dealers. If it is 
acquiring any Notes as a fiduciary or agent for one or more investor accounts, it represents that it has 
sole investment discretion with respect to each such account and it has full power to make the 
foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements on behalf of each such account.
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(ix) It has received the information, if any, requested by it pursuant to Rule 144A, has had full 
opportunity to review such information and has received all additional information necessary to 
verify such information.
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DEPOSITARY PROCEDURES

The following description of the operations and procedures of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, 
Luxembourg is provided solely as a matter of convenience. These operations and procedures are solely within the 
control of the respective settlement systems and are subject to changes by them from time to time. The Issuer and 
the Dealers take no responsibility for these operations and procedures and urge investors to contact the system of 
their participants directly to discuss these matters. 

DTC has advised the Issuer that DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the laws of the 
State of New York, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the 
New York Uniform Commercial Code and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provision of Section 
17A of the Exchange Act. DTC was created to hold securities for its participating organizations (collectively, the 
“Participants”) and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of transactions in those securities between 
Participants through electronic book-entry changes in the accounts of its Participants. The Participants include 
securities brokers and dealers (including the Agents, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain 
other organizations). Access to DTC’s system is also available to other entities such as banks, brokers, dealers and 
trust companies, that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Participant either directly or 
indirectly (collectively, the “Indirect Participants”). Persons who are not Participants may beneficially own 
securities held by or on behalf of DTC only through the Participant or the Indirect Participants. The ownership 
interests in, and transfers of ownership interests in, each security held by or on behalf of DTC are recorded on the 
records of the Participant and Indirect Participants. 

DTC has also advised the Issuer that, pursuant to procedures established by it, (i) upon deposit of Global 
Notes, DTC will credit the accounts of Participants designated by the initial purchasers with portions of the 
principal amount of the Global Notes and (ii) ownership of such interest in the Global Notes will be shown on, 
and the transfer of ownership thereof will be affected only through, records maintained by DTC (with respect to 
the Participants) or by the Participants and the Indirect Participants (with respect to other owners of beneficial 
interests in the Global Notes).

Investors in the Global Notes may hold their interest therein directly through DTC, if they are Participants 
in such system, or indirectly through organizations (including Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg) which are 
Participants in such system. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will hold interests in the Regulation S 
Global Note on behalf of their participants through customers’ securities accounts in their respective names on the 
books of their respective depositories. All interests in a Global Note, including those held through Euroclear or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg, may be subject to the procedures and requirements of DTC. Those interests held 
through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg may also be subject to the procedures and requirements of such 
systems. The laws of some states require that certain persons take physical delivery in definitive form of securities 
that they own. Consequently, the ability to transfer beneficial interests in a Global Note to such persons will be 
limited to that extent. Because DTC can act only on behalf of Participants, which in turn act on behalf of Indirect 
Participants and certain banks, the ability of a person having a beneficial interest in a Global Note to pledge such 
interest to persons or entities that do not participate in the DTC system, or otherwise take actions in respect of 
such interest, may be affected by the lack of a physical certificate evidencing such interest. Except as described 
below, owners of interests in the Global Notes registered in the name of DTC or its nominee will not be 
considered the registered owners or “Holders” thereof under the Agency Agreement for any purpose. 

Payments in respect of the principal, premium, if any, and interest on a Global Note registered in the name 
of DTC or its nominee will be payable to DTC in its capacity as the registered Holder under the Agency 
Agreement. Under the terms of the Agency Agreement, the Issuer will treat the persons in whose names the 
Notes, including the Global Notes, are registered as the owners thereof for the purpose of receiving such payments 
and for any and all other purposes whatsoever. Consequently, neither the Issuer, the Registrar nor any agent of, 
the Issuer or the Registrar has or will have any responsibility or liability for (i) any aspect of DTC’s records or any 
Participants’ or Indirect Participants’ records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership 
interests in the Global Notes, or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any of DTC’s records or any 
Participant’s or Indirect Participants’ records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership 
interests in the Global Notes or (ii) any other matter relating to the actions and practices of DTC or any of its 
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Participants or Indirect Participants. DTC has advised the Issuer that its current practice, upon receipt of any 
payment in respect of securities such as the Notes (including principal and interest), is to credit the accounts of the 
relevant Participants with the payment on the interest payment date, in amounts proportionate to their respective 
holdings in the principal amount of the beneficial interests in the relevant security as shown on the records of 
DTC unless DTC has reason to believe it will not receive payment on such interest payment date. Payments by the 
Participants and the Indirect Participants to the beneficial owners of Notes will be governed by standing 
instructions and customary practices and will be the responsibility of the Participants or the Indirect Participants 
and will not be the responsibility of DTC or the Issuer. Neither the Issuer nor the Registrar will be liable for any 
delay by DTC or any of its Participants in identifying the beneficial owners of the Notes, and the Issuer and the 
Registrar may conclusively rely on and will be protected in relying on instructions from DTC or its nominee for 
all purposes. 

Except for trades involving only Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg participants, interests in the 
Global Notes are expected to be eligible to trade in DTC’s Same Day Funds Settlement System, and secondary 
market trading activity in such interests will, therefore, settle in immediately available funds, subject in all cases 
to the rules and procedures of DTC and its Participants. See “—Same Day Settlement and Payment” below. 

Subject to the transfer restrictions set forth under “Transfer Restrictions,” transfers between Participants in 
DTC will be effected in accordance with DTC’s procedures, and will be settled in same day funds, and transfers 
between participants in Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will be effected in the ordinary way in 
accordance with their respective rules and operating procedures. 

Subject to compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Notes described herein, cross-market 
transfers between the Participants in DTC, on the one hand, and Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg
participants, on the other hand, will be effected through DTC in accordance with DTC’s rules on behalf of 
Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, by its respective depositary; however, such cross-
market transactions will require delivery of instructions to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case 
may be, by the counterparty in such system in accordance with the rules and procedures and within the established 
deadlines (Brussels time) of such system. Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, will, if the 
transaction meets its settlement requirements, deliver instructions to its respective depositary to take action to 
effect final settlements on its behalf by delivering or receiving interests in the relevant Global Note in DTC, and 
making or receiving payment in accordance with normal procedures for same-day funds settlement applicable to 
DTC. Euroclear participants and Clearstream, Luxembourg participants may not deliver instructions directly to 
the depositories for Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg. 

DTC has advised the Issuer that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a Holder of Notes only at 
the direction of one or more Participants to whose account DTC has credited the interest in the Global Notes and 
only in respect of such portion of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes as to which such Participant or 
Participants has or have given such direction. However, if there is an event of default under the Notes, DTC 
reserves the right to exchange the Global Notes for Definitive Notes, and to distribute such Notes to its 
Participants (as described below). 

Although DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have agreed to the foregoing procedures to 
facilitate transfers of interest in the Global Notes among Participants in DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, 
Luxembourg, they are under no obligation to perform or to continue to perform such procedures, and such 
procedures may be discontinued at any time. Neither the Issuer, the Registrar nor any of their respective agents 
will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or their 
respective participants or indirect participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures 
governing their operations. 

Exchange of Global Notes for Definitive Notes in registered form

A Global Note is exchangeable for a Definitive Note in registered form if (i) DTC notifies the Issuer that it 
is unwilling or unable to continue as depositary for the Global Notes or has ceased to be a clearing agency 
registered under the Exchange Act and, in either case, the Issuer thereupon fails to appoint a successor depositary 
within 120 days after the date of such notice or (ii) the Issuer, at its option, notifies the Registrar and the Registrar 
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in writing that it has elected to cause the issuance of Definitive Notes or (iii) DTC so requests after there shall 
have occurred and been continuing an event of default with respect to the relevant series of Notes. In all cases, 
Definitive Notes delivered in exchange for any Global Notes or beneficial interests therein will be registered in 
the names, and issued in any approved denominations, requested by or on behalf of the depositary in accordance 
with its customary procedures and will bear the restrictive legend referred to in “Transfer Restrictions,” unless the 
Issuer determines otherwise in compliance with applicable law. 

Exchange of Definitive Notes for Global Notes 

Definitive Notes that are restricted securities as defined in Rule 144(a)(3) under the Securities Act 
(“Restricted Securities”) may not be transferred for beneficial interests in any Global Note unless the transferor 
first delivers to the Registrar a written certificate to the effect that such transfer will comply with the appropriate 
transfer restrictions applicable to such Notes. 

Exchange or Transfer of Definitive Notes 

Definitive Notes may be exchanged or transferred by a holder by presenting or surrendering such 
Definitive Notes at the office of the Registrar with a written instruction of transfer in form satisfactory to the 
Registrar, duly executed by such holder or his attorney, duly authorized in writing. If the Notes being exchanged 
or transferred are Restricted Securities, such holder shall also provide a written certificate to the effect that such 
transfer will comply with the appropriate transfer restriction applicable to such Notes. 

Exchange Among Regulation S Global Note and Rule 144A Global Note 

Prior to the expiration of the distribution compliance period, interests in a Regulation S Global Note may 
be transferred to a person who wishes to hold an interest in a Rule 144A Global Note only upon receipt by the 
Registrar of a written certification from the transferor (in the form set out in the Agency Agreement) to the effect 
that such transfer is being made to a person whom the transferor reasonably believes is a QIB within the meaning 
of Rule 144A purchasing for its own account or for the account of a QIB, in a transaction meeting the 
requirements of Rule 144A and in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state of the United States. 

Interests in a Rule 144A Global Note may also be transferred to a person who wishes to hold an interest 
through a Regulation S Global Note, but only upon receipt by the Registrar of a written certification from the 
transferor to the effect that such transfer is being made in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S 
or with Rule 144 (if available) under the Securities Act. 

Any interest in either a Regulation S Global Note or a Rule 144A Global Note that is transferred to a 
person who takes delivery in the form of an interest in the other Global Note will, upon transfer, cease to be an 
interest in such Global Note and become an interest in the other Global Note and, accordingly, will thereafter be 
subject to all transfer restrictions and other procedures applicable to an interest in such other Global Note. 

Same Day Settlement and Payment 

The Notes represented by the Global Notes will be eligible to trade in DTC’s Same Day Funds Settlement 
System, and any permitted secondary market trading activity in such Notes will, therefore, be required by DTC to 
be settled in immediately available funds. The Issuer expects that secondary trading in any Definitive Notes will 
also be settled in immediately available funds. 

Because of time zone differences, the securities account of a Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg
participant purchasing an interest in a Global Note from a Participant in DTC will be credited, and any such 
crediting will be reported to the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg participant, during the securities 
settlement processing day (which must be a business day for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg) 
immediately following the settlement date of DTC. DTC has advised the Issuer that cash received in Euroclear or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg as a result of sales of interest in a Global Note by or through a Clearstream, 
Luxembourg participant to a Participant in DTC will be received with value on the settlement date of DTC but 
will be available in the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg cash account only as of the business day 
for Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg following DTC’s settlement date. 
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TAXATION

The following is a general description of relevant tax considerations and is not to be regarded as a complete 
tax analysis of all tax issues related to the Notes. Prospective holders of Notes should consult their professional 
tax advisers if they are in doubt about their own tax position.

Denmark Taxation

According to the Danish tax laws in effect as of the date of this Base Prospectus, (i) payments of interest or 
principal amounts to any holder of a Note are not subject to taxation in Denmark, (ii) no withholding tax will be 
required on such payments and (iii) any gain realised upon the sale, exchange or retirement of a Note will not be 
subject to taxation in Denmark. This tax treatment applies solely to holders of Notes who are not subject to full 
tax liability in Denmark or included in a Danish joint taxation scheme and do not carry on business in Denmark 
through a permanent establishment.

Luxembourg Taxation

The following summary is of a general nature and is included herein solely for information purposes. It is 
based on the laws presently in force in Luxembourg, though it is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to 
be, legal or tax advice. Prospective investors in the Notes should therefore consult their own professional advisers 
as to the effects of state, local or foreign laws, including Luxembourg tax law, to which they may be subject.

Withholding Tax

Non-resident holders of Notes

Under Luxembourg general tax laws currently in force and subject to the laws of 21 June 2005 (the 
“Laws”) mentioned below, there is no withholding tax on payments of principal, premium or interest made to 
non-resident holders of Notes, nor on accrued but unpaid interest in respect of the Notes, nor is any Luxembourg 
withholding tax payable upon redemption or repurchase of the Notes held by non-resident holders of Notes.

Under the Laws implementing the EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC of 3 June 2003 on taxation of savings 
income in the form of interest payments and ratifying the treaties entered into by Luxembourg and certain 
dependent and associated territories of EU Member States (the “Territories”), payments of interest or similar 
income made or ascribed by a paying agent established in Luxembourg to or for the immediate benefit of an 
individual beneficial owner or a residual entity, as defined by the Laws, which is a resident of, or established in, 
an EU Member State (other than Luxembourg) or one of the Territories will be subject to a withholding tax unless 
the relevant recipient has adequately instructed the relevant paying agent to provide details of the relevant 
payments of interest or similar income to the fiscal authorities of his/her/its country of residence or establishment, 
or, in the case of an individual beneficial owner, has provided a tax certificate issued by the fiscal authorities of 
his/her country of residence in the required format to the relevant paying agent. Where withholding tax is applied, 
it is currently levied at a rate of 20 per cent. and will be levied at a rate of 35 per cent. as of 1 July 2011. 
Responsibility for the withholding of the tax will be assumed by the Luxembourg paying agent. Payments of 
interest under the Notes coming within the scope of the Laws would at present be subject to withholding tax of 20 
per cent.

Resident holders of Notes

Under Luxembourg general tax laws currently in force and subject to the law of 23 December 2005 (the 
“Law”) mentioned below, there is no withholding tax on payments of principal, premium or interest made to 
Luxembourg resident holders of Notes, nor on accrued but unpaid interest in respect of Notes, nor is any 
Luxembourg withholding tax payable upon redemption or repurchase of Notes held by Luxembourg resident 
holders of Notes.

Under the Law payments of interest or similar income made or ascribed by a paying agent established in 
Luxembourg to or for the benefit of an individual beneficial owner who is a resident of Luxembourg will be 
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subject to a withholding tax of 10 per cent. Such withholding tax will be in full discharge of income tax if the 
beneficial owner is an individual acting in the course of the management of his/her private wealth. Responsibility 
for the withholding of the tax will be assumed by the Luxembourg paying agent. Payments of interest under the 
Notes coming within the scope of the Law would be subject to withholding tax of 10 per cent.

EU Savings Directive

Under EC Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, Member States are required to 
provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest (or similar income) paid by 
a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in that other Member State or to certain limited types of 
entities established in that other Member State. However, for a transitional period, Luxembourg and Austria are 
instead required (unless during that period they elect otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to 
such payments (the ending of such transitional period being dependent upon the conclusion of certain other 
agreements relating to information exchange with certain other countries). A number of non-EU countries and 
territories including Switzerland have adopted similar measures (a withholding system in the case of Switzerland).

On 15 September 2008 the European Commission issued a report to the Council of the European Union on 
the operation of the Directive, which included the Commission’s advice on the need for changes to the Directive. 
On 13 November 2008 the European Commission published a more detailed proposal for amendments to the 
Directive, which included a number of suggested changes. The European Parliament approved an amended 
version of this proposal on 24 April 2009. If any of those proposed changes are made in relation to the Directive, 
they may amend or broaden the scope of the requirements described above.

United States Federal Income Taxation

TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE CIRCULAR 230, 
PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT: (A) ANY DISCUSSION OF U.S. 
FEDERAL TAX ISSUES CONTAINED OR REFERRED TO IN THIS BASE PROSPECTUS IS NOT 
INTENDED OR WRITTEN TO BE USED, AND CANNOT BE USED BY PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING PENALTIES THAT MAY BE IMPOSED ON THEM UNDER 
THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986; (B) SUCH DISCUSSION IS WRITTEN IN 
CONNECTION WITH THE PROMOTION OR MARKETING BY THE ISSUER OF THE 
TRANSACTIONS OR MATTERS ADDRESSED HEREIN; AND (C) PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS 
SHOULD SEEK ADVICE BASED ON THEIR PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES FROM AN 
INDEPENDENT TAX ADVISER.

The following is a summary of certain material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, 
ownership and disposition of Registered Notes by a U.S. Holder (as defined below) and the acquisition, ownership 
and disposition of Registered Notes or Bearer Notes by a non-U.S. Holder (as defined below). This summary 
deals only with initial purchasers who will hold the Notes as capital assets. This summary does not address the 
material U.S. federal income tax consequences of every type of Note which may be issued under the Programme, 
and the relevant Final Terms may contain additional or modified disclosure concerning the material U.S. federal 
income tax consequences relevant to such types of Notes as are issued thereunder. The discussion does not cover 
all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to, or the actual tax effect that any of the matters 
described herein will have on, the acquisition, ownership or disposition of Notes by particular investors, and does 
not address state, local, foreign or other tax laws. In particular, this summary does not discuss all of the tax 
considerations that may be relevant to certain types of investor subject to special treatment under the U.S. federal 
income tax laws (such as banks, insurance companies, investors liable for the alternative minimum tax, individual 
retirement accounts and other tax-deferred accounts, tax-exempt organisations, dealers in securities or currencies, 
traders in securities that elect to use a mark-to-market method of accounting, investors that will hold the Notes as 
part of straddles, hedging transactions or conversion transactions for U.S. federal income tax purposes, or whose 
functional currency is not the U.S. dollar). This discussion also does not address any tax consequences applicable 
to holders of equity interests in a holder of the Notes. Further, this discussion assumes that there will be no 
substitution of another entity in place of the Issuer as principal debtor in respect of the Notes.
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As used herein, the term “U.S. Holder” means a beneficial owner of Notes that is, for U.S. federal income 
tax purposes, (i) a citizen or an individual resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation, or other entity treated as 
a corporation, created or organised in or under the laws of the United States or any State thereof, (iii) an estate the 
income of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax without regard to its source or (iv) a trust if a court within 
the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more 
United States persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust. The term “non-U.S. 
Holder” means a beneficial owner of Notes that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, not a U.S. Holder.

The tax consequences for a partner in a partnership holding Notes generally will depend upon the status of 
the partner and the activities of the partnership. A partner in a partnership holding Notes should consult its tax 
adviser regarding the tax consequences of an investment in the Notes.

The summary is based on the tax laws of the United States, including the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 
(the “Code”), its legislative history, existing and proposed regulations thereunder (the “Treasury Regulations”), 
and published rulings and court decisions all as currently in effect and all subject to change at any time, possibly 
with retroactive effect.

THE SUMMARY OF U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES SET OUT BELOW IS 
FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY. PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR 
TAX ADVISERS AS TO THE PARTICULAR TAX CONSEQUENCES FOR THEM OF OWNING THE 
NOTES, THE APPLICABILITY AND EFFECT OF STATE, LOCAL, FOREIGN AND OTHER TAX 
LAWS AND POSSIBLE CHANGES IN TAX LAW.

The Issuer generally intends to treat Notes issued under the Programme as debt, unless otherwise indicated 
in the relevant Final Terms. Certain Notes, however, such as certain Index-Linked Interest Notes, may be treated 
as equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The tax treatment of Notes to which a treatment other than debt 
may apply will be discussed in the relevant Final Terms.

U.S. Holders

Payment of Interest

General

Interest on a Registered Note held by a U.S. Holder, whether payable in U.S. dollars or a currency, 
composite currency or basket of currencies other than U.S. dollars (“foreign currency” interest on a “Foreign 
Currency Note”), other than interest on a Discount Note that is not qualified stated interest (each as defined 
below under “Original Issue Discount-General”), will be taxable to such U.S. Holder as ordinary income at the 
time it is received or accrued, depending on the U.S. Holder’s method of accounting for tax purposes. Interest 
paid by the Issuer on the Notes and OID, if any, accrued with respect to the Notes (as described below under 
“Original Issue Discount-General”) will generally constitute income from sources outside the United States 
subject to the rules regarding the foreign tax credit allowable to a U.S. Holder (and the limitations imposed 
thereon). Prospective purchasers should consult their tax advisers concerning the foreign tax credit implications of 
the payment of any foreign taxes with respect to the Notes (if applicable).

Original Issue Discount

General

The following is a summary of the principal U.S. federal income tax consequences to a U.S. Holder of the 
ownership of Notes issued with original issue discount (“OID”). The following summary does not discuss Notes 
that are characterised as contingent payment debt instruments for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

A Registered Note, other than a Note with a term of one year or less (a “Short-Term Note”), will be 
treated as issued with OID (a “Discount Note”) if the excess of the Note’s stated redemption price at maturity 
over its issue price is equal to or more than a de minimis amount (0.25 per cent. of the Note’s stated redemption 
price at maturity multiplied by the number of complete years to its maturity). An obligation that provides for the 
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payment of amounts other than qualified stated interest before maturity (an “instalment obligation”) will be 
treated as a Discount Note if the excess of the Note’s stated redemption price at maturity over its issue price is 
greater than 0.25 per cent. of the Note’s stated redemption price at maturity multiplied by the weighted average 
maturity of the Note. A Note’s weighted average maturity is the sum of the following amounts determined for 
each payment on a Note (other than a payment of qualified stated interest): (i) the number of complete years from 
the issue date until the payment is made multiplied by (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of the 
payment and the denominator of which is the Note’s stated redemption price at maturity. Generally, the issue 
price of a Note will be the first price at which a substantial amount of Notes included in the issue of which the 
Note is a part is sold to persons other than bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organisations acting in the 
capacity of underwriters, placement agents, or wholesalers. The stated redemption price at maturity of a Note is 
the total of all payments provided by the Note that are not payments of qualified stated interest. A qualified stated 
interest payment is generally any one of a series of stated interest payments on a Note that are unconditionally 
payable at least annually at a single fixed rate (with certain exceptions for lower rates paid during some periods), 
or a variable rate (in the circumstances described below under “Variable Interest Rate Notes”), applied to the 
outstanding principal amount of the Note. Solely for the purposes of determining whether a Note has OID, the 
Issuer will be deemed to exercise any call option that has the effect of decreasing the yield on the Note, and the 
U.S. Holder will be deemed to exercise any put option that has the effect of increasing the yield on the Note. If a 
Note has de minimis OID, a U.S. Holder must include the de minimis amount in income as stated principal 
payments are made on the Note, unless the U.S. Holder makes the election described below under “Election to 
Treat All Interest as Original Issue Discount”. A U.S. Holder can determine the includible amount with respect to 
each such payment by multiplying the total amount of the Note’s de minimis OID by a fraction equal to the 
amount of the principal payment made divided by the stated principal amount of the Note.

U.S. Holders of Discount Notes must include OID in income calculated on a constant yield method before 
the receipt of cash attributable to the income, and generally will have to include in income increasingly greater 
amounts of OID over the life of the Discount Notes. The amount of OID includible in income by a U.S. Holder of 
a Discount Note is the sum of the daily portions of OID with respect to the Discount Note for each day during the 
taxable year or the portion of the taxable year in which the U.S. Holder holds the Discount Note (“accrued 
OID”). The daily portion is determined by allocating to each day in any accrual period a pro rata portion of the 
OID allocable to that accrual period. Accrual periods with respect to a Note may be of any length selected by the 
U.S. Holder and may vary in length over the term of the Notes as long as (i) no accrual period is longer than one 
year and (ii) each scheduled payment of interest or principal on the Note occurs on either the final or first day of 
an accrual period. The amount of OID allocable to an accrual period equals the excess of (a) the product of the 
Discount Note’s adjusted issue price at the beginning of the accrual period and the Discount Note’s yield to 
maturity (determined on the basis of compounding at the close of each accrual period and properly adjusted for 
the length of the accrual period) over (b) the sum of the payments of qualified stated interest on the Note allocable 
to the accrual period. The adjusted issue price of a Discount Note at the beginning of any accrual period is the 
issue price of the Note increased by (x) the amount of accrued OID for each prior accrual period and decreased by 
(y) the amount of any payments previously made on the Note that were not qualified stated interest payments.

Acquisition Premium

A U.S. Holder that purchases a Discount Note for an amount less than or equal to the sum of all amounts 
payable on the Note after the purchase date, other than payments of qualified stated interest, but in excess of its 
adjusted issue price (any such excess being “acquisition premium”) and that does not make the election 
described below under “Election to Treat All Interest as Original Issue Discount”, is permitted to reduce the daily 
portions of OID by a fraction, the numerator of which is the excess of the U.S. Holder’s adjusted basis in the Note 
immediately after its purchase over the Note’s adjusted issue price, and the denominator of which is the excess of 
the sum of all amounts payable on the Note after the purchase date, other than payments of qualified stated 
interest, over the Note’s adjusted issue price.

Election to Treat All Interest as Original Issue Discount

A U.S. Holder may elect to include in gross income all interest that accrues on a Note using the constant 
yield method described above under “General”, with certain modifications. For the purposes of this election, 
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interest includes stated interest, OID, de minimis OID, market discount, and de minimis market discount and 
unstated interest, as adjusted by any amortisable bond premium (described below under “Notes Purchased at a 
Premium”) or acquisition premium. If a U.S. Holder makes this election for the Note, then, when the constant 
yield method is applied the issue price of the Note will equal its cost, the issue date of the Note will be the date of 
acquisition, and no payments on the Note will be treated as payments of qualified stated interest. This election 
will generally apply only to the Note with respect to which it is made and may not be revoked without the consent 
of the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”). However, if the Note has amortisable bond premium, the U.S. 
Holder will be deemed to have made an election to apply amortisable bond premium against interest for all debt 
instruments with amortisable bond premium, other than debt instruments the interest on which is excludible from 
gross income, held as of the beginning of the taxable year to which the election applies or any taxable year 
thereafter. If the election to apply the constant yield method to all interest on a Note is made with respect to a 
Market Discount Note, the electing U.S. Holder will be treated as having made the election discussed above under 
“Market Discount” to include market discount in income currently over the life of all debt instruments with 
market discount held or thereafter acquired by the U.S. Holder. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisers 
concerning the propriety and consequences of this election.

Variable Interest Rate Notes

Notes that provide for interest at variable rates (“Variable Interest Rate Notes”) will generally bear 
interest at a qualified floating rate and will thus be treated as variable rate debt instruments under Treasury 
Regulations governing accrual of OID. A Variable Interest Rate Note will qualify as a variable rate debt 
instrument if (a) its issue price does not exceed the total non-contingent principal payments due under the 
Variable Interest Rate Note by more than a specified de minimis amount and (b) it provides for stated interest, 
paid or compounded at least annually, at (i) one or more qualified floating rates, (ii) a single fixed rate and one or 
more qualified floating rates, (iii) a single objective rate, or (iv) a single fixed rate and a single objective rate that 
is a qualified inverse floating rate.

A qualified floating rate is any variable rate where variations in the value of the rate can reasonably be 
expected to measure contemporaneous variations in the cost of newly borrowed funds in the currency in which the 
Variable Interest Rate Note is denominated. A fixed multiple of a qualified floating rate will constitute a qualified 
floating rate only if the multiple is greater than 0.65 but not more than 1.35. A variable rate equal to the product of 
a qualified floating rate and a fixed multiple that is greater than 0.65 but not more than 1.35, increased or 
decreased by a fixed rate, will also constitute a qualified floating rate. In addition, two or more qualified floating 
rates that can reasonably be expected to have approximately the same values throughout the term of the Variable 
Interest Rate Note (e.g., two or more qualified floating rates with values within 25 basis points of each other as 
determined on the Variable Interest Rate Note’s issue date) will be treated as a single qualified floating rate. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a variable rate that would otherwise constitute a qualified floating rate but which 
is subject to one or more restrictions such as a maximum numerical limitation (i.e., a cap) or a minimum 
numerical limitation (i.e., a floor) may, under certain circumstances, fail to be treated as a qualified floating rate 
unless the cap or floor is fixed throughout the term of the Note.

An objective rate is a rate that is not itself a qualified floating rate but one which is determined using a 
single fixed formula and which is based on objective financial or economic information (e.g., one or more 
qualified floating rates or the yield of actively traded personal property). A rate will not qualify as an objective 
rate if it is based on information that is within the control of the Issuer (or a related party) or that is unique to the 
circumstances of the Issuer (or a related party), such as dividends, profits or the value of the Issuer’s stock 
(although a rate does not fail to be an objective rate merely because it is based on the credit quality of the Issuer). 
Other variable interest rates may be treated as objective rates if so designated by the IRS in the future. Despite the 
foregoing, a variable rate of interest on a Variable Interest Rate Note will not constitute an objective rate if it is 
reasonably expected that the average value of the rate during the first half of the Variable Interest Rate Note’s 
term will be either significantly less than or significantly greater than the average value of the rate during the final 
half of the Variable Interest Rate Note’s term. A qualified inverse floating rate is any objective rate where the rate 
is equal to a fixed rate minus a qualified floating rate, as long as variations in the rate can reasonably be expected 
to inversely reflect contemporaneous variations in the qualified floating rate. If a Variable Interest Rate Note 
provides for stated interest at a fixed rate for an initial period of one year or less followed by a variable rate that is 
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either a qualified floating rate or an objective rate for a subsequent period and if the variable rate on the Variable 
Interest Rate Note’s issue date is intended to approximate the fixed rate (e.g., the value of the variable rate on the 
issue date does not differ from the value of the fixed rate by more than 25 basis points), then the fixed rate and the 
variable rate together will constitute either a single qualified floating rate or objective rate, as the case may be.

A qualified floating rate or objective rate in effect at any time during the term of the instrument must be set 
at a current value of that rate. A current value of a rate is the value of the rate on any day that is no earlier than 
three months prior to the first day on which that value is in effect and no later than one year following that first 
day.

If a Variable Interest Rate Note that provides for stated interest at either a single qualified floating rate or a 
single objective rate throughout the term thereof qualifies as a variable rate debt instrument, then any stated 
interest on the Note which is unconditionally payable in cash or property (other than debt instruments of the 
Issuer) at least annually will constitute qualified stated interest and will be taxed accordingly. Thus, a Variable 
Interest Rate Note that provides for stated interest at either a single qualified floating rate or a single objective rate 
throughout the term thereof and that qualifies as a variable rate debt instrument generally will not be treated as 
having been issued with OID unless the Variable Interest Rate Note is issued at a true discount (i.e., at a price 
below the Note’s stated principal amount) in excess of a specified de minimis amount. OID on a Variable Interest 
Rate Note arising from a true discount is allocated to an accrual period using the constant yield method described 
above by assuming that the variable rate is a fixed rate equal to (i) in the case of a qualified floating rate or 
qualified inverse floating rate, the value, as of the issue date, of the qualified floating rate or qualified inverse 
floating rate, or (ii) in the case of an objective rate (other than a qualified inverse floating rate), a fixed rate that 
reflects the yield that is reasonably expected for the Variable Interest Rate Note.

In general, any other Variable Interest Rate Note that qualifies as a variable rate debt instrument will be 
converted into an equivalent fixed rate debt instrument for the purposes of determining the amount and accrual of 
OID and the qualified stated interest on the Variable Interest Rate Note. Such a Variable Interest Rate Note must 
be converted into an equivalent fixed rate debt instrument by substituting any qualified floating rate or qualified 
inverse floating rate provided for under the terms of the Variable Interest Rate Note with a fixed rate equal to the 
value of the qualified floating rate or qualified inverse floating rate, as the case may be, as of the Variable Interest 
Rate Note’s issue date. Any objective rate (other than a qualified inverse floating rate) provided for under the 
terms of the Variable Interest Rate Note is converted into a fixed rate that reflects the yield that is reasonably 
expected for the Variable Interest Rate Note. In the case of a Variable Interest Rate Note that qualifies as a 
variable rate debt instrument and provides for stated interest at a fixed rate in addition to either one or more 
qualified floating rates or a qualified inverse floating rate, the fixed rate is initially converted into a qualified 
floating rate (or a qualified inverse floating rate, if the Variable Interest Rate Note provides for a qualified inverse 
floating rate). Under these circumstances, the qualified floating rate or qualified inverse floating rate that replaces 
the fixed rate must be such that the fair market value of the Variable Interest Rate Note as of the Variable Interest 
Rate Note’s issue date is approximately the same as the fair market value of an otherwise identical debt 
instrument that provides for either the qualified floating rate or qualified inverse floating rate rather than the fixed 
rate. Subsequent to converting the fixed rate into either a qualified floating rate or a qualified inverse floating rate, 
the Variable Interest Rate Note is converted into an equivalent fixed rate debt instrument in the manner described 
above.

Once the Variable Interest Rate Note is converted into an equivalent fixed rate debt instrument pursuant to 
the foregoing rules, the amount of OID and qualified stated interest, if any, are determined for the equivalent fixed 
rate debt instrument by applying the general OID rules to the equivalent fixed rate debt instrument and a U.S. 
Holder of the Variable Interest Rate Note will account for the OID and qualified stated interest as if the U.S. 
Holder held the equivalent fixed rate debt instrument. In each accrual period, appropriate adjustments will be 
made to the amount of qualified stated interest or OID assumed to have been accrued or paid with respect to the 
equivalent fixed rate debt instrument in the event that these amounts differ from the actual amount of interest 
accrued or paid on the Variable Interest Rate Note during the accrual period.

If a Variable Interest Rate Note, such as a Note the payments on which are determined by reference to an 
index, does not qualify as a variable rate debt instrument, then the Variable Interest Rate Note will be treated as a 
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contingent payment debt instrument. Prospective purchasers should consult their tax advisers concerning the 
proper U.S. federal income tax treatment of Variable Interest Rate Notes that are treated as contingent payment 
debt.

Short-Term Notes

In general, an individual or other cash basis U.S. Holder of a Short-Term Note is not required to accrue 
OID (calculated as set forth below for the purposes of this paragraph) for U.S. federal income tax purposes unless 
it elects to do so (but may be required to include any stated interest in income as the interest is received). Accrual 
basis U.S. Holders and certain other U.S. Holders are required to accrue OID on Short-Term Notes on a straight 
line basis or, if the U.S. Holder so elects, under the constant yield method (based on daily compounding). In the 
case of a U.S. Holder not required and not electing to include OID in income currently, any gain realised on the 
sale or retirement of the Short-Term Note will be ordinary income to the extent of the OID accrued on a straight 
line basis (unless an election is made to accrue the OID under the constant yield method) through the date of sale 
or retirement. U.S. Holders who are not required and do not elect to accrue OID on Short-Term Notes will be 
required to defer deductions for interest on borrowings allocable to Short-Term Notes in an amount not exceeding 
the deferred income until the deferred income is realised.

For purposes of determining the amount of OID subject to these rules, all interest payments on a Short-
Term Note are included in the Short-Term Note’s stated redemption price at maturity. A U.S. Holder may elect to 
determine OID on a Short-Term Note as if the Short-Term Note had been originally issued to the U.S. Holder at 
the U.S. Holder’s purchase price for the Short-Term Note. This election shall apply to all obligations with a 
maturity of one year or less acquired by the U.S. Holder on or after the first day of the first taxable year to which 
the election applies, and may not be revoked without the consent of the IRS.

Market Discount

A Note, other than a Short-Term Note, that is not acquired at its original issue generally will be treated as 
purchased at a market discount (a “Market Discount Note”) if the Note’s stated redemption price at maturity or, 
in the case of a Discount Note, the Note’s revised issue price, exceeds the amount for which the U.S. Holder 
purchased the Note by at least 0.25 per cent. of the Note’s stated redemption price at maturity or revised issue 
price, respectively, multiplied by the number of complete years to the Note’s maturity (or, in the case of a Note 
that is an instalment obligation, the Note’s weighted average maturity). If this excess is not sufficient to cause the 
Note to be a Market Discount Note, then the excess constitutes de minimis market discount. For this purpose, the 
revised issue price of a Note generally equals its issue price, increased by the amount of any OID that has accrued 
on the Note and decreased by the amount of any payments previously made on the Note that were not qualified 
stated interest payments.

Under current law, any gain recognised on the maturity or disposition of a Market Discount Note 
(including any payment on a Note that is not qualified stated interest) will be treated as ordinary income to the 
extent that the gain does not exceed the accrued market discount on the Note. Alternatively, a U.S. Holder of a 
Market Discount Note may elect to include market discount in income currently over the life of the Note. This 
election shall apply to all debt instruments with market discount acquired by the electing U.S. Holder on or after 
the first day of the first taxable year to which the election applies. This election may not be revoked without the 
consent of the IRS. A U.S. Holder of a Market Discount Note that does not elect to include market discount in 
income currently will generally be required to defer deductions for interest on borrowings incurred to purchase or 
carry a Market Discount Note that is in excess of the interest and OID on the Note includible in the U.S. Holder’s 
income, to the extent that this excess interest expense does not exceed the portion of the market discount allocable 
to the days on which the Market Discount Note was held by the U.S. Holder.

Under current law, market discount will accrue on a straight line basis unless the U.S. Holder elects to 
accrue the market discount on a constant yield method. This election applies only to the Market Discount Note 
with respect to which it is made and is irrevocable.
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Notes Purchased at a Premium

A U.S. Holder that purchases a Note for an amount in excess of its principal amount, or for a Discount 
Note, its stated redemption price at maturity, may elect to treat the excess as amortisable bond premium, in which 
case the amount required to be included in the U.S. Holder’s income each year with respect to interest on the Note 
will be reduced by the amount of amortisable bond premium allocable (based on the Note’s yield to maturity) to 
that year. Any election to amortise bond premium shall apply to all bonds (other than bonds the interest on which 
is excludible from gross income for U.S. federal income tax purposes) held by the U.S. Holder at the beginning of 
the first taxable year to which the election applies or thereafter acquired by the U.S. Holder, and is irrevocable 
without the consent of the IRS. See also “Election to Treat All Interest as Original Issue Discount” above. A U.S. 
Holder that does not elect to take bond premium (other than acquisition premium) into account will currently 
recognise a capital loss when the Note matures.

Purchase, Sale and Retirement of Notes

A U.S. Holder’s tax basis in a Note will generally be its cost, increased by the amount of any OID or 
market discount included in the U.S. Holder’s income with respect to the Note and the amount, if any, of income 
attributable to de minimis OID and de minimis market discount included in the U.S. Holder’s income with respect 
to the Note, and reduced by (i) the amount of any payments that are not qualified stated interest payments, and (ii) 
the amount of any amortisable bond premium applied to reduce interest on the Note.

A U.S. Holder will generally recognise gain or loss on the sale or retirement of a Note equal to the 
difference between the amount realised on the sale or retirement and the tax basis of the Note. Except to the extent 
described above under “Original Issue Discount — Market Discount” or “Original Issue Discount — Short-Term 
Notes” or attributable to accrued but unpaid interest or changes in exchange rates (as discussed below), gain or 
loss recognised on the sale or retirement of a Note will be capital gain or loss and will generally be treated as from 
U.S. sources for the purposes of the U.S. foreign tax credit limitation. In the case of a U.S. Holder that is an 
individual, estate or trust, the maximum marginal federal income tax rate applicable to capital gains is currently 
lower than the maximum marginal rate applicable to ordinary income if the Notes are held for more than one year. 
The deductibility of capital losses is subject to significant limitations.

Foreign Currency Notes

Interest

If an interest payment is denominated in, or determined by reference to, a foreign currency, the amount of 
income recognised by a cash basis U.S. Holder will be the U.S. dollar value of the interest payment, based on the 
exchange rate in effect on the date of receipt, regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted into U.S. 
dollars. An accrual basis U.S. Holder may determine the amount of income recognised with respect to an interest 
payment denominated in, or determined by reference to, a foreign currency in accordance with either of two 
methods.

Under the first method, the amount of income accrued will be based on the average exchange rate in effect
during the interest accrual period (or, in the case of an accrual period that spans two taxable years of a U.S. 
Holder, the part of the period within the taxable year). Under the second method, the U.S. Holder may elect to 
determine the amount of income accrued on the basis of the exchange rate in effect on the last day of the accrual 
period (or, in the case of an accrual period that spans two taxable years, the exchange rate in effect on the last day 
of the part of the period within the taxable year). Additionally, if a payment of interest is actually received within 
five business days of the last day of the accrual period, an electing accrual basis U.S. Holder may instead translate 
the accrued interest into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the day of actual receipt. Any such election 
will apply to all debt instruments held by the U.S. Holder at the beginning of the first taxable year to which the 
election applies or thereafter acquired by the U.S. Holder, and will be irrevocable without the consent of the IRS.

Upon receipt of an interest payment (including a payment attributable to accrued but unpaid interest upon 
the sale or retirement of a Note) denominated in, or determined by reference to, a foreign currency, the U.S. 
Holder may recognise U.S. source exchange gain or loss (taxable as ordinary income or loss) equal to the 
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difference between the amount received (translated into U.S. dollars at the spot rate on the date of receipt) and the 
amount previously accrued, regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted into U.S. dollars.

OID

OID for each accrual period on a Discount Note that is denominated in, or determined by reference to, a 
foreign currency, will be determined in the foreign currency and then translated into U.S. dollars in the same 
manner as stated interest accrued by an accrual basis U.S. Holder, as described above under “Interest”. Upon 
receipt of an amount attributable to OID (whether in connection with a payment on the Note or a sale of the Note), 
a U.S. Holder may recognise U.S. source exchange gain or loss (taxable as ordinary income or loss) equal to the 
difference between the amount received (translated into U.S. dollars at the spot rate on the date of receipt) and the 
amount previously accrued, regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted into U.S. dollars.

Market Discount

Market Discount on a Note that is denominated in, or determined by reference to, a foreign currency, will 
be accrued in the foreign currency. If the U.S. Holder elects to include market discount in income currently, the 
accrued market discount will be translated into U.S. dollars at the average exchange rate for the accrual period (or 
portion thereof within the U.S. Holder’s taxable year). Upon the receipt of an amount attributable to accrued 
market discount, the U.S. Holder may recognise U.S. source exchange gain or loss (which will be taxable as 
ordinary income or loss) determined in the same manner as for accrued interest or OID. A U.S. Holder that does 
not elect to include market discount in income currently will recognise, upon the disposition or maturity of the 
Note, the U.S. dollar value of the amount accrued, calculated at the spot rate on that date, and no part of this 
accrued market discount will be treated as exchange gain or loss.

Bond Premium

Bond premium (including acquisition premium) on a Note that is denominated in, or determined by 
reference to, a foreign currency, will be computed in units of the foreign currency, and any such bond premium 
that is taken into account currently will reduce interest income in units of the foreign currency.

On the date bond premium offsets interest income, a U.S. Holder may recognise U.S. source exchange gain 
or loss (taxable as ordinary income or loss) measured by the difference between the spot rate in effect on that date, 
and on the date the Notes were acquired by the U.S. Holder.

Purchase, Sale and Retirement of Notes

A U.S. Holder will generally recognise gain or loss on the sale or retirement of a Note equal to the 
difference between the amount realised on the sale or retirement and its tax basis in the Note. A U.S. Holder’s tax 
basis in a Foreign Currency Note will be determined by reference to the U.S. dollar cost of the Note. The U.S. 
dollar cost of a Note purchased with foreign currency will generally be the U.S. dollar value of the purchase price 
on the date of purchase or, in the case of Notes traded on an established securities market, as defined in the 
applicable Treasury Regulations, that are purchased by a cash basis U.S. Holder (or an accrual basis U.S. Holder 
that so elects), on the settlement date for the purchase.

The amount realised on a sale or retirement for an amount in foreign currency will be the U.S. dollar value 
of this amount on the date of sale or retirement or, in the case of Notes traded on an established securities market, 
as defined in the applicable Treasury Regulations, sold by a cash basis U.S. Holder (or an accrual basis U.S. 
Holder that so elects), on the settlement date for the sale. Such an election by an accrual basis U.S. Holder must be 
applied consistently from year to year and cannot be revoked without the consent of the IRS.

A U.S. Holder will recognise U.S. source exchange rate gain or loss (taxable as ordinary income or loss) on 
the sale or retirement of a Note equal to the difference, if any, between the U.S. dollar values of the U.S. Holder’s 
purchase price for the Note (or, if less, the principal amount of the Note) (i) on the date of sale or retirement and 
(ii) the date on which the U.S. Holder acquired the Note. Any such exchange rate gain or loss will be realised only 
to the extent of total gain or loss realised on the sale or retirement.
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Disposition of Foreign Currency

Foreign currency received as interest on a Note or on the sale or retirement of a Note will have a tax basis 
equal to its U.S. dollar value at the time the interest is received or at the time of the sale or retirement. Foreign 
currency that is purchased generally will have a tax basis equal to the U.S. dollar value of the foreign currency on 
the date of purchase. Any gain or loss recognised on a sale or other disposition of a foreign currency (including its 
use to purchase Notes or upon exchange for U.S. dollars) will be U.S. source ordinary income or loss.

Non-U.S. Holders

A non-U.S. Holder generally should not be subject to U.S. federal income or withholding tax on any 
payments on the Notes and gain from the sale, redemption or other disposition of the Notes unless: (i) that 
payment and/or gain is effectively connected with the conduct by that non-U.S. Holder of a trade or business in 
the U.S.; (ii) in the case of any gain realised on the sale or exchange of a Note by an individual non-U.S. Holder, 
that Holder is present in the U.S. for 183 days or more in the taxable year of the sale, exchange or retirement and 
certain other conditions are met; or (iii) the non-U.S. Holder is subject to tax pursuant to provisions of the Code 
applicable to certain expatriates.  Non-U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisers regarding the U.S. 
federal income and other tax consequences of owning Notes.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

In general, payments of principal, interest and accrued OID on, and the proceeds of a sale, redemption or 
other disposition of, the Notes, payable to a U.S. Holder by a U.S. paying agent or other U.S. intermediary will be 
reported to the IRS and to the U.S. Holder as may be required under applicable regulations. Backup withholding 
will apply to these payments if the U.S. Holder fails to provide an accurate taxpayer identification number or 
certification of exempt status or otherwise to comply with the applicable backup withholding requirements.  
Certain U.S. Holders (including, among others, corporations) are not subject to backup withholding. 

In general, payments of principal, interest and accrued OID on, and the proceeds of a sale, redemption or 
other disposition of, the Notes, payable to a non-U.S. Holder by a U.S. paying agent or other U.S. intermediary 
will not be subject to backup withholding tax and information reporting requirements if appropriate certification 
(IRS Form W-8BEN or other appropriate form) is provided by the non-U.S. Holder to the payor and the payor 
does not have actual knowledge that the certificate is false.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

1. Application has been made for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to listing on the Official 
List and admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

However, Notes may be issued pursuant to the Programme which will not be admitted to listing on the 
Official List and admitted to trading and/or quotation by the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock 
Exchange or any other listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system or which will be admitted 
to listing, trading and/or quotation by such listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system as the 
Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree.

2. The establishment of the Programme was authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer 
passed on 26 October 1995. The Issuer has obtained or will obtain from time to time all necessary consents, 
approvals and authorisations in connection with the issue and performance of the Notes.

3. The increases in the initial Programme Amount from USD 1,000,000,000 to USD 2,000,000,000, from 
USD 2,000,000,000 to USD 4,000,000,000, from USD 4,000,000,000 to USD 6,000,000,000, from USD 
6,000,000,000 to USD 8,000,000,000, from USD 8,000,000,000 to USD 10,000,000,000 from USD 
10,000,000,000 to USD 15,000,000,000, from USD 15,000,000,000 to USD 25,000,000,000, from USD 
25,000,000,000 to USD 35,000,000,000, from USD 35,000,000,000 to EUR 40,000,000,000, from EUR 
40,000,000,000 to EUR 50,000,000,000 and from EUR 50,000,000,000 to EUR 60,000,000,000 were 
authorised by resolutions of the Issuer’s Board of Directors passed on 6 February 1997, 11 May 2000, 11 
April 2002, 7 August 2003, 29 January 2004, 27 January 2005, 26 May 2005, 26 January 2006, 7 
December 2006, 24 January 2008 and 29 January 2009, respectively.

4. The Notes (other than VP Systems Notes) have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and 
Clearstream, Luxembourg. In addition, the Issuer may make an application for any Rule 144A Notes to be 
accepted for trading in book-entry form by DTC. Acceptance by DTC of such Notes will be confirmed in 
the relevant Final Terms. The address of Euroclear is Euroclear Bank SA/NV, 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert 
II, B-1210 Brussels and the address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is Clearstream Banking, 42 Avenue JF 
Kennedy, L–1855 Luxembourg. The address of DTC is 55 Water Street, New York, New York 10041. The 
appropriate common code, the International Securities Identification Number and the Committee on the 
Uniform Security Identification Procedure (CUSIP) in relation to the Notes of each Series (other than VP 
Systems Notes) will be specified in the relevant Final Terms relating thereto. If the Notes are to clear 
through an additional or alternative clearing system (including the VP, VP Lux, VPS or Euroclear Sweden), 
the appropriate information will be specified in the relevant Final Terms. Euroclear, Clearstream, 
Luxembourg, DTC or the VP, VP Lux, VPS and/or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be, are the entities 
in charge of keeping the records.

5. Bearer Notes which have a maturity of more than 1 year and any Coupon appertaining thereto will bear a 
legend substantially to the following effect: “Any United States person who holds this obligation will be 
subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in 
Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code.”

The sections referred to in such legend provide that a United States person who holds a Bearer Note or 
Coupon generally will not be allowed to deduct any loss realised on the sale, exchange or redemption of 
such Bearer Note or Coupon and any gain (which might otherwise be characterised as capital gain) 
recognised on such sale, exchange or redemption will be treated as ordinary income.

6. Settlement arrangements will be agreed between the Issuer, the relevant Dealer(s) and the Fiscal Agent, the 
Registrar or the VP Systems Agent, as the case may be, in relation to each Tranche of Notes.

7. The Final Terms will contain at least the following information in respect of each relevant Tranche of 
Notes (if applicable): Series number, Status, Currency, Aggregate Principal Amount, Issue Date, Issue 
Price, Form of Notes, Denomination(s), Interest Rate, Applicable Business Day Convention, Maturity Date, 
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Listing, Stabilising Institution, ISIN, Common Code and any clearing system other than Euroclear, 
Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC or the VP, VP Lux, VPS and/or Euroclear Sweden, as the case may be.

8. Save as disclosed in this Base Prospectus, there are no governmental, legal, arbitration or administrative 
proceedings against or affecting the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries (and no such proceedings are pending 
or threatened of which the Issuer is aware) during the previous 12 months which have or may have in the 
recent past, individually or in the aggregate, significant effects on the profitability or the financial position 
of the Issuer or of the Issuer and its subsidiaries taken as a whole.

9. Save as disclosed in this Base Prospectus, since 31 December 2009, the last day of the financial period in 
respect of which the most recently audited financial statements of the Issuer have been prepared, there has 
been no significant change in the financial or trading position nor any material adverse change in the 
financial position or prospects of the Issuer or of the Issuer and its subsidiaries taken as a whole.

10. The financial statements of the Issuer have been audited for the three financial years preceding the date of 
this document by Grant Thornton Statsautoriseret Revisionsaktieselskab and KPMG Statsautoriseret 
Revisionspartnerselskab, independent public auditors of the Issuer for that period, and unqualified opinions 
have been reported thereon. Both of the auditors are members of “Foreningen af Statsautoriserede 
Revisorer” (Association of State Authorised Public Accountants).

11. For so long as the Programme remains in effect or any Notes shall be outstanding, copies and, where 
appropriate, English translations of the following documents may be inspected (and, in relation to items (b), 
(f) and (g), may be obtained) during normal business hours at the specified office of the Paying Agent in 
Luxembourg, namely:

(a) the Articles of Association of the Issuer (a copy of which shall be available free of charge);

(b) this Base Prospectus and any document incorporated by reference herein;

(c) the Agency Agreement;

(d) the Deed of Covenant;

(e) the Dealership Agreement;

(f) the most recent publicly available audited consolidated and non-consolidated financial statements of 
the Issuer (including the auditors report thereon and notes thereto) beginning with such financial 
statements for the years ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008 and the most recent 
publicly available unaudited consolidated and non-consolidated financial statements of the Issuer 
from time to time; and

(g) any Final Terms relating to Notes which are admitted to listing, trading or quotation on any listing 
authority, stock exchange or quotation system. In the case of any Notes which are not admitted to 
listing, trading or quotation on any listing authority, stock exchange or quotation system, copies of 
the relevant Final Terms will only be available for inspection by a Holder of, or, as the case may be, 
a Relevant Account Holder (as defined in the Deed of Covenant) in respect of, such Notes.

12. This Base Prospectus, any documents incorporated by reference herein and any Final Terms (in relation to 
a Series of Notes admitted to listing on the Official List and admitted to trading on the regulated market of 
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange) will be published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange 
(www.bourse.lu).

13. The Issuer does not intend to provide post-issuance information, if not otherwise required by all applicable 
laws and regulations.

www.bourse.lu).
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